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CAUTIONARY NOTE REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS
This Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q includes forward-looking statements. All statements other than statements of historical facts contained

in this report are forward-looking statements. The words “believe,” “may,” “will,” “estimate,” “continue,” “anticipate,” “design,” “intend,” “expect,”
“could,” “plan,” “potential,” “predict,” “seek,” “should,” “would,” or the negative version of these words and similar expressions are intended to identify
forward-looking statements, although not all forward-looking statements include these identifying words. We have based these forward-looking
statements on our current expectations and projections about future events and trends that we believe may affect our financial condition, results of
operations, strategy, short- and long-term business operations and objectives, and financial needs. The forward-looking statements are contained
principally in “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations” and “Risk Factors.” Forward-looking
statements contained in this report include, but are not limited to, statements about:

• the impact of the ongoing COVID-19 pandemic, related public health measures and any associated economic uncertainty on our
business, operating results and financial condition and the businesses of our customers, prospective customers and partners;

• our anticipated responses to, or actions arising out of, the COVID-19 pandemic;

• our future performance, including our revenue, costs of revenue, gross profit or gross margin, operating expenses, remaining
performance obligations, deferred revenue, dollar-based net expansion rate and billings;

• the demand for and benefits from the use of our platform and solutions;

• our growth strategy and ability to compete;

• our ability to sell our platform to new customers;

• our ability to retain, drive user adoption rates and expand use of our platform by our existing customers;

• our ability to develop and maintain a pipeline of qualified and trained users of our platform for utilization with our customers and
partners;

• the sufficiency of our cash and cash equivalents to meet our projected operating requirements;

• our ability to maintain the security of our platform, networks and systems and protect the data of our customers;

• our ability to maintain the availability and functionality of our platform;

• the development of our platform on the infrastructure of third-party public cloud partners;

• our ability to achieve widespread market acceptance of our platform;

• the provision of professional services by our partners, including the breadth and volume of such services;

• our ability to successfully expand in our existing markets and into new markets;

• our ability to effectively manage our growth and future expenses;

• our ability to broaden and deepen our partner ecosystem and successfully operationalize our partnerships;

• the utilization of our partner ecosystem to help drive growth;

• our estimated total addressable market;

• our ability to maintain, protect, and enhance our intellectual property;

• our ability to enhance our platform, adapt to technological change and satisfy the cloud infrastructure priorities of our customers;

• our ability to comply with laws, regulations and accounting rules applying to our business, including privacy regulations such as the
General Data Protection Regulation;

• anticipated income tax rates, tax estimates and tax standards;

• the recruitment, hiring, training and retention of qualified employees and key personnel including direct sales, research and
development and engineering personnel;
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• the rate of expansion and productivity of our sales force;

• our anticipated investments in sales and marketing, research and development and other company functions;

• our ability to grow our international business and manage the risks inherent in global operations;

• our ability to realize anticipated benefits from strategic transactions in a timely manner;

• changes in the competitive environment in our industry and the markets in which we operate;

• our ability to manage changes in foreign currency exchange rates and effectively hedge our foreign currency exposure;

• our ability to secure financing on favorable terms, or at all, to satisfy future capital needs; and

• our ability to successfully defend litigation brought against us.

We caution you that the foregoing list may not contain all of the forward-looking statements made in this report.

These forward-looking statements are subject to a number of risks, uncertainties, and assumptions, including those described in “Risk
Factors.” Moreover, we operate in a very competitive and rapidly changing environment. New risks emerge from time to time. It is not possible for
our management to predict all risks, nor can we assess the impact of all factors on our business or the extent to which any factor, or combination of
factors, may cause actual results to differ materially from those contained in any forward-looking statements we may make. In light of these risks,
uncertainties, and assumptions, the forward-looking events and circumstances discussed in this report may not occur and actual results could differ
materially and adversely from those anticipated or implied in the forward-looking statements.

You should not rely upon forward-looking statements as predictions of future events. Although we believe that the expectations reflected in
the forward-looking statements are reasonable, we cannot guarantee that the future results, levels of activity, performance, or events and
circumstances reflected in the forward-looking statements will be achieved or occur. Moreover, except as required by law, neither we nor any other
person assumes responsibility for the accuracy and completeness of the forward-looking statements. The forward-looking statements made in this
report relate only to events as of the date on which the statements are made. We undertake no obligation to update any forward-looking statements
made in this report to reflect events or circumstances after the date of this report or to reflect new information or the occurrence of unanticipated
events, except as required by law. We may not actually achieve the plans, intentions, or expectations disclosed in our forward-looking statements
and you should not place undue reliance on our forward-looking statements. Our forward-looking statements do not reflect the potential impact of
any future acquisitions, mergers, dispositions, joint ventures, or investments we may make.

In addition, statements that “we believe” and similar statements reflect our beliefs and opinions on the relevant subject. These statements
are based upon information available to us as of the date of this report, and while we believe such information forms a reasonable basis for such
statements, such information may be limited or incomplete, and our statements should not be read to indicate that we have conducted an exhaustive
inquiry into, or review of, all potentially available relevant information. These statements are inherently uncertain and investors are cautioned not to
unduly rely upon these statements.

You should read this report and the documents that we reference in this report and have filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission
as exhibits to this report with the understanding that our actual future results, levels of activity, performance, and events and circumstances may be
materially different from what we expect.
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PART I
ITEM 1. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ANAPLAN, INC.
CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

(In thousands, except per share data)
(Unaudited)

As of
October 31, 2021 January 31, 2021

ASSETS
Current assets:

Cash and cash equivalents $ 312,367 $ 320,990 
Accounts receivable, net of allowances for credit losses of $2,971 and $3,162 as of October 31, 2021 and

January 31, 2021, respectively 138,825 147,005 
Deferred commissions, current portion 43,309 36,797 
Prepaid expenses and other current assets 27,295 24,252 

Total current assets 521,796 529,044 
Property and equipment, net 60,912 51,603 
Deferred commissions, net of current portion 92,787 82,405 
Goodwill 32,379 32,379 
Operating lease right-of-use assets 33,587 33,985 
Other noncurrent assets 17,027 9,709 
TOTAL ASSETS $ 758,488 $ 739,125 

LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY
Current liabilities:

Accounts payable $ 10,227 $ 7,949 
Accrued expenses 103,651 101,507 
Deferred revenue, current portion 320,064 287,778 
Operating lease liabilities, current portion 9,576 7,951 

Total current liabilities 443,518 405,185 
Deferred revenue, net of current portion 3,658 7,765 
Operating lease liabilities, net of current portion 28,580 30,130 
Other noncurrent liabilities 17,652 18,032 
TOTAL LIABILITIES 493,408 461,112 
Stockholders' equity:

Common stock, par value of $0.0001 per share; 1,750,000 shares authorized as of October 31, 2021 and
January 31, 2021; 147,620 and 143,502 shares issued and outstanding as of October 31, 2021 and
January 31, 2021 14 14 

Accumulated other comprehensive loss (9,338) (7,528)
Additional paid-in capital 1,064,972 932,505 
Accumulated deficit (790,568) (646,978)

TOTAL STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY 265,080 278,013 
TOTAL LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY $ 758,488 $ 739,125 

The information as of January 31, 2021, was derived from the Company’s audited Consolidated Balance Sheet as of January 31, 2021.

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these condensed consolidated financial statements.
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ANAPLAN, INC.
CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE LOSS

(In thousands, except per share data)
(Unaudited)

Three Months Ended October 31, Nine Months Ended October 31,
2021 2020 2021 2020

Revenue:
Subscription revenue $ 139,343 $ 104,707 $ 388,437 $ 295,648 
Professional services revenue 16,005 10,168 41,060 29,582 

Total revenue 155,348 114,875 429,497 325,230 
Cost of revenue:

Cost of subscription revenue 25,627 19,187 69,601 50,520 
Cost of professional services revenue 16,512 10,188 41,586 29,037 

Total cost of revenue 42,139 29,375 111,187 79,557 
Gross profit 113,209 85,500 318,310 245,673 
Operating expenses:

Research and development 40,782 24,629 110,211 72,986 
Sales and marketing 92,859 73,893 277,610 218,481 
General and administrative 27,732 22,851 77,362 66,514 

Total operating expenses 161,373 121,373 465,183 357,981 
Loss from operations (48,164) (35,873) (146,873) (112,308)
Interest income (expense), net (122) (208) (404) 119 
Other income (expense), net (368) (291) (3,202) 3,385 
Loss before income taxes (48,654) (36,372) (150,479) (108,804)
Benefit from (provision for) income taxes 7,676 (420) 6,889 (3,114)
Net loss (40,978) (36,792) (143,590) (111,918)
Comprehensive loss:

Foreign currency translation adjustments (762) (138) (1,810) (1,674)
Comprehensive loss $ (41,740) $ (36,930) $ (145,400) $ (113,592)
Net loss per share attributable to common stockholders, basic and

diluted $ (0.28) $ (0.26) $ (0.99) $ (0.81)
Weighted-average shares used in computing net loss per share

attributable to common stockholders, basic and diluted 146,966 140,603 145,549 138,448 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these condensed consolidated financial statements.
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ANAPLAN, INC.
CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY

(In thousands)
(Unaudited)

Common Stock Additional Paid-in
Capital

Accumulated Other
Comprehensive Loss

Accumulated
Deficit

Total Stockholders’
EquityShares Amount

For the Three Months Ended October 31, 2021
Balance at July 31, 2021 146,144 $ 14 $ 1,020,044 $ (8,576) $ (749,590) $ 261,892 

Stock-based compensation — — 40,516 — — 40,516 
Exercise of stock options, net of repurchases and early

exercises 364 — 4,412 — — 4,412 
Vesting of restricted stock units 1,112 — — — — — 
Net loss — — — — (40,978) (40,978)
Foreign currency translation adjustments — — — (762) — (762)

Balance at October 31, 2021 147,620 $ 14 $ 1,064,972 $ (9,338) $ (790,568) $ 265,080 
For the Three Months Ended October 31, 2020
Balance at July 31, 2020 139,306 $ 14 $ 856,129 $ (5,862) $ (568,137) $ 282,144 

Stock-based compensation — — 27,890 — — 27,890 
Exercise of stock options, net of repurchases and early

exercises 692 — 3,957 — — 3,957 
Vesting of restricted stock units 1,628 — — — — — 
Net loss — — — — (36,792) (36,792)
Foreign currency translation adjustments — — — (138) — (138)

Balance at October 31, 2020 141,626 $ 14 $ 887,976 $ (6,000) $ (604,929) $ 277,061 
For the Nine Months Ended October 31, 2021
Balance at January 31, 2021 143,502 $ 14 $ 932,505 $ (7,528) $ (646,978) $ 278,013 

Stock-based compensation — — 113,045 — — 113,045 
Exercise of stock options, net of repurchases and early

exercises 929 — 7,908 — — 7,908 
Vesting of restricted stock units 2,931 — — — — — 
Issuance of common stock under employee stock

purchase plan 258 — 11,514 — — 11,514 
Net loss — — — — (143,590) (143,590)
Foreign currency translation adjustments — — — (1,810) — (1,810)

Balance at October 31, 2021 147,620 $ 14 $ 1,064,972 $ (9,338) $ (790,568) $ 265,080 
For the Nine Months Ended October 31, 2020
Balance at January 31, 2020 135,495 $ 13 $ 788,447 $ (4,326) $ (492,453) $ 291,681 

Cumulative adjustment upon adoption of ASC 326,
Financial Instruments - Credit Losses — — — — (558) (558)

Stock-based compensation — — 77,433 — — 77,433 
Exercise of stock options, net of repurchases and early

exercises 2,393 1 12,590 — — 12,591 
Vesting of restricted stock units 3,503 — — — — — 
Issuance of common stock under employee stock

purchase plan 235 — 9,481 — — 9,481 
Net loss — — — — (111,918) (111,918)
Foreign currency translation adjustments — — — (1,674) — (1,674)
Other — — 25 — — 25 

Balance at October 31, 2020 141,626 $ 14 $ 887,976 $ (6,000) $ (604,929) $ 277,061 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these condensed consolidated financial statements.
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ANAPLAN, INC.
CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

(In thousands)
(Unaudited)

Nine Months Ended October 31,
2021 2020

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES:
Net loss $ (143,590) $ (111,918)
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash provided by (used in) operating activities:

Depreciation and amortization 21,465 18,934 
Amortization of deferred commissions 31,003 24,418 
Stock-based compensation 108,522 74,432 
Reduction of operating lease right-of-use assets and accretion of operating lease liabilities 7,549 7,642 
Foreign currency remeasurement losses (gains) 1,565 (3,178)
Release of deferred tax valuation allowance (7,639) — 
Other non-cash items 582 2,609 
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:

Accounts receivable 7,241 (22,012)
Prepaid expenses and other current assets (3,143) 1,290 
Other noncurrent assets (698) (1,376)
Deferred commissions (49,292) (43,439)
Accounts payable and accrued expenses 5,620 10,271 
Deferred revenue 29,304 26,831 
Payments for operating lease liabilities, net (6,956) (6,907)
Other noncurrent liabilities 554 7,468 

Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities 2,087 (14,935)
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES:

Purchase of property and equipment (9,089) (5,243)
Capitalized internal-use software (10,207) (7,666)

Net cash used in investing activities (19,296) (12,909)
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES:

Proceeds from exercise of stock options 7,891 12,575 
Proceeds from employee stock purchase plan 11,514 9,481 
Principal payments on finance lease obligations (7,579) (6,160)

Net cash provided by financing activities 11,826 15,896 
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash, cash equivalents, and restricted cash (3,240) 1,005 
NET DECREASE IN CASH, CASH EQUIVALENTS, AND RESTRICTED CASH (8,623) (10,943)
CASH, CASH EQUIVALENTS, AND RESTRICTED CASH - Beginning of period 320,990 309,894 
CASH, CASH EQUIVALENTS, AND RESTRICTED CASH - End of period $ 312,367 $ 298,951 
SUPPLEMENTAL DISCLOSURES OF CASH FLOW INFORMATION:

Cash paid for interest $ 396 $ 555 
Cash paid for income taxes $ 1,563 $ 1,415 

SUPPLEMENTAL DISCLOSURES OF NONCASH INVESTING AND FINANCING ACTIVITIES:
Increase (decrease) in purchases of property and equipment included in liabilities $ (377) $ (849)
Finance leases for property and equipment $ 6,914 $ 7,285 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these condensed consolidated financial statements.
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ANAPLAN, INC.
NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Unaudited)

(1) Summary of Business and Significant Accounting Policies

Description of Business

Anaplan, Inc. (the Company, Anaplan, we, us, or our) was incorporated in Delaware on July 9, 2009 and is headquartered in San Francisco,
California, with offices in multiple U.S. and international locations.

The Company provides a cloud-based Connected Planning platform that helps connect organizations and people to make better and faster
decisions. The Company delivers its application over the Internet as a subscription service using a software-as-a-service (SaaS) model. The
Company also offers professional services related to implementing and supporting its application.

Fiscal Year

The Company’s fiscal year ends on January 31. References to fiscal 2022, for example, refer to the fiscal year ending January 31, 2022.

Basis of Presentation

The accompanying unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with accounting principles
generally accepted in the United States of America (U.S. GAAP) and applicable rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission
(SEC) regarding interim financial reporting and include the accounts of the Company and its wholly owned subsidiaries (collectively, the Company).
All significant intercompany balances and transactions have been eliminated in consolidation. The unaudited condensed consolidated balance sheet
as of January 31, 2021, included herein was derived from the audited financial statements as of that date, but does not include all disclosures
including certain notes required by U.S. GAAP on an annual reporting basis. The unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements reflect all
normal recurring adjustments necessary to present fairly the balance sheets, statements of comprehensive loss, statements of stockholders’ equity,
and statements of cash flows for the interim periods, but are not necessarily indicative of the results of operations to be anticipated for the full fiscal
year or any future period.

The unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements should be read in conjunction with the audited consolidated financial
statements and notes included in the Company’s Form 10-K filed with the SEC on March 12, 2021.

Use of Estimates

The preparation of condensed consolidated financial statements in conformity with U.S. GAAP requires management to make estimates and
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the condensed
consolidated financial statements and the reported amounts of revenue and expenses during the reporting period. Such estimates include, but are
not limited to, the determination of revenue recognition, certain assumptions in the valuation of stock awards, the determination of the period of
benefit for deferred commissions, the determination of the incremental borrowing rate used for operating lease liabilities, the allowance for credit
losses, and the fair value of assets acquired and liabilities assumed for business combinations. Actual results could differ from those estimates.

The Company continues to assess the impact of COVID-19 and as of the date of filing of these unaudited condensed consolidated financial
statements, the Company is not aware of any specific event or circumstance that would require updating significant estimates or judgments or
revising the carrying value of the Company's assets or liabilities as presented in the unaudited interim condensed consolidated financial statements.
These estimates may change as new events occur and additional information is obtained. Actual results could differ from those estimates and any
such differences may be material to our financial statements.

Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

The Company’s significant accounting policies are discussed in Note 1 of the notes to the consolidated financial statements included in the
Company’s Form 10-K filed with the SEC on March 12, 2021. There have been no significant changes to these policies during the nine months
ended October 31, 2021.
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Recently Adopted Accounting Pronouncements

In December 2019, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) issued Accounting Standards Update (ASU) 2019-12, Income Taxes
(Topic 740), Simplifying the Accounting for Income Taxes, which simplifies the accounting for income taxes by removing certain exceptions to the
general principles of income taxes and reducing the cost and complexity in accounting for income taxes. The guidance is effective for interim and
annual periods beginning after December 15, 2020. The adoption of the new standard had no material impact on the Company's condensed
consolidated financial statements.

(2) Consolidated Balance Sheet Components

Property and Equipment, net

Property and equipment consisted of the following:

As of
October 31,

2021
January 31,

2021
(In thousands)

Computer and office equipment $ 69,856 $ 58,231 
Leasehold improvements 16,918 14,055 
Internal-use software 47,917 41,475 
Construction in progress 15,439 6,941 

Property and equipment, gross 150,130 120,702 
Less: accumulated depreciation (89,218) (69,099)

Property and equipment, net $ 60,912 $ 51,603 

Depreciation expense was $7.1 million and $20.5 million for the three and nine months ended October 31, 2021, respectively, and $6.3
million and $17.9 million for the three and nine months ended October 31, 2020, respectively.

The Company capitalized $5.1 million and $14.0 million in internal-use software in the three and nine months ended October 31, 2021,
respectively, of which $1.4 million and $4.2 million was stock-based compensation expense for each respective period. The Company capitalized
$3.2 million and $10.3 million in internal-use software in the three and nine months ended October 31, 2020, respectively, of which $0.9 million and
$2.7 million was stock-based compensation expense for each respective period. Amortization of capitalized internal-use software, included in total
depreciation expense above, was $2.9 million and $8.4 million in the three and nine months ended October 31, 2021, respectively, and $2.4 million
and $6.7 million in the three and nine months ended October 31, 2020, respectively.

Accrued Expenses

Accrued expenses consisted of the following:

As of
October 31, 2021 January 31, 2021

(In thousands)
Vendor accruals $ 9,705 $ 11,262 
Accrued commission 11,664 12,521 
Accrued bonuses 9,329 15,583 
Accrued other payroll liabilities 40,410 31,238 
Current portion of finance lease obligations 6,998 8,031 
Accrued other 25,545 22,872 

Accrued expenses $ 103,651 $ 101,507 

10



Table of Contents

Preferred Stock

As of October 31, 2021 and January 31, 2021, the authorized preferred stock of the Company consisted of 25 million shares with a par
value of $0.0001 per share. There were no shares of preferred stock issued and outstanding as of October 31, 2021, and January 31, 2021.

(3) Bank Borrowing

In April 2020, the Company entered into the Third Amendment to Credit Agreement and First Amendment to Collateral Agreement with
Wells Fargo Bank, N.A. (“Wells Fargo”) as administrative agent and lender (the “Third Amendment”). Among other things, the Third Amendment
further amends the Credit Agreement entered into with Wells Fargo in April 2018, as amended in September 2018 and October 2019 (the “Credit
Agreement”) in order to: (1) increase the aggregate revolving credit commitment amount by $20.0 million, so that the Company may borrow up
to $60.0 million under a secured revolving credit facility, subject to the terms of the Credit Agreement including the accounts receivable borrowing
base, for general corporate purposes; and (2) extend the maturity date of the revolving credit facility until April 23, 2022. Also, pursuant to the Third
Amendment, any loans drawn on the credit facility will incur interest at a rate equal to the highest of (A) the prime rate, (B) the federal funds rate plus
0.5%, and (C) the one-month LIBOR plus 1%. Interest is payable monthly in arrears with the principal and any accrued and unpaid interest due on
April 23, 2022. As of October 31, 2021, and January 31, 2021, the Company had not drawn down any amounts under the Credit Agreement. As of
October 31, 2021, the Company was in compliance with the financial covenants contained in the Credit Agreement.

(4) Leases

The Company leases certain facilities under operating leases, and property and equipment under finance leases that expire from fiscal 2022
to 2028.

The components of lease expense were as follows:

Three Months Ended October 31, Nine Months Ended October 31,
2021 2020 2021 2020

(In thousands)
Operating lease costs $ 2,550 $ 2,098 $ 7,549 $ 7,642 
Finance lease costs

Amortization of assets $ 2,503 $ 2,308 $ 7,602 $ 6,101 
Interest on lease liabilities 117 189 396 555 

Total finance lease costs $ 2,620 $ 2,497 $ 7,998 $ 6,656 
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Supplemental balance sheet information related to leases is as follows:

As of
October 31,

2021 January 31, 2021
(In thousands)

Operating leases:
Operating lease ROU assets $ 33,587 $ 33,985 
Operating lease liabilities, current portion $ 9,576 $ 7,951 
Operating lease liabilities, net of current portion 28,580 30,130 

Total operating lease liabilities $ 38,156 $ 38,081 
Finance leases:

Property and equipment, gross $ 36,028 $ 29,132 
Less: accumulated depreciation (23,462) (15,876)

Property and equipment, net $ 12,566 $ 13,256 
Accrued expenses $ 6,998 $ 8,031 
Other noncurrent liabilities 5,952 5,761 

Total finance lease liabilities $ 12,950 $ 13,792 

Weighted-average lease terms and discount rates are as follows:

As of October 31, 2021
Operating Leases Finance Leases

Weighted-average remaining lease terms 4.1 years 1.9 years
Weighted-average discount rates 5.2% 3.2%

Future minimum lease payments under operating leases and finance leases as of October 31, 2021, are as follows:

As of October 31, 2021
Operating

Leases Finance Leases
(In thousands)

Years ending January 31,
2022 (remaining 3 months) $ 3,011 $ 2,271 
2023 11,402 6,720 
2024 9,878 3,712 
2025 8,287 776 
2026 7,834 — 
Thereafter 2,456 — 

Total lease payments 42,868 13,479 
Less: amount representing interest (4,039) (529)
Less: leases less than 12 months (673) — 

Total lease liabilities $ 38,156 $ 12,950 

The Company enters into commitments to lease computer and office equipment for which the timing of the lease payments is not
determined until the date of commencement. As of October 31, 2021, the amounts related to these leases were approximately $14.6 million, which
are to be paid over three years after the date of commencement.
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(5) Acquisition-Related Intangible Assets

The components of identifiable intangible assets included in other noncurrent assets are as follows:

As of
October 31, 2021 January 31, 2021

(In thousands)
Developed technology $ 5,200 $ 5,200 
Customer relationships 2,976 2,976 

Intangible assets, gross $ 8,176 $ 8,176 
Less: accumulated amortization (3,668) (2,663)

Intangible assets, net $ 4,508 $ 5,513 

Amortization expense of acquisition-related intangible assets was $0.3 million and $1.0 million for the three and nine months ended
October 31, 2021 and 2020.

The expected future intangible assets amortization as of October 31, 2021 is as follows:

As of October 31,
2021

(In thousands)
Years ending January 31,

2022 (remaining 3 months) $ 335 
2023 1,340 
2024 1,340 
2025 993 
2026 300 
Thereafter 200 

Total future intangible assets amortization $ 4,508 

(6) Employee Stock Plans

As of October 31, 2021 and January 31, 2021, the Company was authorized to issue 1,750,000,000 shares of common stock. Shares were
reserved for future issuance as follows:

As of
October 31, 2021 January 31, 2021

(In thousands)
Outstanding stock options 5,500 6,600 
Outstanding restricted stock units ("RSUs") and performance-based restricted stock units ("PSUs") 8,918 8,558 
Shares available for future issuances under the 2018 Stock Plan 25,618 21,564 
Shares available for future issuances under the 2018 ESPP 4,894 3,717 

Total 44,930 40,439 
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Stock Options

A summary of stock option activity for the nine months ended October 31, 2021, was as follows:

Number of Shares

Weighted
Average
Exercise

Price

Aggregate
Intrinsic

Value
(In thousands) (In thousands)

Balance as of January 31, 2021 6,600 $ 11.83 $ 362,149 
Options exercised (929) 8.49 — 
Options forfeited (171) 25.58 — 

Balance as of October 31, 2021 5,500 $ 11.96 $ 292,875 
Exercisable as of October 31, 2021 5,436 $ 11.72 $ 290,766 
Vested and expected to vest as of October 31, 2021 4,706 $ 9.38 $ 262,720 

As of October 31, 2021, unrecognized stock-based compensation cost related to outstanding unvested stock options that are expected to
vest was $6.6 million, which is expected to be recognized over a weighted-average period of 1.6 years.

RSUs and PSUs

A summary of RSUs and PSUs activities for the nine months ended October 31, 2021, was as follows:

Number of Shares

Weighted-
Average

Grant Date
Fair Value

(In thousands)
Balance as of January 31, 2021 8,558 $ 37.15 

RSUs and PSUs granted 4,834 57.36 
RSUs and PSUs vested (2,931) 33.65 
RSUs and PSUs forfeited (1,543) 38.63 

Balance as of October 31, 2021 8,918 $ 49.00 

As of October 31, 2021, unrecognized stock-based compensation cost related to outstanding unvested RSUs that are expected to vest was
$303.1 million, which is expected to be recognized over a weighted-average period of 2.9 years.

During the nine months ended October 31, 2021, the Company granted PSUs to certain senior executive officers under the 2018 Stock
Plan. PSUs are subject to service-based and market-based vesting conditions. The number of shares that could be earned is based on our total
stockholder return as compared to the constituents of the S&P Software & Services Select Index over 1-year, 2-year and 3-year cumulative
performance periods inclusive of our fiscal 2022 through the fiscal year ended January 31, 2024. The number of shares that could be earned will
range from 0% to 200% of the target number of shares. The fair value of the PSUs grant was determined using a Monte Carlo simulation approach.
The compensation cost is recognized under the accelerated attribution method.

During the three and nine months ended October 31, 2021, the Company granted PSUs to certain senior executive officers under the 2018
Stock Plan. These PSUs are subject to service-based and market-based vesting conditions. The number of shares that could be earned will range
from 0% to 200% of the target number of shares based on specific share price target of the Company’s common stock. The fair value of the PSUs
grant was determined using a Monte Carlo simulation approach. The compensation cost is recognized under the accelerated attribution method.

As of October 31, 2021, unrecognized stock-based compensation cost related to outstanding unvested PSUs that are expected to vest was
$16.8 million, which is expected to be recognized over a weighted-average period of 2.2 years.
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Stock-Based Compensation

The stock-based compensation expense, net of estimated forfeitures, by line item in the accompanying condensed consolidated statements
of comprehensive loss is summarized as follows:

Three Months Ended October 31, Nine Months Ended October 31,
2021 2020 2021 2020

(In thousands)
Cost of subscription revenue $ 2,184 $ 953 $ 5,536 $ 2,537 
Cost of professional services revenue 1,170 506 2,992 1,706 
Research and development 9,748 5,235 25,098 13,261 
Sales and marketing 16,907 12,570 51,604 33,814 
General and administrative 8,984 7,696 23,292 23,114 

Total stock-based compensation expense $ 38,993 $ 26,960 $ 108,522 $ 74,432 

The Company’s estimated forfeiture rate is based on accumulated historical forfeiture data.

(7) Fair Value Measurements

Cash and cash equivalents included investments in money market funds of $220.9 million and $240.0 million at October 31, 2021 and
January 31, 2021, respectively. The fair value of the money market funds was determined using quoted prices for identical investments in active
markets, which are considered to be Level 1 inputs under the fair value measurements and disclosure guidance.

Other than the money market funds, the Company did not hold any assets or liabilities that are measured at fair value on a recurring basis
as of October 31, 2021, and January 31, 2021. There were no transfers into or out of Level 1, Level 2, or Level 3 during the three and nine months
ended October 31, 2021 and 2020.

(8) Revenue Recognition

The Company derives revenue primarily from sales of subscription services and, to a lesser degree, from professional services. Revenue is
recognized when a customer obtains access to the platform and receives the related professional services. The amount of revenue recognized
reflects the consideration that the Company expects to be entitled to receive in exchange for these services.

Disaggregation of Revenue

The following table summarizes the revenue by region based on the shipping address of customers who have contracted to use the
Company’s cloud-based application:

Three Months Ended October 31, Nine Months Ended October 31,
2021 2020 2021 2020

Amount
Percentage 
of Revenue Amount

Percentage 
of Revenue Amount

Percentage 
of Revenue Amount

Percentage 
of Revenue

(In thousands, except percentage data)
Americas $ 86,454 55 % $ 64,727 56 % $ 237,216 55 % $ 185,793 57 %
EMEA 50,784 33 37,277 33 142,735 33 103,761 32 
APAC 18,110 12 12,871 11 49,546 12 35,676 11 
Total $ 155,348 100 % $ 114,875 100 % $ 429,497 100 % $ 325,230 100 %

The United States and the U.K. were the only two countries that represented more than 10% of the Company’s total revenue in any period.
Revenue in the United States and as a percentage of total revenue comprised of $83.1 million and 53%, and $227.3 million and 53% in the three
and nine months ended October 31, 2021, respectively, and $62.2 million and 54%, and $178.5 million and 55% in the three and nine months ended
October 31, 2020, respectively. Revenue in the U.K. comprised of $19.0 million and 12%, and $52.4 million and 12% in the three and nine months
ended October 31, 2021, respectively, and $13.8 million and 12%, and $38.3 million and 12% in the three and nine months ended October 31, 2020,
respectively.
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Contract Balances

Contract assets represent revenue recognized for contracts that have not yet been invoiced to customers, typically for multi-year
arrangements. Total contract assets were $0.1 million and $0.3 million as of October 31, 2021, and January 31, 2021, respectively, which were
included within prepaid expenses and other current assets and other noncurrent assets on the condensed consolidated balance sheets.

Contract liabilities consist of deferred revenue. Revenue is deferred when the Company has the right to invoice in advance of performance
under a contract. The current portion of deferred revenue balances are recognized over the following 12-month period. The amount of revenue
recognized in the three and nine months ended October 31, 2021 that was included in deferred revenue at the beginning of each period was $125.4
million and $244.7 million, respectively. The amount of revenue recognized in the three and nine months ended October 31, 2020 that was included
in deferred revenue at the beginning of each period was $91.7 million and $186.0 million, respectively.

Remaining Performance Obligations

As of October 31, 2021, the aggregate amount of the transaction price allocated to remaining performance obligations was $923.2 million,
which consists of both billed consideration in the amount of $323.7 million and unbilled consideration in the amount of $599.5 million that the
Company expects to recognize as revenue in the future periods. The Company expects to cumulatively recognize approximately 53% and 84% of
this amount as revenue in the next 12 months and 24 months, respectively, with the remaining balance recognized thereafter.

As of January 31, 2021, the aggregate amount of the transaction price allocated to remaining performance obligations was $817.6 million,
which consists of both billed consideration in the amount of $295.5 million and unbilled consideration in the amount of $522.1 million that the
Company expects to recognize as revenue in the future periods. The Company expects to recognize 51% and 83% of this amount as revenue in the
next 12 months and 24 months, respectively, with the remaining balance recognized thereafter.

The Company applied a practical expedient allowing it not to disclose the amount of the transaction price allocated to the remaining
performance obligations for contracts with an original expected duration of one year or less.

(9) Commitments and Contingencies

On August 24, 2020, a purported stockholder of the Company filed a putative securities class action complaint in the United States District
Court for the Northern District of California, captioned Grobler v. Anaplan, Inc., et al., 3:20-cv-05959, against the Company and certain of the
Company’s executive officers. The Court appointed a lead plaintiff on November 12, 2020, and on January 6, 2021, the lead plaintiff filed an
amended complaint, captioned Sakkal v. Anaplan, Inc., et al. The amended complaint alleged violations of Section 10(b) and Section 20(a) of the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, purportedly on behalf of all persons who purchased Anaplan, Inc. securities between November 21,
2019, and February 26, 2020, inclusive. The claims were based upon allegations that the defendants misrepresented and/or omitted material
information in certain of the Company’s prior public filings regarding the business, operations and prospects of the Company. The Company filed a
motion to dismiss the amended complaint on March 8, 2021. On August 31, 2021, the Court entered an order dismissing the amended complaint
without prejudice. On September 21, 2021, the parties filed a stipulation of voluntary dismissal whereby the lead plaintiff agreed not to further litigate
the case, and the Court subsequently terminated the case.

From time to time, the Company is party to litigation and subject to claims incident to the ordinary course of business. As our growth
continues, the Company may become party to an increasing number of litigation matters and claims. The outcome of litigation and claims cannot be
predicted with certainty, and the resolution of these matters could materially affect our future results of operations, cash flows, or financial position.
The Company is not presently party to any legal proceedings that, in the opinion of management, if determined adversely to the Company, would
individually or taken together have a material adverse effect on our business, operating results, financial condition, or cash flows.
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(10) Income Taxes

The Company computed its interim provision using its estimated annual effective tax rate. The Company’s income tax benefit was $7.7
million and $6.9 million during the three and nine months ended October 31, 2021, respectively. The Company’s income tax expense was $0.4
million and $3.1 million during the three and nine months ended October 31, 2020, respectively.

During the three months ended October 31, 2021, the Company released a valuation allowance related to its Israel deferred tax assets on
the basis of management’s assessment of the amount of its deferred tax assets that are more likely than not to be realized. Management’s
conclusion was based on a detailed evaluation of all available positive and negative evidence and the weight of such evidence, including an
expectation of continued earnings. The valuation allowance release resulted in a tax benefit of $7.6 million during the three and nine months ended
October 31, 2021. The Company continues to maintain a full valuation allowance on its federal, state and U.K. deferred tax assets due to
management’s conclusion that it is not more likely than not that those deferred tax assets will be realized.

(11) Net Loss Per Share Attributable to Common Stockholders

The following table sets forth the computation of basic and diluted net loss per share attributable to common stockholders:

Three Months Ended October
31,

Nine Months Ended October
31,

2021 2020 2021 2020
(In thousands, except per share data)

Numerator:
Net loss $ (40,978) $ (36,792) $ (143,590) $ (111,918)
Denominator:
Weighted-average shares used in computing net loss per share attributable to

common stockholders, basic and diluted 146,966 140,603 145,549 138,448 
Net loss per share attributable to common stockholders, basic and

diluted $ (0.28) $ (0.26) $ (0.99) $ (0.81)

The potential shares of common stock that were excluded from the computation of diluted net loss per share attributable to common
stockholders for the periods presented because including them would have been antidilutive are as follows:

As of October 31,
2021 2020

(In thousands)
Stock options 5,500 7,136 
RSUs and PSUs 8,918 9,351 

Total 14,418 16,487 
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ITEM 2. MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS
The following discussion and analysis of our financial condition and results of operations should be read in conjunction with our condensed

consolidated financial statements and related notes included elsewhere in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q and our Annual Report on Form 10-K
for the year ended January 31, 2021, filed with the SEC on March 12, 2021. This discussion contains forward-looking statements that involve risks
and uncertainties as discussed in “Cautionary Note Regarding Forward-Looking Statements” included in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q. Our
actual results could differ materially from those discussed below. Factors that could cause or contribute to such differences include, but are not
limited to, impacts on our business and general economic conditions due to the current COVID-19 pandemic, those identified below and those
discussed in “Risk Factors” under Part II, Item 1A in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q. Our fiscal year ends January 31.

Overview
Anaplan is a cloud-native enterprise SaaS company and a market leader, empowering global enterprises to orchestrate transformative

business performance. Our customers rely on the Anaplan platform—powered by our proprietary Hyperblock® technology—to connect teams,
systems, and insights from across their organizations to continuously adapt to change, transform how they operate, and reinvent value creation. Our
cloud platform empowers enterprises to orchestrate complex scenario planning and conduct continuous forecasting to systematically identify
possibilities, seize opportunities, and reduce risk. Users of our platform can view and assess the impact of assumptions on plans and key
performance indicators in real time and across multiple business dimensions. The Anaplan platform enables businesses to be more agile, make
better decisions and to plan and execute their ongoing digital transformation to compete in today’s digital economy.

Our customers often initially adopt our platform within a specific business function for one or more planning use cases, but also because our
platform has the potential to be used as an enterprise-wide integrated planning and forecasting tool and as part of a broader digital transformation
initiative. We sell subscriptions to our cloud-based planning platform primarily through our direct sales team targeting these customers. We also
have a robust partnership ecosystem that serves as an integral part of our go-to-market strategy and an extension of our direct sales force. Our
strategic consulting and systems integration partners provide us with a significant source of lead generation and implementation leverage. These
partners act as strategic advisors to senior executives in corporate, functional, and process transformation initiatives of organizations. They often
promote our platform as their clients examine how to plan more effectively or seek digital transformation through organizational change or improved
business processes. We also rely on partners with deep subject-matter expertise in the implementation of specific use cases who can facilitate
implementations for our customers. Our partners also help to drive thought leadership in promoting Connected Planning and digital transformation.

Once our customers see the benefits and wide applicability of our platform, we use a “land and expand” sales strategy to encourage our
existing customers to increase the number of users, add new use cases, and expand to additional lines of business, divisions, and geographies. This
expansion often generates a natural network effect in which the value of our platform to customers increases as more use cases are adopted, more
users are connected, and greater amounts of data are incorporated in our platform delivering exponential value to our customers.

We see a greenfield opportunity to help over 70 million knowledge workers around the world plan more efficiently using Anaplan’s platform.

We derive the substantial majority of our revenue from subscriptions for users on our platform. Our initial subscription term is typically two to
three years, although some customers commit for shorter periods. We generally bill our customers annually in advance. We also offer professional
services, including consulting, implementation, and training, but are increasingly leveraging our partners to provide these services. During the three
months ended October 31, 2021 and 2020, subscription revenue was $139.3 million and $104.7 million, respectively, representing a year-over-year
subscription revenue growth rate of 33%. During the three months ended October 31, 2021 and 2020, services revenue was $16.0 million and $10.2
million, respectively. Our subscription revenue as a percentage of total revenue was 90% and 91% in the three months ended October 31, 2021 and
2020, respectively. During the nine months ended October 31, 2021 and 2020, subscription revenue was $388.4 million and $295.6 million,
respectively, representing a year-over-year subscription revenue growth rate of 31%. During the nine months ended October 31, 2021 and 2020,
services revenue was $41.1 million and $29.6 million, respectively. Our subscription revenue as a percentage of total revenue was 90% and 91% in
the nine months ended October 31, 2021 and 2020, respectively.
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During the three months ended October 31, 2021 and 2020, our total revenue was $155.3 million and $114.9 million, respectively.
Approximately 47% and 46% of our total revenue was generated from outside of the United States in the three months ended October 31, 2021 and
2020, respectively. During the nine months ended October 31, 2021 and 2020, our total revenue was $429.5 million and $325.2 million, respectively.
Approximately 47% and 45% of our revenue was generated from outside of the United States in the nine months ended October 31, 2021 and 2020.
Our net loss was $41.0 million and $36.8 million in the three months ended October 31, 2021 and 2020, respectively, and $143.6 million and $111.9
million in the nine months ended October 31, 2021 and 2020, respectively.

We believe that our focus on customer success allows us to retain and expand the subscription revenue generated from our existing
customers, and is an indicator of the long-term value of our customer relationships for Anaplan as a whole. We track our performance in this area by
measuring our dollar-based net expansion rate, which compares our annual recurring revenue from the same set of customers across comparable
periods. The dollar-based net expansion rate was 119% and 114% as of October 31, 2021, and January 31, 2021, respectively.

Our dollar-based net expansion rate equals the annual recurring revenue at the end of a period for a base set of customers from which we
generated annual recurring revenue in the year prior to the date of calculation, divided by the annual recurring revenue one year prior to the date of
the calculation for that same set of customers. Annual recurring revenue is calculated as subscription revenue already booked and in backlog that
will be recorded over the next 12 months, assuming any contract expiring in those 12 months is renewed and continues on its existing terms and at
its prevailing rate of utilization.

The number of customers with greater than $250,000 of annual recurring revenue was 528 and 453 as of October 31, 2021, and
January 31, 2021, respectively. We monitor this metric and believe it is a useful tool to investors, as an indicator of the scale of customer adoption
and expansion of our platform.

We define calculated billings as total revenue plus the change in deferred revenue in the period. Calculated billings in any particular period
is comprised of subscription contracts with existing customers (including renewal contracts and add-on contracts), subscription contracts with new
customers, and contracts for professional services. Calculated billings is intended to provide information about our subscription revenue growth over
time and can typically be seen as an early indicator of trends in revenue growth. While calculated billings can increase as our revenues grow, it may
significantly fluctuate from period to period for several reasons, including the timing of contracted billings, the timing of renewals, and other factors.
See Part II, Item 1A, “Risk Factors—Operational Risks—The sum of our revenue and changes in deferred revenue may not be an accurate indicator
of business activity within a period” for a description of some limitations in the use of calculated billings.

Calculated billings is calculated as follows:

Three Months Ended October
31,

Nine Months Ended October
31,

2021 2020 2021 2020
(In thousands)

Total revenue $ 155,348 $ 114,875 $ 429,497 $ 325,230 
Add: Deferred revenue (end of period) 323,722 245,031 323,722 245,031 
Less: Deferred revenue (beginning of period) (296,521) (214,554) (295,543) (220,208)
Calculated billings $ 182,549 $ 145,352 $ 457,676 $ 350,053 

We regularly evaluate acquisitions or investment opportunities in complementary businesses, services and technologies and intellectual
property rights as a means to expand our offerings through a disciplined and strategic acquisition process. We may continue to make such
acquisitions and investments in the future, and we plan to reinvest a significant portion of our incremental revenue in future periods to grow our
business.

COVID-19 Update
The COVID-19 pandemic continues to persist. The broader implications of the COVID-19 pandemic on our business, results of operations,

and overall financial performance remain uncertain. We have seen and may continue to see in certain geographies some of our customers and
prospective customers defer or delay buying decisions and project implementations and prolonged sales cycles. These and other changes in
customer demand for our solutions could materially and adversely impact our business, results of operations, and overall financial performance in
future periods.
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As the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic continues to unfold around the world, we remain focused on supporting our employees,
customers, and partners. In response to the COVID-19 pandemic, we modified the manner in which we operate and we required our employees to
work remotely, maintained business-related travel restrictions, and virtualized, postponed or cancelled our sales and marketing, employee or
industry events. We are slowly moving toward normal operations on a market-by-market basis in accordance with local guidelines, but continue to
employ a hybrid approach in most regions. Our approach may vary among geographies depending on local guidelines, and may change at any time,
including in response to new or reimposed precautionary measures as the COVID-19 pandemic evolves. We have developed health and safety
procedures to enable our employees to safely return to our offices. The impact, if any, of these and any additional operational changes we may
implement is uncertain, but we currently believe the changes we have implemented have not materially affected, and are not expected to have a
material and adverse effect on, our ability to maintain financial reporting systems, internal control over financial reporting and disclosure controls and
procedures.

The extent to which the ongoing COVID-19 pandemic, and associated global economic uncertainty, may impact our business will depend on
future developments, including the duration and spread of the pandemic and the prevalence and virulence of variants of COVID-19; the scope and
effectiveness of precautionary measures designed to contain and prevent the spread of COVID-19; the availability and effectiveness of vaccines;
and the impact on our current and prospective customers, employees, and partners; all of which are uncertain and cannot be predicted at this time.
While we have developed and continue to develop plans to help mitigate the negative impact of the pandemic on our business, these efforts may not
be effective and any protracted economic downturn may limit the effectiveness of our mitigation efforts. In addition, even after the immediate impacts
of the pandemic on the global economy and our business subside, the residual effects of the pandemic may present additional challenges to our
business that are currently difficult to predict. We are continuing to monitor the actual and potential effects of the COVID-19 pandemic on our
business. See Part II, Item 1A, “Risk Factors” for further discussion of the possible impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on our business.

Factors Affecting Our Performance
We believe that our future performance will depend on many factors, including those described below. While these areas present significant

opportunity, they also present risks that we must manage to achieve successful results. See Part II, Item 1A, “Risk Factors”. If we are unable to
address these challenges, our business and operating results could be adversely affected.

Market adoption of our platform.    Our long-term success will depend on widespread adoption of Connected Planning by enterprises for
numerous planning applications with broad use of those applications within their organizations. While we believe that we are still in the early stages
of penetrating our addressable market, we have benefited from rapid customer growth.

Customer First strategy.    We put the success of our customers at the center of our culture, strategy, and investments. We view our
Customer First strategy as core to capturing our Connected Planning vision and driving the continued adoption and expansion in the use of our
platform. By aligning our thought leadership, worldwide development and delivery capabilities, and local sales and service resources, our Customer
First strategy drives exceptional value throughout our customers’ Connected Planning and digital transformation journeys. Our continued success
depends in part on our ability to continue to put customers at the center of our strategy.

Expansion of existing customers.    We employ a “land and expand” approach, with many of our customers initially deploying our product
for a specific use case and group of users. Once they realize the benefits and wide applicability of our platform, many of our customers subsequently
renew their subscriptions and expand the number of users or use cases within and across lines of business and geographies as they continue
unlocking the agile enterprise planning and operating model across functional boundaries. As a result, we are able to generate a significant increase
in revenue from the expanded use of our platform across the enterprise. Going forward we are focused on targeting customers where the
opportunity for expansion and need for our planning solutions are greatest. Our future revenue growth and our ability to achieve and maintain
profitability is dependent upon our ability to maintain existing customer relationships and to continue to expand our customers’ use of our platform.
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Scaling our sales team.    Our ability to achieve significant growth in revenue in the future will depend, in large part, upon the effectiveness
of our sales leadership and sales efforts, both domestically and internationally. We have invested and intend to continue to invest in expanding and
retaining our sales leadership and direct sales force, particularly in attracting and retaining sales personnel with experience selling to larger
enterprises. Our ability to increase our revenue will depend on the new members of our sales force becoming fully productive and executing
expeditiously and effective sales leadership. A customer’s decision to use our platform may be an enterprise-wide decision. These types of sales
require us to provide greater levels of education regarding the use and benefits of our platform, which involves substantial time, effort, and costs.

International sales.    Our total revenue generated outside of the United States during the three and nine months ended October 31,
2021, was approximately 47% of our total revenue. Our total revenue generated outside of the United States during the three and nine months
ended October 31, 2020, was approximately 46% and 45%, respectively, of our total revenue. We believe global demand for our platform will
continue to develop as organizations experience the benefits that our platform can provide to international enterprises with complex planning needs
spanning multiple geographies. Accordingly, we believe there is significant opportunity to grow our international business. We have invested, and
plan to invest, ahead of this potential demand in personnel, marketing, and access to data center capacity to support our international growth.

Partner ecosystem.    Our partner ecosystem extends our geographic coverage, accelerates the usage and adoption of our platform, and
enables more efficient delivery of service solutions. We intend to augment and deepen our partnerships with strategic and advisory consulting,
systems integration, public cloud and technology firms. We believe our partners’ scale and route to market can significantly contribute to our ability to
penetrate our addressable market, extend our geographic coverage, and extend usage and adoption of our platform.

Product velocity.    We have invested and intend to continue to invest significantly in research and development in an effort to enhance
and expand the functionality of our platform, to attract and retain development personnel, and to protect our market-leading technology advantage.
We have a well-defined technology roadmap to introduce new features and functionality to our platform that we believe will improve our ability to
generate revenue by broadening the appeal of our platform to potential new customers as well as increasing the opportunities for further expanding
the use of our platform by existing customers. We are also investing to further enhance the functionality, intelligence, user experience, scale,
extensibility and security of our platform. We will need to continue to focus on bringing cutting-edge technology to market in order to remain
competitive.

Components of Results of Operations
Revenue

We offer subscriptions to our cloud-based planning platform. We derive our revenue primarily from subscription fees and, to a lesser degree,
from professional services fees. Subscription revenue consists primarily of fees to provide our customers access to our cloud-based platform.
Professional services revenue includes fees from assisting customers in implementing and optimizing the use of our cloud-based platform. These
services include implementation, consulting, and training.

Subscription Revenue

Subscription revenue accounted for 90% of our total revenue for the three and nine months ended October 31, 2021, and 91% of our total
revenue for the three and nine months ended October 31, 2020. Subscription revenue is driven primarily by the number of customers, the number of
users at each customer, the price of user subscriptions, and renewal rates.

Subscription fees are recognized ratably as revenue over the contract term beginning on the date the platform is made available to the
customer. Our new business subscriptions typically have a term of two to three years. We generally invoice our customers in annual installments at
the beginning of each year within the subscription period. Amounts that have been invoiced are initially recorded as deferred revenue and are
recognized ratably over the subscription period.

Most of our contracts are non-cancelable over the contract term. We had remaining performance obligations, or backlog, in the amount of
$923.2 million and $817.6 million as of October 31, 2021 and January 31, 2021, respectively, consisting of both billed and unbilled consideration.

Because we recognize revenue from subscription fees ratably over the term of the contract, changes in our contracting activity in the near
term may not impact our reported revenue until future periods.
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Professional Services Revenue

Professional services revenue is generally recognized as the services are rendered for time and material contracts, or on a proportional
performance basis for fixed price contracts. The substantial majority of our professional service contracts are on a time and materials basis.
Implementations generally take one to six months to complete depending upon the scope of engagement with the customer. Our professional
services revenue fluctuates from quarter to quarter as a result of the requirements, complexity, and timing of our customers’ implementation
projects.

Cost of Revenue

Cost of Subscription Revenue

Cost of subscription revenue primarily consists of costs related to providing cloud applications, compensation and other employee-related
expenses for data center staff, including salaries and bonuses, benefits, and stock-based compensation, payments to outside service providers,
customer service, data center and networking expenses, depreciation expenses, and amortization of capitalized software development costs.

Cost of Professional Services Revenue

Cost of professional services revenue primarily consists of costs related to providing implementation and configuration services, optimization
services and training services, personnel-related costs directly associated with our professional services and training departments, including salaries
and bonuses, benefits, and stock-based compensation, the costs of contracted third-party vendors, and travel.

Professional services associated with the implementation and configuration of our subscription platform are performed directly by our
services team, as well as by contracted third-party vendors. When third-party vendors invoice us for services performed for our customers, those
fees are recognized as expense as incurred.

Operating Expenses

Research and Development

Research and development expenses consist primarily of personnel-related costs for our development team, including salaries and
bonuses, benefits, stock-based compensation expense, and allocated overhead costs. We have invested, and intend to continue to invest, in
developing technology to support our growth. We capitalize certain software development costs that are attributable to developing new features and
adding incremental functionality to our platform, and amortize such costs as costs of subscription revenue over the estimated life of the new
incremental functionality, which is generally two to three years. We plan to increase our investment in research and development for the foreseeable
future as we focus on further developing our platform and enhancing its use cases. However, we expect our research and development expenses to
decrease as a percentage of our total revenue over time, although they may fluctuate as a percentage of our total revenue from period to period.

Sales and Marketing

Sales and marketing expenses consist primarily of personnel-related costs directly associated with our sales and marketing staff, including
salaries and bonuses, benefits, commissions, and stock-based compensation. Other sales and marketing costs include promotional events to
promote our brand, including our Anaplan Connected Planning Xperience (CPX) user conferences, advertising, and allocated overhead costs. We
plan to increase our investment in sales and marketing over the foreseeable future, primarily stemming from increased headcount in sales and
marketing, and investment in brand- and product-marketing efforts. However, we expect our sales and marketing expenses to decrease as a
percentage of our total revenue over time, although they may fluctuate as a percentage of our total revenue from period to period.
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General and Administrative

General and administrative expenses consist primarily of personnel-related costs associated with our executive, finance, legal, and human
resources personnel, including salaries and bonuses, benefits, and stock-based compensation expense, professional fees for external legal,
accounting and other consulting services, and allocated overhead costs. We expect to increase the size of our general and administrative function to
support the growth of our business and continue to incur additional expenses as a result of operating as a public company. As a result, we expect
the dollar amount of our general and administrative expenses to increase for the foreseeable future. However, we expect our general and
administrative expenses to decrease as a percentage of our total revenue over time, although they may fluctuate as a percentage of our total
revenue from period to period.

Interest Income (Expense), Net

Interest income (expense), net consists primarily of interest income earned on our cash and cash equivalents, net of interest expense from
our finance leases.

Other Income (Expense), Net

Other income (expense), net consists primarily of foreign exchange gains and losses.

Benefit from (Provision for) Income Taxes

Benefit from (provision for) income taxes consists primarily of income taxes related to foreign and state jurisdictions in which we conduct
business. We maintain a full valuation allowance on our federal, state and U.K. deferred tax assets as we have concluded that it is not more likely
than not that the deferred assets will be utilized.

23



Table of Contents

Results of Operations
The following tables set forth selected condensed consolidated statements of operations data for each of the periods indicated:

Three Months Ended October
31,

Nine Months Ended October
31,

2021 2020 2021 2020
(In thousands)

Revenue:
Subscription revenue $ 139,343 $ 104,707 $ 388,437 $ 295,648 
Professional services revenue 16,005 10,168 41,060 29,582 

Total revenue 155,348 114,875 429,497 325,230 
Cost of revenue:

Cost of subscription revenue (1) 25,627 19,187 69,601 50,520 
Cost of professional services revenue (1) 16,512 10,188 41,586 29,037 

Total cost of revenue 42,139 29,375 111,187 79,557 
Gross profit 113,209 85,500 318,310 245,673 
Operating expenses:

Research and development (1) 40,782 24,629 110,211 72,986 
Sales and marketing (1) 92,859 73,893 277,610 218,481 
General and administrative (1) 27,732 22,851 77,362 66,514 

Total operating expenses 161,373 121,373 465,183 357,981 
Loss from operations (48,164) (35,873) (146,873) (112,308)
Interest income (expense), net (122) (208) (404) 119 
Other income (expense), net (368) (291) (3,202) 3,385 
Loss before income taxes (48,654) (36,372) (150,479) (108,804)
Benefit from (provision for) income taxes 7,676 (420) 6,889 (3,114)
Net loss $ (40,978) $ (36,792) $ (143,590) $ (111,918)

(1) Includes stock-based compensation expense as follows:
Cost of subscription revenue $ 2,184 $ 953 $ 5,536 $ 2,537 
Cost of professional services revenue 1,170 506 2,992 1,706 
Research and development 9,748 5,235 25,098 13,261 
Sales and marketing 16,907 12,570 51,604 33,814 
General and administrative 8,984 7,696 23,292 23,114 

Total stock-based compensation expense $ 38,993 $ 26,960 $ 108,522 $ 74,432 

Three and Nine Months Ended October 31, 2021 and 2020
Revenue

Three Months Ended
October 31,

Nine Months Ended
October 31,

2021 2020 % Change 2021 2020 % Change
(In thousands, except percentage data)

Subscription revenue $ 139,343 $ 104,707 33 % $ 388,437 $ 295,648 31 %
Professional services revenue 16,005 10,168 57 41,060 29,582 39 

Total revenue $ 155,348 $ 114,875 35 $ 429,497 $ 325,230 32 
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Total revenue was $155.3 million in the three months ended October 31, 2021, compared to $114.9 million in the three months ended
October 31, 2020, an increase of $40.4 million, or 35%. Total revenue was $429.5 million in the nine months ended October 31, 2021, compared to
$325.2 million in the nine months ended October 31, 2020, an increase of $104.3 million, or 32%.

Subscription revenue was $139.3 million, or 90% of total revenue, in the three months ended October 31, 2021, compared to $104.7 million,
or 91% of total revenue, in the three months ended October 31, 2020, an increase of $34.6 million, or 33%. The increase in subscription revenue
was primarily driven by existing customers expanding their use of our platform, which accounted for 74% of the increase, and acquisition of new
customers, which accounted for approximately 26% of the increase.

Subscription revenue was $388.4 million, or 90% of total revenue, in the nine months ended October 31, 2021, compared to $295.6 million,
or 91% of total revenue, in the nine months ended October 31, 2020, an increase of $92.8 million, or 31%. The increase in subscription revenue was
primarily driven by existing customers expanding their use of our platform, which accounted for 80% of the increase, and acquisition of new
customers, which accounted for approximately 20% of the increase.

Professional services revenue was $16.0 million in the three months ended October 31, 2021, compared to $10.2 million in the three
months ended October 31, 2020, an increase of $5.8 million, or 57%. Professional services revenue was $41.1 million in the nine months ended
October 31, 2021, compared to $29.6 million in the nine months ended October 31, 2020, an increase of $11.5 million, or 39%. The increase in
professional services revenue in each period was primarily driven by sales of our professional services resulting from the growth of our customer
base.

Cost of Revenue

Three Months Ended
October 31,

Nine Months Ended
October 31,

2021 2020 % Change 2021 2020 % Change
(In thousands, except percentage data)

Cost of subscription revenue $ 25,627 $ 19,187 34 % $ 69,601 $ 50,520 38 %
Cost of professional services revenue 16,512 10,188 62 41,586 29,037 43 

Total cost of revenue $ 42,139 $ 29,375 43 $ 111,187 $ 79,557 40 

Total cost of revenue was $42.1 million in the three months ended October 31, 2021, compared to $29.4 million in the three months ended
October 31, 2020, an increase of $12.7 million, or 43%. Total cost of revenue was $111.2 million in the nine months ended October 31, 2021,
compared to $79.6 million in the nine months ended October 31, 2020, an increase of $31.6 million, or 40%.

Cost of subscription revenue was $25.6 million in the three months ended October 31, 2021, compared to $19.2 million in the three months
ended October 31, 2020, an increase of $6.4 million, or 34%. The increase in cost of subscription revenue was primarily due to an increase in
salaries and bonuses, and benefits costs of $3.6 million, including stock-based compensation, an increase in amortization of our equipment leases
and capitalized software development costs of $1.2 million and an increase in hosting costs of $0.8 million.

Cost of subscription revenue was $69.6 million in the nine months ended October 31, 2021, compared to $50.5 million in the nine months
ended October 31, 2020, an increase of $19.1 million, or 38%. The increase in cost of subscription revenue was primarily due to an increase in
salary and bonuses, and benefits costs of $8.8 million, including stock-based compensation, an increase in hosting costs of $4.0 million, and an
increase in amortization of our equipment leases and capitalized software development costs of $3.6 million.

Cost of professional services revenue was $16.5 million in the three months ended October 31, 2021, compared to $10.2 million in the three
months ended October 31, 2020, an increase of $6.3 million, or 62%. The increase in cost of professional services revenue was primarily due to an
increase in the partner implementation costs related to an increase in partner activity of $4.1 million, and an increase in salaries and bonuses, and
benefits costs of $2.0 million, including stock-based compensation.
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Cost of professional services revenue was $41.6 million in the nine months ended October 31, 2021, compared to $29.0 million in the nine
months ended October 31, 2020, an increase of $12.6 million, or 43%. The increase in cost of professional services revenue was primarily due to an
increase in the partner implementation costs related to an increase in partner activity of $7.1 million, and an increase in salary and bonuses, and
benefits costs of $5.1 million, including stock-based compensation.

Gross Profit and Gross Margin

Three Months Ended October
31,

Nine Months Ended October
31,

2021 2020 % Change 2021 2020 % Change
(In thousands, except percentage data)

Subscription gross profit $ 113,716 $ 85,520 33 % $ 318,836 $ 245,128 30 %
Professional services gross profit (507) (20) 2,435 (526) 545 (197)

Total gross profit $ 113,209 $ 85,500 32 $ 318,310 $ 245,673 30 
Subscription gross margin 82 % 82 % 82 % 83 %
Professional services gross margin (3)% — % (1)% 2 %

Total gross margin 73 % 74 % 74 % 76 %

Gross profit was $113.2 million in the three months ended October 31, 2021, compared to $85.5 million in the three months ended
October 31, 2020, an increase of $27.7 million, or 32%. Gross profit was $318.3 million in the nine months ended October 31, 2021, compared to
$245.7 million in the nine months ended October 31, 2020, an increase of $72.6 million, or 30%. The increase in gross profit was the result of the
increases in our subscription revenue primarily driven by existing customers expanding their use of our platform and acquisition of new customers in
the three and nine months ended October 31, 2021.

Gross margin was 73% in the three months ended October 31, 2021, compared to 74% in the three months ended October 31, 2020. The
decrease was primarily due to an increase in professional services revenue, which generates a significantly lower gross margin than our subscription
revenue, as a percentage of total revenue, and higher partner implementation costs.

Gross margin was 74% in the nine months ended October 31, 2021, compared to 76% in the nine months ended October 31, 2020. The
decrease was primarily due to an increase in professional services revenue, which generates a significantly lower gross margin than our subscription
revenue, as a percentage of total revenue, and higher hosting and partner implementation costs.

Our gross margins can fluctuate from quarter to quarter as a result of the requirements, complexity, and timing of our customers’
implementation projects that can vary significantly.

Operating Expenses

Three Months Ended
October 31,

Nine Months Ended
October 31,

2021 2020 % Change 2021 2020 % Change
(In thousands, except percentage data)

Operating expense:
Research and development $ 40,782 $ 24,629 66 % $ 110,211 $ 72,986 51 %
Sales and marketing 92,859 73,893 26 277,610 218,481 27 
General and administrative 27,732 22,851 21 77,362 66,514 16 

Total operating expenses $ 161,373 $ 121,373 33 $ 465,183 $ 357,981 30 
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Research and Development

Research and development expenses were $40.8 million in the three months ended October 31, 2021, compared to $24.6 million in the
three months ended October 31, 2020, an increase of $16.2 million, or 66%. The increase includes an increase in salaries and bonuses, and
benefits costs of $14.5 million (which included an increase in stock-based compensation of $4.5 million) primarily related to an increase in
headcount, partially offset by an increase in capitalized software development costs of $1.9 million.

Research and development expenses were $110.2 million in the nine months ended October 31, 2021, compared to $73.0 million in the
nine months ended October 31, 2020, an increase of $37.2 million, or 51%. The increase includes an increase in salary and bonuses, and benefits
costs of $36.0 million (which included an increase in stock-based compensation of $11.8 million) primarily related to an increase in headcount,
partially offset by an increase in capitalized software development costs of $4.1 million.

Sales and Marketing

Sales and marketing expenses were $92.9 million in the three months ended October 31, 2021, compared to $73.9 million in the three
months ended October 31, 2020, an increase of $19.0 million, or 26%. The increase was primarily due to an increase in salaries and bonuses, and
benefits costs related to an increase in headcount of $17.7 million (which included an increase in stock-based compensation of $4.3 million and an
increase in commission expenses of $4.0 million) and an increase in consulting expenses of $1.2 million.

Sales and marketing expenses were $277.6 million in the nine months ended October 31, 2021, compared to $218.5 million in the nine
months ended October 31, 2020, an increase of $59.1 million, or 27%. The increase was primarily due to an increase in salary and bonuses and
benefits costs related to an increase in headcount of $52.7 million (which included an increase in stock-based compensation of $17.8 million and an
increase in commission expenses of $10.0 million) and an increase in consulting expenses of $2.7 million.

General and Administrative

General and administrative expenses were $27.7 million in the three months ended October 31, 2021, compared to $22.9 million in the
three months ended October 31, 2020, an increase of $4.8 million, or 21%. The increase was primarily due to an increase in salaries and bonuses,
and benefits costs of $4.2 million, including stock-based compensation, and an increase in consulting and professional services of $0.3 million.

General and administrative expenses were $77.4 million in the nine months ended October 31, 2021, compared to $66.5 million in the nine
months ended October 31, 2020, an increase of $10.9 million, or 16%. The increase was primarily due to an increase in salary and bonuses, and
benefits costs related to an increase in headcount of $8.3 million, including stock-based compensation, and an increase in consulting and
professional services of $2.3 million, partially offset by a decrease in allowance for credit losses of $0.6 million.

Other Income (Expense), Net

Three Months Ended
October 31,

Nine Months Ended
October 31,

2021 2020 % Change 2021 2020 % Change
(In thousands, except percentage data)

Interest income (expense), net $ (122) $ (208) (41) % $ (404) $ 119 (439) %
Other income (expense), net (368) (291) 26 (3,202) 3,385 (195)

Interest income (expense), net
There was no material fluctuation in interest income (expense), net for the three months ended October 31, 2021. Interest income

(expense), net decreased by $0.5 million for the nine months ended October 31, 2021. The decrease in interest income (expense), net was primarily
due to lower interest income from our cash and cash equivalents as a result of lower interest rates in the nine months ended October 31, 2021
compared to the nine months ended October 31, 2020.
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Other income (expense), net
There was no material fluctuation in other income (expense), net for the three months ended October 31, 2021. Other income (expense),

net was an expense of $3.2 million in the nine months ended October 31, 2021, compared to income of $3.4 million in the nine months ended
October 31, 2020, an increase in expense of $6.6 million, or 195%. The change was primarily due to currency fluctuations and the related
remeasurements during the periods.

Benefit from (Provision for) Income Taxes

Three Months Ended
October 31,

Nine Months Ended
October 31,

2021 2020 % Change 2021 2020 % Change
(In thousands, except percentage data)

Benefit from (provision for) income taxes $ 7,676 $ (420) (1,928)% $ 6,889 $ (3,114) (321) %

The income tax benefit was $7.7 million in the three months ended October 31, 2021, compared to income tax expense of $0.4 million in the
three months ended October 31, 2020, an increase in income tax benefit of $8.1 million or 1928%. The increase in income tax benefit was primarily
due to the release of valuation allowance related to our Israel deferred tax assets.

The income tax benefit was $6.9 million in the nine months ended October 31, 2021, compared to income tax expense of $3.1 million in the
nine months ended October 31, 2020, an increase in income tax benefit of $10.0 million, or 321%. The increase in income tax benefit was primarily
due to the release of valuation allowance related to our Israel deferred tax assets, a reduction in discrete tax expenses and a decrease in taxable
income generated from intercompany cost-plus arrangements in certain European and Asian countries.

Liquidity and Capital Resources
As of October 31, 2021, our principal sources of liquidity were cash and cash equivalents totaling $312.4 million, which were held for

working capital purposes and strategic initiatives. Our cash equivalents are comprised primarily of money market funds and bank deposits.

Cash from operations could be affected by various risks and uncertainties, including but not limited to, the effects of the COVID-19
pandemic and other risks detailed in Part II, Item 1A, “Risk Factors”.  We believe our existing cash and cash equivalents will be sufficient to meet our
projected operating requirements for at least the next 12 months. Our future capital requirements will depend on many factors, including our pace of
growth, subscription renewal activity, the timing and extent of spend to support research and development efforts, the expansion of sales and
marketing activities, the introduction of new and enhanced platform offerings, and the continuing market acceptance of the platform. We may in the
future enter into arrangements to acquire or invest in complementary businesses, services and technologies, and intellectual property rights. We
may be required to seek additional equity or debt financing. In the event that additional financing is required from outside sources, we may not be
able to raise it on terms acceptable to us or at all. If we are unable to raise additional capital when desired, our business, operating results, and
financial condition would be adversely affected.

Loan and Credit Facility Agreements

In April 2020, we entered into the Third Amendment to Credit Agreement and First Amendment to Collateral Agreement with Wells Fargo as
administrative agent and a lender (the “Third Amendment”). Among other things, the Third Amendment further amends the Credit Agreement
entered into with Wells Fargo in April 2018, as amended in September 2018 and October 2019 (the “Credit Agreement”) in order to (1) increase the
aggregate revolving credit commitment amount by $20.0 million, so that we may borrow up to $60.0 million under a secured revolving credit facility,
subject to the terms of the Credit Agreement including the accounts receivable borrowing base, for general corporate purposes, and (2) extend the
maturity date of the revolving credit facility until April 23, 2022. Also, pursuant to the Third Amendment, any loans drawn on the credit facility will
incur interest at a rate equal to the highest of (A) the prime rate, (B) the federal funds rate plus 0.5%, and (C) the one-month LIBOR plus 1%.
Interest is payable monthly in arrears with the principal and any accrued and unpaid interest due on April 23, 2022. As of October 31, 2021 and
January 31, 2021, we had not drawn down any amounts under this agreement.
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As part of the Credit Agreement, we granted Wells Fargo a first priority lien in our accounts receivable, all of the issued shares of capital
stock and equity interests in certain of our subsidiaries, and other corporate assets and agreed not to pledge our intellectual property to other
parties. The Credit Agreement, as amended by the Third Amendment, includes affirmative and negative covenants, including financial covenants
requiring the maintenance of: (1) minimum tangible net worth (defined as assets, excluding intangible assets, less liabilities) as of the last day of any
fiscal quarter of not less than $150.0 million for any fiscal quarter ending on or prior to January 31, 2021 and $125.0 million for any fiscal quarter
ending thereafter, and (2) minimum billings for the most recent twelve months ending as of the last day of any fiscal quarter of not less than $350.0
million. As of October 31, 2021, we were in compliance with the financial covenants contained in the Credit Agreement.

Cash Flows

The following table summarizes our cash flows for the periods presented:

Nine Months Ended October
31,

2021 2020
(In thousands)

Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities $ 2,087 $ (14,935)
Net cash used in investing activities (19,296) (12,909)
Net cash provided by financing activities 11,826 15,896 

Operating Activities

Net cash provided by operating activities of $2.1 million for the nine months ended October 31, 2021, reflecting a net loss of $143.6 million
and non-cash release of deferred tax valuation allowance of $7.6 million, adjusted by non-cash charges for stock-based compensation of $108.5
million, amortization of deferred commissions of $31.0 million, depreciation and amortization of $21.5 million, amortization of operating lease right-of-
use assets and accretion of operating lease liabilities of $7.5 million, non-cash foreign currency remeasurement losses of $1.6 million and other non-
cash items of $0.6 million. Changes in working capital were unfavorable to cash flows from operations by $17.4 million primarily due to an increase
in deferred commissions of $49.3 million related to commissions capitalized on our sales, net payments for operating lease liabilities of $7.0 million
and an increase in prepaid expenses and other current assets of $3.1 million, partially offset by an increase in deferred revenue balance of $29.3
million due to increased customer billings, a decrease in accounts receivable of $7.2 million due to timing of collections and an increase in accounts
payable and accrued expenses of $5.6 million due to timing of payments.

Net cash used in operating activities of $14.9 million for the nine months ended October 31, 2020, was primarily due to a net loss of $111.9
million and non-cash foreign currency remeasurement gains of $3.2 million, partially offset by non-cash charges for stock-based compensation of
$74.4 million, amortization of deferred commissions of $24.4 million, depreciation and amortization of $18.9 million, amortization of operating lease
right-of-use assets and accretion of operating lease liabilities of $7.6 million, and other non-cash items of $2.6 million. Changes in working capital
were unfavorable to cash flows from operations by $27.9 million primarily due to an increase in deferred commissions of $43.4 million related to
commissions capitalized on our sales, an increase in accounts receivable of $22.0 million primarily due to increased customer billings, and net
payments for operating lease liabilities of $6.9 million, and, partially offset by an increase in deferred revenue balance of $26.8 million due to
increased customer billings, an increase in accounts payable and accrued expenses of $10.3 million due to timing of payments, and an increase in
other noncurrent liabilities of $7.5 million.

Investing Activities

Net cash used in investing activities for the nine months ended October 31, 2021 of $19.3 million was related to the capitalization of internal-
use software of $10.2 million as we expanded our platform and increased our development efforts, and purchases of property and equipment of $9.1
million related to our growth.

Net cash used in investing activities for the nine months ended October 31, 2020 of $12.9 million was related to the capitalization of internal-
use software of $7.7 million as we expanded our platform and increased our development efforts, and purchases of property and equipment of $5.2
million related to our growth.
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Financing Activities

Net cash provided by financing activities for the nine months ended October 31, 2021 of $11.8 million consisted primarily of $11.5 million in
proceeds from employee stock purchase plan and $7.9 million in proceeds from the exercise of stock options, partially offset by $7.6 million principal
payment on finance lease obligations.

Net cash provided by financing activities for the nine months ended October 31, 2020 of $15.9 million consisted primarily of $12.6 million in
proceeds from the exercise of stock options and $9.5 million in proceeds from employee stock purchase plan, partially offset by $6.2 million principal
payment on finance lease obligations.

Commitments and Contractual Obligations
There were no material changes outside of the ordinary course of business in our contractual obligations and commitments during the nine

months ended October 31, 2021 from the contractual obligations and commitments disclosed in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year
ended January 31, 2021 filed with the SEC on March 12, 2021.

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements
Through October 31, 2021, we did not have any relationships with unconsolidated organizations or financial partnerships, such as structured

finance or special purpose entities that would have been established for the purpose of facilitating off-balance sheet arrangements or other
contractually narrow or limited purposes.

Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates
Our condensed consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with U.S. GAAP. The preparation of these condensed

consolidated financial statements requires us to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, revenue and
expenses, and related disclosures. We base our estimates on historical experience and on various other assumptions that we believe are
reasonable under the circumstances. We evaluate our estimates and assumptions on an ongoing basis. Actual results may differ from these
estimates. To the extent that there are material differences between these estimates and our actual results, our future financial statements will be
affected.

During the nine months ended October 31, 2021, there were no significant changes to our critical accounting policies and estimates as
described in the financial statements contained in the Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended January 31, 2021 filed with the SEC on March
12, 2021.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements
See “Summary of Business and Significant Accounting Policies” in Note 1 of the notes to our unaudited condensed consolidated financial

statements included in Part I, Item 1 of this Form 10-Q.

ITEM 3. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK
Foreign Currency Exchange Risk

Our results of operations and cash flows are subject to fluctuations due to changes in foreign currency exchange rates, particularly changes
in the British Pound Sterling, Euro, Swedish Krona and Singapore Dollar. Fluctuations in foreign currency exchange rates, including those resulting
from COVID-19 pandemic, may cause variability in our results of operations. Impacts to our operations from changes in foreign currency have been
fairly limited to date and thus we have not instituted a hedging program. We expect our international operations to continue to grow in the near term
and we will monitor our foreign currency exposure to determine when we should begin a hedging program. A majority of our agreements have been
and we expect will continue to be denominated in U.S. dollars. A hypothetical 10% increase or decrease in the relative value of the U.S. dollar to
other currencies would not have had a material effect on operating results for the nine months ended October 31, 2021 and 2020.
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Interest Rate Sensitivity

We are exposed to market risks in the ordinary course of our business. These risks primarily include interest rate sensitivities. As of
October 31, 2021, we had cash and cash equivalents of $312.4 million, which consisted primarily of money market funds and bank deposits. The
carrying amount of our cash equivalents reasonably approximates fair values. Due to the short-term nature of our money market funds, we believe
that exposure to changes in interest rates will not have a material impact on the fair value of our cash equivalents. A hypothetical 10% change in
interest rates would not have had a material impact on our operating results for the nine months ended October 31, 2021 and 2020.

ITEM 4. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES
Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

Our management, with the participation of our principal executive officer and principal financial officer, has evaluated the effectiveness of
the design and operation of our disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) under the Securities Exchange Act
of 1934, as amended, or the Exchange Act), as of the end of the period covered by this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q.

Based on such evaluation, our principal executive officer and principal financial officer have concluded that as of such date, our disclosure
controls and procedures are designed to, and are effective to, provide assurance at a reasonable level that the information we are required to
disclose in reports that we file or submit under the Exchange Act is recorded, processed, summarized, and reported within the time periods specified
in SEC rules and forms, and that such information is accumulated and communicated to our management, including our principal executive officer
and principal financial officer, as appropriate, to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosures.

Changes in Internal Control Over Financial Reporting
There were no changes in our internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f) under the Exchange Act)

that occurred during the period covered by this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially
affect, our internal control over financial reporting.

Inherent Limitations on Effectiveness of Controls
Our management, including our principal executive officer and principal financial officer, do not expect that our disclosure controls or our

internal control over financial reporting will prevent all errors and all fraud. A control system, no matter how well conceived and operated, can provide
only reasonable, not absolute, assurance that the objectives of the control system are met. Further, the design of a control system must reflect the
fact that there are resource constraints, and the benefits of controls must be considered relative to their costs. Because of the inherent limitations in
all control systems, no evaluation of controls can provide absolute assurance that all control issues and instances of fraud, if any, have been
detected. These inherent limitations include the realities that judgments in decision-making can be faulty, and that breakdowns can occur because of
a simple error or mistake. Additionally, controls can be circumvented by the individual acts of some persons, by collusion of two or more people or by
management override of the controls. The design of any system of controls is also based in part upon certain assumptions about the likelihood of
future events, and there can be no assurance that any design will succeed in achieving its stated goals under all potential future conditions, over
time, controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or the degree of compliance with policies or procedures may deteriorate.
Because of the inherent limitations in a cost-effective control system, misstatements due to error or fraud may occur and not be detected.
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PART II

ITEM 1. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS
The information set forth in Note 9, “Commitments and Contingencies” to the condensed consolidated financial statements included in Part

I, Item 1 of this Form 10-Q is incorporated herein by reference.

ITEM 1A. RISK FACTORS
A description of the risks and uncertainties associated with our business and ownership of our common stock is set forth below. You should

carefully consider the risks described below, as well as the other information in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, including our condensed
consolidated financial statements and the related notes and “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of
Operations.” The occurrence of any of the events or developments described below could materially and adversely affect our business, financial
condition, results of operations, and growth prospects. In such an event, the market price of our common stock could decline. Additional risks and
uncertainties not presently known to us or that we currently deem immaterial may also impair our business operations. This Quarterly Report on
Form 10-Q also contains forward-looking statements that involve risks and uncertainties. Our actual results could differ materially from those
anticipated in the forward-looking statements as a result of a number of factors, including the risks described below. See “Cautionary Note
Regarding Forward-Looking Statements.”

Risk Factor Summary
Below is a summary of the principal factors that make an investment in our common stock speculative or subject to risk. This summary does

not address all of the risks facing our business. You should consider the risks in this summary together with the detailed discussion of risks that
immediately follows this summary in this section titled “Risk Factors,” as well as the other information in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q.

• The ongoing COVID-19 pandemic, and resulting global economic uncertainty, has impacted how we, our customers, and our partners
are operating, and could result in a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, operating results and cash flows.

• We have a limited history of operating at our current scale and under our current strategy, which makes it difficult to predict our future
operating results, and we may not achieve our expected operating results in the future.

• Our recent revenue growth rates may not be indicative of our future performance or growth.

• We have a history of net losses, we anticipate increasing our operating expenses in the future, and we do not expect to be profitable for
the near future.

• Our quarterly results may fluctuate significantly and may not fully reflect the underlying performance of our business.

• We have experienced rapid growth and expect to continue to invest in our growth in the future. If we fail to manage our growth
effectively, we may be unable to execute our business plan, maintain high levels of service, or adequately address competitive
challenges and our business, financial condition and results of operations may be adversely affected.

• We derive substantially all of our revenue from a single software platform and if our platform fails to satisfy customer demands or to
achieve widespread market acceptance it would adversely affect our business, operating results, financial condition, and growth
prospects.

• If we are unable to attract new customers, both domestically and internationally, the growth of our revenue will be adversely affected
and our business may be harmed.

• Our business depends substantially on our customers renewing their subscriptions and expanding their use of our platform. If our
customers do not renew their subscriptions, if they renew on less favorable terms, or if they fail to add more users in more functional
areas or upgrade to a higher level of functionality on our platform, our business and operating results will be adversely affected.

• Failure to effectively expand our sales and marketing capabilities, including to hire and retain direct sales personnel, could harm our
ability to increase our customer base and achieve broader market acceptance of our service.

32



Table of Contents

• Our growth depends in part on the success of our strategic relationships with third parties and their continued performance.

• If our customers and partners do not have access to highly skilled and trained users of our platform, our customers may not be able to
unlock the full potential of our platform, customer satisfaction may suffer, and our results of operations, financial condition and growth
prospects may be adversely affected.

• If we fail to continue to enhance our platform, satisfy the cloud infrastructure priorities of our clients or adapt to rapid technological
change, our ability to remain competitive could be impaired.

• If we experience a security incident affecting our platform, networks, systems or data or the data of our customers, or are perceived to
have experienced such a security incident, our platform may be perceived as not being secure, our reputation may be harmed,
customers may reduce the use of or stop using our platform, we may incur significant liabilities, and our business could be materially
adversely affected.

• Real or perceived errors, failures, bugs, service outages, or disruptions in our platform could adversely affect our reputation and harm
our business.

• We depend on the experience and expertise of our senior management team and certain key employees, especially engineering,
research and development and sales personnel, and our inability to retain these executive officers and key employees or recruit them in
a timely manner, could harm our business, operating results, and financial condition.

• The markets in which we participate are intensely competitive, and if we do not compete effectively, our business and operating results
could be adversely affected.

• Because we collect, process and store personal information and furthermore, because our platform could be used by customers to do
the same, evolving domestic and international privacy and security laws, regulations and other obligations could result in additional
costs and liabilities to us or inhibit sales of our platform.

If we are unable to adequately address these and other risks we face, our business, financial condition, operating results, and prospects
may be adversely affected.

Operational Risks

The ongoing COVID-19 pandemic, and resulting global economic uncertainty, has impacted how we, our customers, and our partners are
operating, and could result in a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, operating results and cash flows.

The COVID-19 pandemic continues to persist. Precautionary measures designed to prevent the spread of COVID-19, such as travel
restrictions, shelter-in-place orders, and business shutdowns, have impacted many of the regions in which we conduct business, and new or more
restrictive measures have been and may continue to be adopted or reimposed if the pandemic worsens or evolves, including due to new variants of
the COVID-19 virus. These factors have increased economic and financial market volatility and uncertainty. Although multiple vaccines to protect
against COVID-19 have been approved for use by various governments, the inoculation of a sufficient segment of the population to contain the
pandemic may require a significant amount of time and is subject to uncertainties including the willingness of a significant portion of the general
population to be vaccinated. As such, the duration and severity of the COVID-19 pandemic and the degree of its impact on our business remains
uncertain and difficult to predict.
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As a result of the COVID-19 pandemic, we modified the manner in which we operated employing precautionary measures designed to
protect the health of our employees while enabling us to support our customers and partners. Among other modifications, we required our
employees to work remotely, maintained business-related travel restrictions, and virtualized, postponed or cancelled our sales and marketing,
employee or industry events. We are slowly moving toward normal operations on a market-by-market basis in accordance with local guidelines, but
continue to employ a hybrid approach in most regions. Our approach may vary among geographies depending on local guidelines, and may change
at any time, including in response to new or reimposed precautionary measures as the pandemic evolves. We may incorporate into our ongoing
business operations certain business practice modifications implemented in response to the COVID-19 pandemic. These business modifications
have and may continue to result in inefficiencies, delays and additional costs in our sales and marketing, professional services and research and
development efforts, which could have an adverse effect on our operations. In regions where we permit our employees to return to our offices and
we resume in-person sales and marketing, employee and industry events, we may face additional challenges and incur additional costs, including
those associated with managing evolving personnel and workplace safety protocols, disparate regional safety guidelines and workplace or labor
disputes or claims related to COVID-19, which could negatively impact our business.

The remote work measures that we implemented have generally allowed us to provide uninterrupted service to our customers, but have
affected the way we conduct our sales, research and development, testing, customer support, and other activities. While we have not observed
significant impacts to the productivity of our workforce, working remotely poses additional operational challenges that may impact productivity in the
future. Working remotely has made our employees more reliant on cloud-based communication services, and if those services are interrupted, or are
less secure, employee productivity could be harmed. Our employees may also face unexpected child-care or other related family responsibilities
while working from home that could impact productivity and employee retention. In addition, work-from-home and related business practice
modifications present significant challenges to maintaining our corporate culture, including employee engagement, productivity and retention, both
during the immediate pandemic crisis and as we make additional adjustments in the eventual transition from it. Our remote work measures and in-
person safety protocols may not be sufficient to mitigate the risks posed by the COVID-19 pandemic, and illness and workforce disruptions could
lead to unavailability of key personnel and harm our ability to perform critical functions.

Our future growth is substantially dependent on our direct sales team and partners driving new customer acquisition and expanded use of
our platform within existing customers. Prior to the COVID-19 pandemic, we held in-person sales, marketing, and industry events and our employees
traveled frequently to establish and maintain relationships with our customers, prospective customers, and partners. Our business operations,
including sales-related and customer support activities, could be adversely affected by continued or additional business closures, travel restrictions
impacting employees and partners, virtualization of events, and other precautionary measures, especially in regions where we have material
operations or sales. We may also experience negative impacts on our business if COVID-19 related governmental restrictions, or the easing or
tightening of those restrictions, occurs at different rates in the markets in which we, our customers, or our partners operate, and as a result of the
disparate restrictions we are unable to meet customer expectations. We may not be able to fully mitigate the impact of these disruptions which
cannot be predicted or quantified at this time and which could negatively impact our business.

The pandemic and associated global economic uncertainty and market volatility has had and may continue to have an adverse impact on
certain of our customers, prospective customers and partners, which could result in reduced consumer demand and willingness to enter into or
renew contracts with us, and ultimately could have a material adverse effect on our financial results. We have seen and may continue to see in
certain geographies our customers and prospective customers deferring or delaying buying decisions and project implementations and prolonged
sales cycles. We have seen an increase in requests for extended payment terms due to uncertain economic conditions including those caused by
the COVID-19 pandemic. In addition, the evolution of the COVID-19 pandemic and the macroeconomic factors triggered by the pandemic have and
could continue to result in decreased business spending by our customers and prospective customers, reduced demand for our solutions, longer
sales cycles, and lower renewal rates by our customers, all of which could result in a material adverse impact on our business operations and
financial condition even after the immediate impacts of the COVID-19 pandemic on the global economy and our business subside. Further, if we
experience a decrease in demand in a given period it could negatively affect our revenue in future periods, particularly if experienced on a sustained
basis, because a substantial proportion of revenue related to our platform is recognized over time. While we have developed and continue to
develop plans to help mitigate the negative impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on our business, these efforts may not be effective and a protracted
economic downturn may limit the effectiveness of our mitigation efforts.
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The extent to which the ongoing COVID-19 pandemic, and associated global economic uncertainty, may impact our business will depend on
future developments, including the duration and spread of the pandemic and the prevalence and virulence of variants of COVID-19; the scope and
effectiveness of precautionary measures designed to contain and prevent the spread of COVID-19; the availability and effectiveness of vaccines;
and the impact on our current and prospective customers, employees, and partners, all of which are highly uncertain and cannot be predicted at this
time. The COVID-19 pandemic may also have the effect of heightening many of the other risks described in this “Risk Factors” section. We will
continue to evaluate the nature and extent of the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on our business.

We have a limited history of operating at our current scale and under our current strategy, which makes it difficult to predict our future
operating results, and we may not achieve our expected operating results in the future.

While we were originally formed as Anaplan, LLC in 2008 and first introduced our business planning platform in 2011, much of our growth
has occurred in recent years. Over the last few years, we have substantially increased our headcount, shifted our sales strategy to increase our
focus on driving the adoption and expansion of our platform by our customers and increased our reliance on partners to accelerate our sales
process and provide implementation services, and invested in enhancing the features of our platform. As we have a limited history of operations at
our current scale and under our current strategy, our ability to forecast our future operating results and plan for and model future growth is more
limited than that of companies with longer operating histories and subject to a number of uncertainties, including those resulting from the COVID-19
pandemic and the associated economic disruptions and market volatility. In addition, we have encountered and will encounter risks, uncertainties
and challenges frequently experienced by growing companies in rapidly changing markets, such as the risks, uncertainties and challenges described
this report. If our assumptions regarding these risks, uncertainties and challenges are incorrect or change, or if we do not execute on our strategy
and manage these risks, uncertainties and challenges successfully, our operating results could differ materially from our expectations and those of
securities analysts and investors, and our business could suffer and the trading price of our common stock could decline.

Our recent revenue growth rates may not be indicative of our future performance or growth.

From fiscal 2020 to fiscal 2021, our total revenue grew from $348.0 million to $447.8 million, an increase of 29%, and from fiscal 2019 to
fiscal 2020, our total revenue grew from $240.6 million to $348.0 million, an increase of 45%. In future periods, we may not be able to sustain
revenue growth consistent with recent history and/or that meets the expectations of securities analysts or investors. You should not consider our
recent or historical revenue growth as indicative of our future performance or growth.

We have a history of net losses, we anticipate increasing our operating expenses in the future, and we do not expect to be profitable for
the near future.

We have incurred significant losses in each period since inception, including net losses of $154.0 million, $149.2 million, $131.0 million, and
$41.0 million, respectively, in fiscal 2021, 2020, 2019, and for the nine months ended October 31, 2021. We had an accumulated deficit of
$790.6 million at October 31, 2021. Our losses and accumulated deficit reflect the substantial investments we have made to acquire new customers
and develop our platform. We expect our operating expenses to increase in the foreseeable future as we continue to make investments and
implement initiatives designed to grow our business, including:

• expanding our sales and marketing organization to increase our overall customer base, pursue larger transactions and expand sales
within our current customer base;

• expanding our offices and headcount internationally as we seek to continue to penetrate international markets, provided appropriate
economic conditions and opportunities are present;

• investing in research and development to improve the capabilities, accessibility, features and functionality of our platform;

• growing our partner ecosystem;

• making additional investments to broaden and deepen our user community;

• expanding our operations and infrastructure, both domestically and internationally, to support future growth; and
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• investing in legal, accounting, human resources and other administrative functions necessary to support our operating as a public
company.

These initiatives may prove more expensive than we currently anticipate, and we may not succeed in increasing our revenue, if at all, in an
amount sufficient to offset these higher expenses and to achieve and sustain profitability. Growth of our revenue may slow or revenue may decline
for a number of possible reasons, including a decrease in our ability to attract and retain customers, a failure to successfully implement our “land and
expand” strategy, a failure to increase our number of partners, a decrease in the effectiveness of our partners, increasing competition, decreasing
growth of our overall market, decreasing business spending by customers and prospective customers due to uncertain economic conditions
including those caused by the COVID-19 pandemic, an increase in legal risk from the use of our products due to evolving laws, regulations or
standards, an inability to timely and cost-effectively introduce new products and services that are favorably received by customers and partners, a
security incident, or our failure, for any reason, to continue to capitalize on growth opportunities. Further, we have non-cancelable multi-year
purchase commitments with respect to cloud partnership services with third-party public cloud partners, which require us to pay for such services
irrespective of actual usage and may not be offset by increased revenue if we are unable to use these partnerships to attract new customers. To the
extent we are successful in increasing our customer base, we will also initially incur increased losses because costs associated with acquiring
customers are generally incurred up front. In contrast, subscription revenue is generally recognized ratably over the terms of the agreements that
last typically two to three years, although some customers commit for shorter periods. Accordingly, we cannot assure you that we will achieve or
maintain profitability in the future. Furthermore, any failure to achieve or maintain profitability, or the failure to do so on the timeline expected by
investors or securities analysts, could adversely affect the value of our common stock.

Our quarterly results may fluctuate significantly and may not fully reflect the underlying performance of our business.

Our quarterly results of operations, our key metrics discussed elsewhere in this report, including the levels of our revenue, gross margin,
cash flow, remaining performance obligations and deferred revenue, as well as other metrics that analysts use to evaluate our business such as
billings and dollar-based net expansion rate, have fluctuated in the past and may vary significantly in the future. Quarter-to-quarter comparisons of
our operating results and other key metrics may not be meaningful. Accordingly, the results of any one quarter should not be relied upon as an
indication of future performance. Our quarterly financial results and metrics may fluctuate as a result of a variety of factors, many of which are
outside of our control and may not fully reflect the underlying performance of our business. These fluctuations could result in our failure to meet our
expectations or those of securities analysts or investors. If we fail to meet these expectations for any particular period, the trading price of our
common stock could decline significantly. Factors that may cause these quarterly fluctuations include, without limitation, those listed below:

• the impact of an economic downturn or market volatility, including the current uncertainty caused by the COVID-19 pandemic, on the
price of our common stock, our business and the businesses of our customers, prospective customers and partners;

• our ability to attract new customers;

• our customer renewal and adoption rates, and our ability to expand use of our platform by existing customers;

• the timing and rate at which we sign agreements with customers, including the impact of cost reduction measures, delayed purchasing
decisions or prolonged sales cycles at prospective or existing customers as a result of the effects of the COVID-19 pandemic;

• the contract value of agreements with customers;

• the addition or loss of large customers, including through acquisitions or consolidations;

• the timing of recognition of revenue;

• the amount and timing of operating expenses;

• the amount and timing of completion of professional services engagements;

• our ability to hire, train and retain sales personnel, and their productivity rate including, any impact to productivity due to governmental
restrictions adopted in response to the COVID-19 pandemic;

• changes in our pricing policies or those of our competitors;
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• fluctuations in currency exchange rates and changes in the proportion of our revenue and expenses denominated in foreign currencies; 

• seasonal variations in sales of our software subscriptions, which have historically been highest in the fourth quarter of a calendar year
but may vary in future quarters;

• the timing and success of new product features, updates, and enhancements by us or our competitors or any other change in the
competitive dynamics of our industry, including consolidation among competitors, customers, or strategic partners;

• the financial condition and creditworthiness of our customers;

• the timing of expenses related to the development or possible acquisition and integration of technologies or businesses and potential
future charges for impairment of goodwill and long-lived assets from acquired companies;

• our ability to achieve and sustain a level of liquidity sufficient to grow and support our business and operations;

• network outages, technical difficulties or interruptions affecting the delivery and use of our platform or actual or perceived security
breaches;

• any adverse litigation, judgments, settlements, or other litigation-related costs;

• changes in the legislative or regulatory environment;

• non-cancelable multi-year purchase commitments with third-party partners which require us to pay for services irrespective of actual
usage;

• the effects of global pandemics, such as the ongoing COVID-19 pandemic; and

• general economic, industry, market and geopolitical conditions and uncertainty, both domestically and internationally.

We have experienced rapid growth and expect to continue to invest in our growth in the future. If we fail to manage our growth effectively,
we may be unable to execute our business plan, maintain high levels of service, or adequately address competitive challenges and our
business, financial condition and results of operations may be adversely affected.

We have experienced a period of rapid growth in our headcount and operations in the United States and internationally. We have also
significantly increased the size of our customer base and our partner ecosystem. We sell our platform to customers across the globe and have
operations in North America, Europe, Asia-Pacific and Israel. We anticipate that we will continue to expand our domestic and international
operations and headcount in the future, provided appropriate economic conditions and opportunities are present. This growth has placed, and future
growth will place, a significant strain on our management, and administrative, operational, and financial infrastructure. Our success will depend in
part on our ability to manage this growth effectively and execute our business plan. To manage the expected growth of our operations and
personnel, we must effectively recruit, motivate, integrate and retain employees in a manner consistent with, and that preserves, our corporate
culture. We will also need to continue to develop our physical and remote work infrastructure to support our business growth, promote our workers’
safety, and enable our global workforce to effectively and securely communicate with each other, our partners and customers. As our customer base
grows, we will need to maintain a high level of customer satisfaction by providing high quality customer support, consistency across deployments of
our platform, and access to ongoing training. As we grow and our organizational structure becomes more complex, we will need to continue to
improve our operational, financial, reporting, compliance, information technology and management systems, controls and procedures, and our risk
management activities related to the activities of our customers and partners. For the duration of the COVID-19 pandemic, we will also need to
monitor and respond to various and constantly changing local regulations, restrictions and requirements that could impact our operations, personnel
and systems, controls and procedures.
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These and other improvements in our operations, personnel and systems, controls and procedures will require significant capital
expenditures and the allocation of valuable management and employee resources. Failure to effectively manage growth or execute our business
plan could result in difficulty or delays in increasing the size of our customer base, declines in quality of customer support or customer satisfaction,
increases in costs and expenses, failures to make timely and accurate reports of our operations and financial results, which would escalate the risk
of noncompliance with applicable policies or laws, difficulties in introducing new features or other operational difficulties, harm to our reputation and
brand. Any of these developments could adversely affect our business performance, results of operations and financial position.

We derive substantially all of our revenue from a single software platform and if our platform fails to satisfy customer demands or to
achieve widespread market acceptance it would adversely affect our business, operating results, financial condition, and growth
prospects.

We derive and expect to continue to derive substantially all of our revenue from our cloud-based enterprise planning software platform. As
such, market acceptance of our platform is critical to our continued success. Demand for our platform is affected by a number of factors, some of
which are beyond our control. These factors include continued market acceptance of our platform for existing and new use cases, the introduction of
enhancements to our platform that are well received by existing and prospective customers, the pace at which existing customers realize benefits
from the use of our platform and its features and decide to expand deployment of our platform across their business, the extent to which our
customers involve a wider group of employees in planning, the timing of development and release of new products by our competitors, technological
change, the perception of ease of use, reliability and security of our platform, the pace at which enterprises engage in digital transformation
initiatives, the success of our strategic partners, and developments in data privacy regulations. In addition, we expect that the planning and
integration needs of our customers will continue to rapidly change and increase in complexity. We will need to improve the functionality, ease of use,
and performance of our platform continually to meet those rapidly changing, complex demands. If we are unable to continue to meet customer
demands or to achieve widespread market acceptance of our platform, our business operations, financial results, and growth prospects will be
materially and adversely affected.

If we are unable to attract new customers, both domestically and internationally, the growth of our revenue will be adversely affected and
our business may be harmed.

Our ability to achieve significant growth in revenue and improvement in other key metrics in the future will depend, in large part, upon the
effectiveness of our sales and marketing efforts, both domestically and internationally, and our ability to attract new customers. This may be
particularly challenging where an organization has already invested substantial personnel and financial resources to integrate traditional strategic
planning and management solutions into its business, as such organization may be reluctant or unwilling to invest in new products and services.
Furthermore, as our industry matures or if competitors introduce lower cost and/or differentiated products or services that are perceived to compete
with ours, our ability to sell to new customers based on factors such as pricing, technology, and functionality could be impaired. Additionally,
mitigation and containment measures adopted by government authorities to contain the spread of COVID-19, including travel restrictions and other
requirements that limit in-person meetings, could limit our ability to establish relationships with new customers in certain geographies. The effects of
the COVID-19 pandemic and the related global economic uncertainty and market volatility, including decreased spending by prospective customers,
delays in the implementation of digital transformation initiatives and prolonged sales cycles have disrupted the effectiveness of our sales and
marketing efforts, and the duration and scope of this disruption remains unclear. As a result, we may be unable to attract new customers at rates or
on terms that would be favorable or comparable to prior periods, and our business, revenue, operating results, and financial condition could be
adversely affected.
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Our business depends substantially on our customers renewing their subscriptions and expanding their use of our platform. If our
customers do not renew their subscriptions, if they renew on less favorable terms, or if they fail to add more users in more functional
areas or upgrade to a higher level of functionality on our platform, our business and operating results will be adversely affected.

In order for us to maintain or improve our operating results, it is important that our customers renew their subscriptions when the contract
term expires, add additional authorized users to their subscriptions, and upgrade to a higher level of functionality on the platform. Our customers
generally enter into agreements with two- to three- year subscription terms and have no obligation to renew their subscriptions after the expiration of
their initial subscription period. Our customers may decide not to renew their subscriptions with a similar contract period, at the same prices or terms
or with the same or a greater number of authorized users or level of functionality as a result of a number of factors including uncertain economic
conditions due to the COVID-19 pandemic. Some of our customers have elected not to renew their agreements with us, and we may not be able to
accurately predict renewal rates. Our customer retention may decline or fluctuate as a result of a number of factors, including our customers’
satisfaction with our platform and features, the quality of the professional services provided by us or our partners, our prices, the features and pricing
of competing products, reductions in our customers’ spending levels, customer adoption and expanded use of our platform, mergers and
acquisitions involving our customers and deteriorating general economic conditions.

In addition, our growth strategy is a “land-and-expand” strategy that depends in substantial part on our customers expanding the use of our
platform in their organizations through use by additional users, use across more functional areas of their organization, including finance, sales,
supply chain, marketing, human resources, and operations, and the purchase of subscriptions providing additional features and functionality, such
as the mobile app and predictive capabilities of our platform for sales and marketing. We refer to our “land and expand” strategy as the
Honeycomb  effect where our platform’s agility enables additional use cases across business functions. To increase the opportunities for further
expanding the use of our platform by existing customers, we will need to introduce new features and functionality to our platform to more
comprehensively address the needs of customers deploying our platform to address a wider variety of use cases and to support large, complex
models. We will also need to drive user adoption rates of our platform. If our customers do not realize benefits through their initial adoption of our
platform, or if they do not believe that they will realize additional benefits through broader deployment of our platform in other functional areas of their
organizations, or in other uses cases, our ability to increase our revenue will suffer. Achieving incremental sales to our current customer base
requires increasingly sophisticated and costly sales efforts that are targeted at senior management. If we are not able to attract the attention of our
customers’ senior management or to do so in a cost-effective manner, our sales efforts may not be effective and our ability to increase our revenue
will suffer. We have seen and may continue to see prolonged sales cycles and other sales disruptions arising as a result of a number of factors
including uncertain economic conditions due to the COVID-19 pandemic. These disruptions may impact our “land and expand” strategy in certain
geographies.

If our customers do not renew their subscriptions, if they renew on less favorable terms, or if they fail to add more users in more functional
areas or upgrade to a higher level of functionality on our platform, our business and operating results as well as certain metrics that may be used to
evaluate our business such as billings and dollar-based net expansion rate will be adversely affected.

™
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Failure to effectively expand our sales and marketing capabilities, including to hire and retain direct sales personnel, could harm our
ability to increase our customer base and achieve broader market acceptance of our service.

Our ability to increase our customer base, achieve broader market acceptance of our platform, grow our revenue, and achieve and sustain
profitability will depend, to a significant extent, on our ability to effectively expand our sales and marketing operations and activities, specifically our
direct sales efforts targeted at executives of customers with the most complex planning needs. As we are substantially dependent on our direct sales
force to obtain new customers and expand usage of our platform within existing customers, our ability to execute on our sales and marketing
strategy will depend, in large part, on our success in recruiting, training, incentivizing and retaining a sufficient number of qualified direct sales
personnel and on such personnel attaining desired productivity levels within a reasonable amount of time. In recent years, we have increased the
size of our direct sales force, and accordingly many of the new members of our sales force have not yet become fully productive. While remote work
restrictions remain in place, newly hired direct sales personnel may need additional time to become fully productive as they may face additional
hurdles due to remote onboarding and more limited access to customers. We plan to continue to expand our direct sales force both domestically and
internationally but we may not be able to recruit and hire a sufficient number of sales personnel to successfully execute our hiring strategy, which
may adversely affect our ability to expand our sales capabilities. New hires require significant training and time before they achieve full productivity,
particularly in new sales territories. Our recent hires and planned hires may not become as productive as quickly as we would like, and we may be
unable to hire or retain sufficient numbers of qualified individuals in the future in the markets where we do business. Furthermore, hiring sales
personnel in new countries can be costly, complex, and time-consuming, and requires additional set up and upfront costs that may be
disproportionate to the initial revenue that we expect to receive from those countries. We believe that there is significant competition for direct sales
personnel with the sales skills and technical knowledge that we require. Attrition rates have and may continue to increase, and we may face
integration challenges as we continue to seek to expand our sales force. Further, attrition of key personnel at our customers may impact our direct
sales efforts. Moreover, we do not have significant experience as an organization developing and implementing overseas marketing campaigns, and
such campaigns may be expensive and difficult to implement. Our business will be harmed if our continuing investment in increasing our sales and
marketing capabilities does not generate a significant increase in revenue. Our sales and marketing expenses represent a significant percentage of
our expenses, and our operating results will suffer if our sales and marketing expenditures do not contribute to increasing revenue as we anticipate.

The COVID-19 pandemic has changed the way we interact with our customers and prospective customers. We have, and may continue to,
alter, postpone or cancel planned customer, employee and industry events or shift them to a virtual only format. Our operating results may also
suffer if sales and marketing personnel are unable to maintain the same level of productivity while working remotely during the COVID-19 pandemic.
These and other changes in the ways in which we interact with and market to our customers and prospective customers could adversely impact our
business if they prove to be less effective than in-person events.
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Our growth depends in part on the success of our strategic relationships with third parties and their continued performance.

We have established strategic relationships with global strategic consulting firms, global systems integrators, regional consulting firms,
implementation partners, public cloud partners and technology partners. We intend for these parties, as members of our partner ecosystem, to
contribute to our growth by, among other things, extending the coverage and enhancing the expertise of our professional services, expanding the
reach of our platform, and accelerating the usage and adoption of our platform. Partners can also exercise a significant role in revenue generation,
by referring opportunities to us, enhancing the effectiveness of our sales efforts by establishing connections with senior management at prospective
customers and/or promoting the use of our platform as a key component of digital transformation projects that the partner is implementing with their
own customers. In order to grow our business, we anticipate that we will need to broaden and deepen our partner ecosystem by continuing to
establish and maintain relationships with such third parties. Identifying partners, and negotiating and documenting relationships with them, requires
significant time and resources. If we are not able to successfully operationalize our partnerships, we may not be able to generate growth sufficient to
meet our contractual commitments, which could adversely affect our revenue, gross margin, profitability, financial position, and cash flow. Our
partners may conclude that they are not receiving sufficient benefits, economic or otherwise, from their relationships with us, resulting in a reduction
or termination of their involvement in our partner ecosystem. Our partners may have relationships with our competitors or experience with their
products or services and such relationships or experience may result in our partners recommending our competitors’ products or services over ours.
Furthermore, our competitors may be effective in providing incentives to our partners to favor their products or services or to prevent or reduce
subscriptions to our services. In addition, acquisitions of our partners by our competitors could result in a decrease in the number of our current and
potential customers, as our partners may no longer facilitate the adoption of our platform by potential customers. Uncertain economic conditions,
including those caused by the COVID-19 pandemic, have and may continue to have an adverse impact on the business operations of our existing
partners and on our ability to attract and retain new partners, which could result in reduced demand generation and ultimately could disrupt our
business operations with a material adverse effect on our financial results.

If we are unsuccessful in establishing or maintaining our relationships with third parties, or our partners fail to perform or are unable to
perform (including due to the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic), our ability to compete in the marketplace or to grow our revenue could be
impaired, we could incur increased operating expenses and our operating results may suffer. Even if we are successful, we cannot assure you that
these relationships will result in increased customer adoption or usage of our platform or increased revenue.

If our customers and partners do not have access to highly skilled and trained users of our platform, our customers may not be able to
unlock the full potential of our platform, customer satisfaction may suffer, and our results of operations, financial condition and growth
prospects may be adversely affected.

In order for our customers to unlock the full potential of our platform, both our customers and partners need access to highly skilled and
trained users of our platform, such as Master Anaplanners. Implementations of our platform may be technically complicated because our platform is
designed to be deployed in a wide range of technological environments and integrates data from a broad and complex range of workflows and
systems. In order for our customers to successfully implement our platform, they need access to highly skilled users that are familiar with their
operating environment and with our platform. Further, our partners rely heavily on highly skilled and trained users of our platform to effectively
provide implementation, training and consulting services to our customers. Incorrect or improper implementation or use of our platform could result in
customer dissatisfaction and harm our business and financial condition. If our customers are unable to implement our platform, perceptions of our
company and our platform may be impaired, our reputation and brand may suffer, and customers may choose not to renew their subscriptions or
increase their purchases of our related services. Our “land and expand” growth strategy depends in large part on existing customers adding new
users and use cases, and expanding to additional lines of business, divisions, and geographies. We have found that this strategy is most successful
when internal users quickly adopt our platform and build out their expertise as informed end users of our platform. Our partners’ trained users also
develop new solutions on our platform and promote and facilitate adoption of our platform at our customers. If our customers and partners do not
have access to highly skilled and trained users of our platform, implementation and adoption of our platform may not be effective, customer
satisfaction may suffer, and our results of operations, financial condition and growth prospects may be adversely affected.
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We need to continue to develop a steady pipeline of highly qualified and trained personnel to meet customer and partner demand, but our
efforts may be ineffective. While we continue to expand our training resources for trained users of our platform, we increasingly rely on our
customers and partners to encourage their users to enhance their Anaplan expertise using our training resources. If our customers and partners do
not encourage enough internal users to become highly skilled users of our platform, there may not be enough trained users of our platform to meet
demand. If a customer has not developed an internal cohort of trained users of our platform, the loss of a trained user could have an adverse impact
on their ability to unlock the value of our platform and ability to expand the platform’s use within the organization. Further, the courses we offer on
the Anaplan Academy, Anaplan’s online training portal providing a full range of training courses on our platform, may not serve their intended
purpose or the certification programs we offer may take longer than anticipated to create a robust and consistent pipeline of talent. Our customers
and partners need regular training to support disparate technologies involved in large-scale deployments and maximize potential of our platform as
technology changes without which our results of operations and growth prospects could be materially adversely affected. Our ability to effectively
educate and train users of our platform may be negatively impacted if our customer support employees or the users of our customers or partners are
unable to receive training virtually while COVID-19 restrictions remain in place or the virtual training is not as effective as in-person training methods.
If we fail to develop and maintain a sufficient pipeline of qualified and trained users of our platform for utilization with our customers and partners, we
may suffer adverse consequences including professional services not being furnished correctly, incorrect or improper use of our platform by partners
and customers, damage to our reputation and brand, and customers choosing not to renew their subscriptions or expand their use of our platform.
Any of these events could have an adverse effect on our business, financial position and growth prospects.

If customers are not satisfied with the implementation services provided by us or our partners, our business could be adversely affected.

Our business depends on the professional services that are performed to help our customers implement and use our platform. Professional
services may be performed by our own staff, by a third-party partner or by a combination of the two. Our strategy is to work with partners to increase
the breadth of capability and depth of capacity for delivery of these services to our customers, and we expect the number of our partner-
led implementations to continue to increase over time. Our ability and the ability of our third-party partners to successfully implement services may
be negatively impacted by remote work environments and travel restrictions adopted as a result of the COVID-19 pandemic. In response to the
travel restrictions and other measures enacted in connection with COVID-19, professional services, including implementation projects that were
previously performed at a customer location are now provided virtually. However, virtual provision of services may not be as effective or deliver the
same benefits as services performed on-site. If a customer is not satisfied with the quality of work performed by us or a partner or with the type of
professional services or functionality delivered, even if we are not contractually responsible for the partner services, then we could incur additional
costs to address the situation, the profitability of that work might be impaired and the customer’s dissatisfaction with our or our partner’s services
could damage our ability to expand the scope of functionality subscribed to by that customer. In addition, negative publicity related to our customer
relationships, regardless of its accuracy, may further damage our business by affecting our ability to compete for new business with current and
prospective customers.

If we fail to continue to enhance our platform, satisfy the cloud infrastructure priorities of our clients or adapt to rapid technological
change, our ability to remain competitive could be impaired.

The industry in which we compete is characterized by rapid technological change, frequent introductions of new products, and evolving
industry standards. Our ability to attract new customers and increase revenue from existing customers will depend on a number of factors including:
our ability to anticipate industry standards and trends, to continue to enhance our platform and introduce new functionality in a timely manner, to
update and expand our infrastructure, and to keep pace with technological developments. The success of any enhancement, new functionality, or
infrastructure development depends on several factors, including timely completion and market acceptance. Any new enhancement, functionality, or
infrastructure development might not be introduced in a timely or cost-effective manner and might not achieve the broad market acceptance
necessary to generate significant revenue. If any of our competitors implements new technologies before we are able to implement them or if our
competitors are able to respond more quickly and effectively to new or changing opportunities, those competitors may be able to provide more
effective products than ours at lower prices.
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We have experienced, and may in the future experience, delays in the planned release dates of enhancements to our platform. Delays
could result in adverse publicity, loss of sales, delay in market acceptance of our platform, any of which could cause us to lose existing customers or
impair our ability to attract new customers. In addition, the introduction of new products and services by competitors or the development of entirely
new technologies to replace existing offerings could make our platform obsolete or adversely affect our ability to compete. Any delay or failure in the
introduction of enhancements, functionality, or infrastructure developments could harm our business, results of operations, and financial condition.  

Our platform must also integrate with a variety of third-party technologies, and we need to continuously modify and enhance our platform to
adapt to changes in cloud-enabled hardware, software, networking, browser, and database technologies. Any undetected errors or defects in this
third-party software, or cybersecurity threats or attacks related to such software, could impair the functionality of our platform, result in increased
costs, and injure our reputation. Any failure of our platform to operate effectively with existing or future technologies, or any failure of a third-party
cloud infrastructure partner to support one or more of the features of our platform, could cause customer dissatisfaction and reduce the demand for
our platform, resulting in harm to our business. Further, the emergence of new industry standards related to strategic planning and operational
execution products and services may adversely affect the demand for our platform. In addition, because our platform is cloud-based, we need to
continually enhance and improve our platform to keep pace with changes in Internet-related hardware, software, communications, and database
technologies and standards. Any failure of our platform to operate effectively with future hardware or software technologies, or to comply with new
industry standards, could reduce the demand for our platform and harm our business, results of operations, and financial condition.

We invest significantly in research and development, and to the extent our research and development investments are not directed
efficiently or do not result in material enhancements to our platform, our business and results of operations would be harmed.

A key element of our strategy is to invest significantly in our research and development efforts to enhance the features, functionality,
performance, and ease of use of our platform to address additional applications and use cases that will broaden the appeal of our platform and
facilitate the broad use of our platform across customers with complex planning needs. If we do not spend our research and development budget
efficiently or effectively on compelling enhancements, innovations and technologies, such as public cloud functionality, predictive analytics and
machine learning, our business may be harmed and we may not realize the expected benefits of our strategy. We will need to appropriately deploy
our human resources, and may need to hire new employees with highly technical skills who are often in high demand, or we may not be able to
effectively execute on our research and development strategy. Our ability to conduct research and development activities as planned may also be
negatively impacted by our remote work environment adopted as a result of the COVID-19 pandemic. Moreover, research and development projects
can be technically challenging and expensive. As a result of the nature of research and development cycles, there will be delays between the time
we incur expenses associated with research and development activities and the time we are able to offer compelling enhancements to our platform
and generate revenue, if any, from those activities. Additionally, anticipated customer demand for a platform enhancement we are developing could
decrease after the development cycle has commenced. If we expend a significant amount of resources on research and development efforts that do
not lead to the successful introduction of functionality or platform improvements that are competitive in our current or future markets our business
and results of operations will suffer.

If we experience a security incident affecting our platform, networks, systems or data or the data of our customers, or are perceived to
have experienced such a security incident, our platform may be perceived as not being secure, our reputation may be harmed, customers
may reduce the use of or stop using our platform, we may incur significant liabilities, and our business could be materially adversely
affected.

Our platform involves the storage, transmission and processing of our customers’ sensitive proprietary information, including their business
and financial data. We also use third-party service providers to deliver services to our customers and employees, and those providers may store or
process the personal or confidential information of our customers or employees. Security incidents have become more prevalent across industries
and our platform, systems, networks or the systems or networks of our third-party service providers may become the subject of such an incident.
These security incidents may be caused by the intentional acts of third-party actors, or may arise from failures or defects in our or our partners’
software, systems or controls.
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While we have many security measures in place designed to protect customer and other sensitive information and the integrity of our
information technology systems and prevent data loss and other security breaches, our security measures or those of our third party service
providers may not be sufficiently broad in scope to protect all relevant information, may be deployed incorrectly, may not be adequately monitored or
supported due to insufficient personnel or resources, may not function as planned, or could be breached as a result of third-party action, human
error, technical malfunction, malfeasance, or otherwise. As we do not control our third-party service providers, or have real-time visibility of their
security measures, we cannot ensure the integrity or sufficiency of their security measures and hackers or other third parties may successfully
breach our systems by exploiting a vulnerability in third-party software or applications that are utilized by, or have access to, our systems. Third
parties may attempt to fraudulently induce our employees, contractors, or users into disclosing sensitive information such as user names, passwords
or other information or otherwise compromise the security of our platform, systems or networks in order to breach our security measures and gain
unauthorized access to our data or our customers’ data. Because the techniques used to obtain unauthorized access, disable or degrade service, or
sabotage systems change frequently, become more complex over time or may be designed to remain dormant until a predetermined event and often
are not recognized until launched against a target, we may be unable to anticipate these techniques or implement sufficient preventative measures
to defend against these techniques. Further, once a security incident is identified, we may be unable to remediate or otherwise respond to such
incident in a timely manner. Our users may also disclose or lose control of their passwords, or use the same or similar passwords on third parties’
systems, which could lead to unauthorized access to their accounts on our platform. Further, we may face additional cybersecurity risks related to
our employees and partners working remotely during the ongoing COVID-19 pandemic, and potentially beyond as remote work becomes more
commonplace.

A security incident may result in unauthorized access, use, loss, modification or disclosure of our or our customers’ sensitive information, or
denial or degradation of service, which could seriously harm our or our customers’ businesses and reputations. Any security incidents, whether real
or perceived, could result in the expenditure of significant resources to analyze, correct, eliminate, or remediate errors or vulnerabilities, negatively
affect our ability to attract new customers or partners, cause existing partners to end their relationship with us and existing customers to reduce the
use of our platform or elect to not renew their subscriptions, expose us to reputational damage, subject us to contractual liability, third-party lawsuits,
regulatory inquiries or fines, or other action or liability, which could adversely affect our operating results. We cannot assure you that any limitations
of liability provisions in our contracts for a security breach or incident would be enforceable or adequate or would otherwise protect us from any
liabilities or damages with respect to any particular claim. While we maintain insurance, our insurance coverage related to security and privacy
damages may not be adequate for liabilities actually incurred and we cannot be certain that insurance will continue to be available to us on
economically reasonable terms, or at all, or that any insurer will not deny coverage of a future claim. These risks are likely to increase as our brand
becomes more widely known and recognized, governments enact increasingly strict regulations regarding data security and privacy, we continue to
grow the scale and functionality of our platform and process, store, and transmit increasingly large amounts of our customers’ information and data,
which may include proprietary or confidential data or personal or identifying information.

We may also experience disruptions, outages, and other performance problems on our systems due to service attacks, unauthorized
access, or other security-related incidents. For example, third parties may conduct attacks designed to temporarily deny customers access to our
services. Any successful denial of service attack could result in a loss of customer confidence in the security of our platform and damage to our
brand.

Real or perceived errors, failures, bugs, service outages, or disruptions in our platform could adversely affect our reputation and harm
our business.

Our platform is complex, has contained defects and errors and may continue to contain undetected defects or errors. We are continuing to
evolve the features and functionality of our platform through updates and enhancements, and as we do so, we may introduce additional defects or
errors that may not be detected until after deployment by our customers. In addition, if our platform is not implemented or used correctly or as
intended, inadequate performance and disruptions in service may result. Our platform is often used in connection with large scale computing
environments which may expose errors, failures, or vulnerabilities in our platform or integrations. Moreover, we have acquired and may in the future
acquire companies or integrate into our platform technologies developed by third parties and we may encounter difficulty in incorporating the newly-
obtained technologies into our platform or maintaining the quality standards that are consistent with our reputation, and furthermore, we may face
technological incompatibilities with the newly-acquired intellectual property. In addition, while we seek to maintain sufficient excess capacity in our
operations infrastructure to meet the needs of all of our customers, we have experienced, and may in the future experience, disruptions, outages,
and other performance problems.
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Since our customers use our platform for important aspects of their business, any actual or perceived errors, defects, disruptions in service,
outages, or other performance problems could damage our customers’ businesses. Any defects or errors in our platform and solutions, or the
perception of such defects or errors, or other performance problems could result in any of the following, each of which could adversely affect our
business and results of operations:

• expenditure of significant financial and product development resources in efforts to analyze, correct, eliminate or work around errors or
defects;

• loss of existing or potential customers or partners;

• interruptions or delays in sales of our platform;

• delayed or lost revenue;

• delay or failure to attain market acceptance;

• delay in the development or release of new functionality or improvements to our platform;

• negative publicity, which could harm our reputation;

• sales credits or refunds for prepaid amounts related to unused subscription services;

• diversion of development and customer service resources;

• breach of warranty claims against us, which could result in an increase in our provision for doubtful accounts; and

• an increase in collection cycles for accounts receivable or the expense and risk of litigation.

Although we have contractual protections, such as warranty disclaimers and limitation of liability provisions, in our standard terms and
conditions of sale, they may not fully or effectively protect us from claims by customers, partners or other third parties. Any insurance coverage we
may have may not adequately cover all claims asserted against us, or cover only a portion of such claims. A successful product liability, warranty, or
other similar claim against us could have an adverse effect on our business, operating results, and financial condition. In addition, even claims that
ultimately are unsuccessful could result in our expenditure of funds in litigation and divert management’s time and other resources.

We depend on computing infrastructure operated by third parties, and any delays in service or disruption in these operations or an
inability to increase capacity could impair the use or functionality of our platform, harm our business, and subject us to liability.

We currently serve our customers from third-party data center facilities operated by Equinix, Inc. located in the United States, the
Netherlands, and Germany and on the infrastructure of certain third-party public cloud partners. If we are unable to renew our cloud infrastructure
agreements on commercially reasonable terms, we may be required to transfer our servers and other infrastructure, and we may incur significant
costs and experience possible service interruptions in connection with doing so.

Although we have disaster recovery plans in place, we may experience interruptions, delays and outages in service and availability from
time-to-time arising from problems with our third-party data center or cloud partner infrastructure including technical failures, power loss or
telecommunications failures or capacity issues, natural disasters, security incidents, and other events beyond our control which could negatively
affect the use, functionality or availability of our platform and harm our reputation, damage our customers’ businesses, and adversely affect our
business. In addition, the ongoing COVID-19 pandemic may have an adverse operational impact on our data center and public cloud infrastructure
partners, as they navigate restrictions, health and safety regulations and other impacts from the pandemic. The COVID-19 pandemic has, and could
in the future, disrupt the supply chain of hardware needed to maintain our third-party data center operations. Furthermore, in the event of interruption
or delay in service, our insurance coverage may not adequately compensate us for any losses that we may incur.
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In addition, as we continue to increase the number of customers and users on our platform, we will need to increase the capacity of our
cloud infrastructure, including internationally. If we do not increase our capacity in a timely manner, customers could experience interruptions or
delays in access to our platform, and we may not be able to attract potential customers in specific regions of the world unless we provide localized
offerings in those regions. As we continue to increase our cloud capacity, we may move or transfer our data and our customers’ data. Despite
precautions taken during this process, any unsuccessful data transfers may impair the use or functionality of our platform. Any damage to, or failure
of, our systems, or those of our third-party data center or public cloud infrastructure partners, could interrupt our service and hinder the use or
functionality of our platform. Impairment of or interruptions in our service may reduce our revenue, cause us to issue credits or pay penalties, subject
us to claims and litigation, cause our customers to terminate their subscriptions, and adversely affect our renewal rates and our ability to attract new
customers. Our business will also be harmed if our customers and potential customers believe our platform is unreliable.

Any failure to offer high-quality technical support services may adversely affect our relationships with our customers and our financial
results.

Once our platform is implemented, our customers depend on our support organization to resolve technical issues or perceived technical
issues relating to the platform. We may be unable to respond quickly enough to accommodate short-term increases in customer demand for support
services. We also may be unable to modify the format of our support services to compete with changes in support services provided by our
competitors. Our ability to provide support services may also be negatively impacted by our remote work environment adopted as a result of the
COVID-19 pandemic. Increased customer demand for these services, without corresponding revenue, could increase costs and adversely affect our
operating results. In addition, our sales process is highly dependent on our business reputation and on positive recommendations from our existing
customers. Any failure to maintain high-quality technical support, or a market perception that we do not maintain high-quality support, could
adversely affect our reputation, our ability to sell subscriptions to our platform to existing and prospective customers and our business, operating
results, and financial position.

If we fail to develop, maintain, and enhance widespread brand awareness in a cost-effective manner or if we receive negative publicity,
our revenue and competitive position may be materially and adversely affected.

We believe that developing, maintaining, and enhancing widespread awareness of our brand and our platform solutions that enable
Connected Planning and digital transformation in a cost-effective manner is critical to achieving widespread acceptance of our platform, attracting
new customers, and maintaining existing customers. For example, widespread awareness of our brand is critical to ensuring that we are invited to
participate in requests for proposals from prospective customers. We have made, and will continue to make, significant investments to promote our
brand. However, brand promotion activities may not generate customer awareness or increase revenue, and, even if they do, any increase in
revenue may not offset the expenses we incur in building our brand. Furthermore, the ongoing COVID-19 pandemic has made it more challenging to
develop, maintain and enhance widespread awareness of our brand. Numerous marketing and brand promotion events, held in-person with
customers and prospective customers in prior years, have been delayed, cancelled or converted into a virtual format. Virtual events may not be as
successful as in-person interactions, and the precautions and safety measures that have been adopted in response to the COVID-19 pandemic,
particularly if extended for prolonged periods, could have a detrimental effect on our ability to develop, maintain and enhance widespread awareness
of our brand. If we fail to successfully promote and maintain our brand, or incur substantial expenses, we may fail to attract or retain customers
necessary to realize a sufficient return on our brand-building efforts or to achieve the widespread brand awareness that is critical for broad customer
adoption of our platform. We believe that the importance of our brand and reputation will increase as competition in our market further intensifies.
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Negative publicity, whether or not justified, relating to our company, our platform, or events or activities attributed to us, our employees, our
partners or others associated with any of these parties, may tarnish our reputation and reduce the value of our brand. Independent industry analysts
often provide reviews of our platform, as well as the products and services of our competitors, and perception of our platform in the marketplace may
be significantly influenced by these reviews. If these reviews are negative, or less positive as compared to those of our competitors’ products and
services, our brand may be adversely affected. Additionally, the performance of our partners may affect our brand and reputation if customers do not
have a positive experience with our partners’ services. Damage to our reputation and loss of brand equity may reduce demand for our platform and
have an adverse effect on our business, operating results, and financial condition. Moreover, any attempts to rebuild our reputation and restore the
value of our brands may be costly and time consuming, and such efforts may not ultimately be successful. The upfront investment and costs
incurred to build and maintain our brand, both domestically and internationally, may not generate increased market acceptance and may negatively
impact our results of operations.

Because our platform is sold to enterprises with complex operating environments, we can encounter long and unpredictable sales cycles,
which could adversely affect our operating results in a given period.

Our ability to increase revenue and achieve profitability depends, in large part, on widespread adoption of our platform by customers with
complex operating environments who tend to make larger purchases of our products. As we target our sales efforts at these customers, we face
greater costs, longer sales cycles and less predictability in completing some of our sales. Further, we have experienced and we expect to
experience prolonged sales cycles in certain geographies as a result of uncertain economic conditions including those caused by the COVID-19
pandemic. A delay in or failure to complete large sales to one or more enterprise customers could harm our business and financial results, and could
cause our financial results to vary significantly from period to period. Our sales cycle varies widely, reflecting differences in potential customers’
decision-making processes, procurement requirements, and budget cycles, and is subject to significant risks over which we have little or no control,
including:

• customers’ budgetary constraints and priorities;

• the timing of customers’ budget cycles;

• the need by some customers for lengthy evaluations;

• announcements of new products, features, or functionality by us or our competitors;

• external factors such as economic uncertainty (including due to the COVID-19 pandemic); and

• the length and timing of customers’ approval processes and disruptions to their approval process arising from disruptions in operations
due to the COVID-19 pandemic.

A customer’s decision to use our platform may be an enterprise-wide decision, requiring us to expend substantial time, effort, and money
educating customers as to the use and value of our platform and encouraging widespread adoption of our platform by users. In addition, our ability to
successfully sell our platform to customers with complex planning needs is dependent on us attracting and retaining sales personnel with experience
in selling to these customers. Moreover, our target customers may prefer to purchase software that is critical to their business from one of our larger,
more established competitors. Our typical sales cycles can range from three to nine months, and we expect that this lengthy sales cycle may
continue or lengthen further. Longer sales cycles could cause our operating and financial results to suffer in a given period.

47



Table of Contents

Because we recognize revenue over varying periods depending on the nature of the revenue, changes in our business including
downturns or upturns in new sales and renewals will not be immediately reflected in our operating results and may be difficult to discern.

We generally recognize subscription revenue from customers ratably over the terms of their contracts, which are typically two to three years,
although some customers commit for shorter periods. As a result, most of the subscription revenue we report in each quarter is derived from the
recognition of deferred revenue relating to subscriptions entered into during previous quarters. Consequently, a decline in new or renewed
subscriptions in any single quarter will likely have only a small impact on our revenue for that quarter. However, such a decline will negatively affect
our revenue in future quarters. In addition, the severity and duration of events that affect revenue may not be predictable and their effects could
extend beyond a single quarter. Accordingly, the effects of the COVID-19 pandemic, significant downturns in sales and market acceptance of our
platform, and potential changes in our pricing policies or rate of renewals, may not be fully apparent from our reported results of operations until
future periods.

In addition, a majority of our costs are expensed as incurred, while subscription revenue is recognized over the life of the customer
agreement. As a result, increased growth in the number of our customers could continue to result in our recognition of more costs than revenue in
the earlier periods of the terms of our agreements with them. Our subscription model also makes it difficult for us to rapidly increase our revenue
through additional sales in any period, as revenue from new customers must be recognized over the applicable subscription term.

In addition, professional services revenue is recognized as the services are performed or upon the completion of the project, depending on
the type of professional services arrangement involved. Professional services engagements typically span from a few weeks to several months,
which can make it difficult to predict the timing of revenue recognition for such services and the corresponding effects on our results of operations.
Professional services revenue has fluctuated and may continue to fluctuate significantly from period to period, as we are increasingly leveraging our
partners to provide these services. In addition, because professional services expenses are recognized as the services are performed, professional
services margins can significantly fluctuate from period to period.

The sum of our revenue and changes in deferred revenue may not be an accurate indicator of business activity within a period.

Investors or analysts sometimes look to the sum of revenue and changes in deferred revenue, sometimes referred to as “estimated billings,”
as an indicator of business activity in a period for businesses such as ours. However, these measures may significantly differ from underlying
business activity for a number of reasons including:

• a relatively large number of transactions occur at the end of the quarter. Invoicing of those transactions may or may not occur before the
end of the quarter based on a number of factors including receipt of information from the customer, volume of transactions, and
holidays. A shift of a few days has little economic impact on our business, but will shift deferred revenue from one period into the next;

• multi-year upfront billings may distort trends;

• subscriptions that have deferred start dates; and

• services that are invoiced upon delivery.

Accordingly, we do not believe that estimated billings are an accurate indicator of future revenue for any given period of time. However,
many companies that provide subscriptions report changes in estimated billings as a key operating or financial metric, and it is possible that analysts
or investors may view this metric as important. Thus, any changes in our estimated billings could adversely affect the market price of our common
stock.

Changes in our subscription or pricing models could adversely affect our operating results.

As the markets for our software subscriptions grow, as new competitors introduce new products or services that compete with ours or as we
enter into new international markets, we may be unable to attract new customers at the same price or based on the same pricing model as we have
historically used. Regardless of pricing model used, large customers may demand higher price discounts than in the past. As a result, we may be
required to reduce our prices, offer shorter contract durations or offer alternative pricing models, which could adversely affect our revenue, gross
margin, profitability, financial position, and cash flow.
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In the past, we have been able to increase our prices for our platform and services, but we may choose not to introduce or be unsuccessful
in implementing future price increases. Our competitors may introduce new products that compete with ours or reduce their prices, or we may be
unable to attract new customers or retain existing customers based on our historical pricing models. As we expand internationally, we also must
determine the appropriate pricing to enable us to compete effectively internationally. In addition, if our mix of products sold changes, then we may
need to, or choose to, revise our pricing. As a result, we may be required or choose to reduce our prices or change our pricing model, which could
harm our business, results of operations and financial condition.

We depend on the experience and expertise of our senior management team and certain key employees, especially engineering, research
and development and sales personnel, and our inability to retain these executive officers and key employees or recruit them in a timely
manner, could harm our business, operating results, and financial condition.

Our success depends largely upon the continued services of our key executive officers and certain key employees. We rely on our
executive leadership team in the areas of business strategy, research and development, marketing, sales, services, and general and administrative
functions. We have experienced, and may in the future experience, changes in our executive management team or key employees resulting from the
hiring or departure of executives or key employees, which could disrupt our business. We do not have employment agreements with our executive
officers or other key personnel that require them to continue to work for us for any specified period and, therefore, they could terminate their
employment with us at any time. Conversely, we may terminate the employment of the senior management team and certain key employees, which
may subject us to costly and time-consuming negotiations over severance, litigation and employment claims. While we seek to carefully manage any
changes in our executive management team or key employees, including by establishing processes and procedures and engaging in succession
planning, such measures may be insufficient and the departure or unavailability of one or more of our executive officers or key employees could
have a serious adverse effect on our business.

To execute our growth plan, we must attract and retain highly qualified personnel, especially engineering, research and development and
sales personnel. Competition for personnel can be intense, especially for engineers with high levels of experience in designing and developing
software for Internet-related services and for direct sales personnel with the sales skills and technical knowledge that we require. For example,
competition is intense for experienced software and cloud infrastructure engineers in San Francisco in the United States, London and York in the
U.K., and Israel, our primary development locations. We have experienced, and expect to continue to experience, difficulty in hiring and retaining
employees with appropriate qualifications. Further, attrition rates have and may continue to increase. If we fail to attract new personnel or fail to
retain and motivate our current personnel, our business and future growth prospects could be adversely affected.

Many of the companies with which we compete for experienced personnel have greater resources than we have. If we hire employees from
competitors or other companies, their former employers may attempt to assert that these employees or our company have breached their legal
obligations, resulting in a diversion of our time and resources and potential litigation. In addition, job candidates and existing employees often
consider the value of the stock awards they receive in connection with their employment. If the perceived value of our stock awards declines, it may
adversely affect our ability to recruit and retain highly skilled employees. Further, in times of increased economic uncertainty, such as perceived
ongoing uncertainty due to the COVID-19 pandemic, employees and potential employees may perceive older or larger companies to be more
attractive which may adversely affect our ability to recruit and retain highly skilled employees. The challenges we face in recruiting and hiring
qualified personnel may be compounded due to various factors including perceived economic uncertainty caused by the COVID-19 pandemic and
uncertainty regarding immigration policies. As the economic uncertainty related to the COVID-19 pandemic eases, we may face additional
challenges in recruiting and retaining qualified personnel as other companies increase the pace of hiring.
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Our global operations and sales to customers outside the United States or with international operations subject us to risks inherent in
international operations that can harm our business, results of operations, and financial condition.

A key element of our strategy is to operate globally and sell our products to customers across the world. We derive a significant portion of
our revenue from customers located outside the United States. Operating globally requires significant resources and management attention. We
cannot be certain that the investment and additional resources required to operate globally will produce desired levels of revenue or profitability.
Further, operating globally subjects us to various risks, including:

• increased management, travel, infrastructure and legal compliance costs associated with having operations in many countries;

• increased financial accounting and reporting burdens and complexities;

• variations in adoption and acceptance of cloud computing in different countries, requirements or preferences for domestic products, and
difficulties in replacing products offered by more established or known regional competitors;

• new and different sources of competition;

• laws and business practices favoring local competitors;

• differing technical standards, existing or future regulatory and certification requirements and required features and functionality;

• communication and integration problems related to entering and serving new markets with different languages, cultures, and political
systems;

• compliance with foreign privacy and security laws and regulations, including data privacy laws that require customer data to be stored
and processed in a designated territory, and the risks and costs of non-compliance;

• compliance with laws and regulations for foreign operations, including anti-bribery laws (such as the U.S. Foreign Corrupt Practices Act,
the U.S. Travel Act, and the U.K. Bribery Act), import and export control laws, tax laws, tariffs, trade barriers, economic sanctions, and
other regulatory or contractual limitations on our ability to sell our products in certain foreign markets, and the risks and costs of non-
compliance;

• compliance with foreign laws, regulations and orders related to health and safety, including the ongoing COVID-19 pandemic;

• heightened risks of unfair or corrupt business practices in certain geographies that may impact our financial results and result in
restatements of our consolidated financial statements;

• fluctuations in currency exchange rates and related effects on our results of operations;

• difficulties in repatriating or transferring funds from or converting currencies in certain countries;

• different pricing environments, longer sales cycles, and longer accounts receivable payment cycles and collections issues;

• political and economic conditions and uncertainty in the countries or regions in which we operate and around the world;

• difficulties in recruiting, managing and retaining local partners, including consulting and implementation firms, to support our operations
and sales;

• differing labor standards, including restrictions related to, and the increased cost of, terminating employees in some countries;

• difficulties in recruiting, hiring and retaining employees in certain countries;

• difficulties in managing a global workforce and maintaining our corporate culture globally;

• the preference for localized software and licensing programs;

• the preference for localized language support;
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• weaker protection in some jurisdictions for intellectual property and other legal rights than in the United States and practical difficulties in
enforcing intellectual property and other rights outside of the United States;

• compliance with the laws of numerous foreign taxing jurisdictions, including withholding obligations, and overlapping of different tax
regimes;

• compliance challenges related to the complexity of multiple, conflicting and changing governmental laws and regulations, including
employment, tax, privacy, and data protection laws and regulations;

• the fragmentation of longstanding regulatory frameworks caused by Brexit; and

• global pandemics such as the ongoing COVID-19 pandemic and travel restrictions and other measures undertaken by governments in
response to such pandemics.

Any of the above risks could adversely affect our international operations, reduce our revenue from customers outside of the United States
or increase our operating costs, each of which could adversely affect our business, results of operations, financial condition, and growth prospects.

Some of our business partners also have international operations and are subject to the risks described above. Even if we are able to
successfully manage the risks of international operations, our business may be adversely affected if our business partners are not able to
successfully manage these risks.

Our corporate culture promotes an entrepreneurial mindset, and if we cannot maintain this culture as we grow, we could lose the
entrepreneurial spirit, innovation, creativity, and other qualities we believe contribute to our success, and it could harm our business.

We believe that our culture has been, and will continue to be, a key contributor to our success because it fosters the entrepreneurial spirit,
innovation, creativity, and other qualities we believe drive our growth. As we continue to grow, we will need to maintain our corporate culture among
a larger number of employees dispersed in various geographic regions. However, our growth may result in a change to, or dilution of, our corporate
culture, and we may not be able to effectively integrate new hires in our fast-paced culture. The challenge we face in maintaining our culture is
compounded by the COVID-19 pandemic and its effects including an employee base that is working remotely and facing personal and professional
challenges. Any failure to maintain the cohesiveness of our culture could negatively affect our business, decrease employee engagement and
productivity, result in current or former employees posting negative feedback on third-party company review sites, damage our reputation, reduce
our ability to retain and recruit personnel and could lead to the failure to achieve our vision and implement our strategy.

We may engage in strategic transactions, which could divert our management’s attention, result in additional dilution to our stockholders,
disrupt our operations and adversely affect our operating results. We may not be able to successfully integrate acquired businesses and
technologies or achieve the anticipated benefits of such acquisitions.

In pursuing our business strategy, we have in the past acquired and may in the future seek to acquire or invest in businesses, products,
technologies, or talent that we believe could complement or expand our platform, augment our product offerings, enhance our technical capabilities
or otherwise offer growth opportunities. We often compete with others for the same opportunities. The pursuit of any of these strategic transactions
may divert the attention of management and cause us to incur various expenses in identifying, investigating, and pursuing suitable transactions,
whether or not they are consummated.

Any strategic transaction may result in unforeseen operating difficulties and expenditures. If we acquire additional businesses or enter into
other strategic transactions, we may not be able to integrate the acquired personnel, operations, and technologies successfully, or effectively
manage the combined business following the strategic transactions. In addition, we have limited experience in consummating strategic transactions.
We also may not achieve the anticipated benefits from the strategic transactions due to a number of factors, including:

• failure to evaluate, integrate, utilize or benefit from or accurately anticipate the adoption rates of acquired technologies or services;

• product synergies, cost reductions, increases in revenue and economies of scale may not materialize as expected;

• difficulty in retaining, motivating and integrating key management and other employees of the acquired business;
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• the business culture of the acquired entity may not match well with our culture;

• unforeseen delays, unanticipated costs and liabilities may arise when integrating operations, processes and systems in geographies
where we have not conducted business;

• unanticipated costs or liabilities associated with the strategic transactions;

• incurrence of transaction-related costs;

• assumption of the existing obligations or unforeseen liabilities of the acquired business that we were not able to mitigate through due
diligence or other means;

• difficulty integrating the accounting systems, security infrastructure, operations, and personnel of the acquired business;

• difficulties and additional expenses associated with supporting legacy products and hosting infrastructure of the acquired business;

• difficulty converting the current and prospective customers of the acquired business onto our platform and contract terms, including
disparities in the revenue, licensing, support, or professional services model of the acquired company;

• diversion of management’s attention from other business concerns;

• adverse effects to our existing business relationships with business partners and customers as a result of the strategic transactions;

• unexpected costs may arise due to unforeseen changes in tax, payroll, pension, labor, trade, environmental and safety policies in new
jurisdictions where the acquired entity operates;

• use of resources that are needed in other parts of our business; and

• use of substantial portions of our available cash to consummate the strategic transaction.

In addition, a significant portion of the purchase price of companies we acquire may be allocated to acquired goodwill and other intangible
assets, which must be assessed for impairment at least annually. In the future, if our acquisitions do not yield expected returns, we may be required
to take charges to our operating results based on this impairment assessment process, which could adversely affect our results of operations.

Strategic transactions could also result in dilutive issuances of equity securities or the incurrence of debt, which could adversely affect our
operating results, increase our financial risk, and cause the market price of our common stock to decline. In addition, if a strategic transaction fails to
meet our expectations, our operating results, business, and financial position may suffer.

Industry Risks

The markets in which we participate are intensely competitive, and if we do not compete effectively, our business and operating results
could be adversely affected.

The market for business planning software is highly competitive, with relatively low barriers to entry for some software or services. As a
result, we anticipate aggressive competition not only from established vendors of business planning software but also from new entrants into the
industry. Our ability to compete successfully in our market depends on a number of factors, both within and outside of our control. Any failure by us
to compete successfully in any one of these or other areas may reduce the demand for our platform, as well as adversely affect our business,
operating results, and financial condition.  

Our competitors primarily include Oracle Corporation (Oracle), SAP AG (SAP), Workday, Inc. (Workday) and International Business
Machines Corporation (IBM), which are well-established providers of business planning and analytics software with long-standing relationships with
many customers. Some customers may be hesitant to adopt cloud-based software such as ours or to purchase cloud-based software from us and
may prefer to purchase from such legacy software vendors. Oracle, SAP, and IBM are larger than we are and have greater name recognition, longer
operating histories, larger marketing budgets, and significantly greater resources than we do. These vendors, as well as other competitors, may offer
business planning software on a standalone basis at a low price or bundled as part of a larger product sale. Our competitors have offered, and may
continue to offer, new products developed through acquisitions or organic development that more directly compete with our products and solutions.
Our competitors may also seek to partner with other leading cloud providers.
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We may also face competition from a variety of vendors of cloud-based and on-premises software products that address only a portion of
the use cases addressed by our platform, including spreadsheets, which are used by virtually every business to some degree for business planning.
Some of these applications may have greater functionality than our platform for the specific use cases for which they were designed, even if they
lack the breadth of planning capabilities provided by our platform. In addition, other companies that provide cloud-based software in different target
markets may develop software or acquire companies that operate in our target markets, and some potential customers may elect to develop their
own internal software or simply use the manual processes that they have traditionally used. With the introduction of new technologies and market
entrants, we expect competition to intensify in the future.

Many of our competitors have longer operating histories and greater name recognition than we do, and are able to devote greater resources
to the development, promotion, and sale of their products and services than we can. As a result, our competitors may be able to respond more
quickly and effectively to new or changing opportunities, technologies, operational requirements and industry standards, as well as to new
challenges such as those resulting from the COVID-19 pandemic. Furthermore, our current or potential competitors may acquire or be acquired by
third parties with greater available resources and the ability to initiate or withstand substantial price competition, and the resulting change in the
competitive landscape could adversely affect our ability to compete effectively. In addition, many of our competitors have established marketing
relationships, access to larger customer bases, and major distribution agreements with consultants, systems integrators, and resellers. Our
competitors may also establish cooperative relationships among themselves or with third parties that may further enhance their product offerings or
resources. If our competitors are successful in bringing their products or services to market earlier than ours or if their products or services are more
technologically capable than ours, then our revenue could be adversely affected. In addition, some of our competitors may offer their products and
services at a lower price. If we are unable to achieve our target pricing levels, our operating results would be negatively affected. Pricing pressures
and increased competition could result in reduced sales, reduced margins, losses or a failure to maintain or improve our competitive market position,
any of which could adversely affect our business.

If the market for Connected Planning solutions develops more slowly than we expect or declines, or if we are unable to successfully
capitalize on the market, our business could be adversely affected.

Our success will depend to a substantial extent on continued growth in the demand for cloud-based Connected Planning and digital
transformation solutions and on our ability to continue to capitalize on this demand. Many enterprises have invested substantial resources on legacy
planning products, emerging point products and manual processes and, therefore, may be reluctant or unwilling to migrate to enterprise cloud
planning software. Our ability to capitalize on this market depends in part on our ability to sell customers on the benefits that the Connected Planning
and digital transformation features of our platform can provide over their existing solutions. The growth rate of the Connected Planning market
depends on a number of factors, including the cost, performance, and perceived value and security associated with Connected Planning software. If
the market for Connected Planning solutions fails to grow, grows more slowly than we currently expect, or decreases in size, or if we are unable to
successfully capitalize on the market, our business could be adversely affected.

Legal and Compliance Risks

We typically provide service level commitments under our customer contracts. If we fail to meet these contractual commitments, we
could be obligated to provide credits or refunds for prepaid amounts related to unused subscription services or face contract
terminations, which could adversely affect our revenue.

Our customer agreements typically provide service level commitments on a monthly basis. If we are unable to meet the stated service level
commitments or suffer extended periods of unavailability for our platform, we may be contractually obligated to provide these customers with service
credits, or we could face contract terminations, in which case we would be subject to refunds for prepaid amounts related to unused subscription
services. Our revenue could be significantly affected if we suffer unexcused downtime under our agreements with our customers. Any extended
service outages could adversely affect our reputation, ability to attract new customers and retain existing customers, revenue, and operating results.
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Because we collect, process and store personal information and furthermore, because our platform could be used by customers to do the
same, evolving domestic and international privacy and security laws, regulations and other obligations could result in additional costs
and liabilities to us or inhibit sales of our platform.

We collect, process, store and transfer various types of information, including personally identifiable information or other sensitive
information, for our customers and similar data about our employees, services providers, partners and potential customers in the normal course of
business. Additionally, our customers can use our platform to collect, process, and store certain types of personal or identifying information
regarding their employees and customers. In most cases we contractually prohibit our customers from using our platform to collect, process, or store
sensitive information (such as personal health information or credit card information); however, our customers may breach such use prohibitions
without our knowledge. Such a breach could result in our violation of the laws, rules, or regulations governing the collection, use, and protection of
personal information, which could adversely impact our business, financial condition, and operating results. Moreover, as our customers face
increased scrutiny for data privacy breaches, they may elect to transfer the risk to us through contractual provisions which may subject us to
increasing levels of contractual liability for data privacy breaches.

Data privacy and security have become significant issues in the United States (“U.S.”) and in many other countries where our platform is
available. Laws, rules, and regulations in these jurisdictions apply broadly to the collection, use, storage, data residency, disclosure, and security of
various types of data, including data that identifies or may be used to identify an individual, such as names, email addresses, and in some
jurisdictions, Internet Protocol addresses. In the U.S., these include laws, rules, and regulations promulgated under the authority of the Federal
Trade Commission, the Electronic Communications Privacy Act, Computer Fraud and Abuse Act, the Health Insurance Portability and Accountability
Act of 1996, or HIPAA, and state laws relating to privacy and data security. Internationally, virtually every jurisdiction in which we operate has
established its own data security and privacy legal framework with which we, or our customers, must comply. Interpretation of, and costs of
compliance with, these laws, rules, and regulations and their application to our platform and services in the United States and foreign jurisdictions is
ongoing and cannot be fully determined at this time.

Further, the regulatory framework for privacy and security issues worldwide is rapidly evolving, subject to change and is likely to remain
uncertain for the foreseeable future. Many federal, state, and foreign government bodies and agencies are considering adopting or amending laws,
rules, and regulations regarding the collection, use, storage, data residency, security, and disclosure of personal information and breach notification
procedures. In addition to government regulation, privacy advocates, and industry groups may propose new and different self-regulatory standards
that may apply to us.

Recent changes to privacy and security laws, including the CCPA, the GDPR, the Data Protection Act, and ongoing legal challenges to
Model Clauses, could impact our business. Aspects of these laws, and their interpretation and enforcement remain unclear, and we cannot yet fully
predict their impact on our business or operations. We have taken and will continue to take steps to comply with these and other new and changing
privacy and security laws, rules, regulations and standards, but such laws, rules, regulations and standards may be unclear and we cannot assure
you that our steps will be compliant. The interpretation and application of privacy and data protection laws, regulations, rules, and other standards
remains uncertain and may be interpreted and applied in a manner that is inconsistent with our data management practices or the features of our
platform. If so, we could be required to fundamentally change our business activities and practices or modify our platform, which we may be unable
to do in a commercially reasonable manner or at all, and which could have an adverse effect on our business. As a result of changing standards, we
may experience reluctance or refusal by current or prospective multi-national customers or customers in geographies with strict privacy laws, like the
EU and the United Kingdom, to use our products, and we may find it necessary or desirable to make further changes to our handling of personal
data for those customers. The changing regulatory environment applicable to the handling personal data, and our actions taken in response, may
cause us to assume additional liabilities or incur additional costs or regulatory penalties, and could result in our business, operating results, and
financial condition being harmed. Our efforts to comply new data protection laws and regulations may cause us to incur substantial operational
costs, require us to modify our data handling practices, and may otherwise adversely impact our business, financial condition and operating results.
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Despite our compliance efforts, we may fail to achieve compliance with applicable privacy or data protection laws and regulations as they
evolve, or adhere to contractual obligations regarding the collection, processing, storage and transfer of data (including data from our customers,
prospective customers, partners and employees), either due to internal or external factors such as resource limitations or a lack of vendor
cooperation. Any actual or perceived failure to comply with these laws or obligations could result in enforcement action against us, including fines,
claims for damages by customers and other affected individuals, damage to our reputation, and loss of goodwill (both in relation to existing
customers and prospective customers), any of which could harm our business, results of operations, and financial condition.

Furthermore, the costs of compliance with, and other burdens imposed by, the laws, regulations, and policies that are applicable to the
businesses of our customers may limit the use and adoption of, and reduce the overall demand for, our platform. Privacy concerns, whether valid or
not valid, may inhibit market adoption of our software particularly in certain industries and foreign countries.

Indemnity provisions in various agreements potentially expose us to substantial liability for intellectual property infringement and other
losses.

Our agreements with customers and other third parties generally include indemnification provisions under which we agree to indemnify them
for losses suffered or incurred as a result of claims of intellectual property infringement, or other liabilities relating to or arising from our software,
services or other contractual obligations. Large indemnity payments could harm our business, results of operations, and financial condition. Although
we normally contractually limit our liability with respect to such indemnity obligations, those limitations may not be fully enforceable in all situations,
and we may still incur substantial liability under those agreements. Any dispute with a customer with respect to such obligations could have adverse
effects on our relationship with that customer and other existing customers and new customers and harm our business and results of operations.

We could incur substantial costs in expanding, protecting or defending our intellectual property rights, and any failure to protect our
intellectual property rights could impair our ability to protect our proprietary technology and our brand.

Our success and ability to compete depend in part upon our intellectual property and our ability to expand our existing intellectual property
portfolio. We primarily rely on copyright, patent, trade secret and trademark laws, trade secret protection, and confidentiality or contractual
agreements with our employees, customers, partners and others to protect our intellectual property rights. However, the steps we take to protect our
intellectual property rights may be inadequate and we may not be able to secure our intellectual property rights in the U.S. and international markets
in which we operate.

Some or all of our issued patents may be invalidated or otherwise limited, allowing our competitors to develop competitive offerings. In
addition, issuance of a patent does not guarantee that we have a right to practice the patented invention or that we can effectively use that patent to
limit the ability of other companies to develop competitive products. We cannot be certain that we are the first to use the inventions claimed in our
issued patents or pending patent applications or otherwise used in our platform, that we are the first to file for protection in our patent applications, or
that third parties do not have blocking patents that could be used to prevent us from marketing or practicing our patented technology. While we have
patents and patent applications pending, we may be unable to obtain patent protection for the technology covered in our patent applications or the
patent protection may not be obtained quickly enough to meet our business needs. In addition, our existing patents and any patents issued in the
future may not provide us with competitive advantages or may be successfully challenged by third parties. Effective patent, trademark, copyright,
and trade secret protection may not be available to us in every country in which our platform is available. The laws of some foreign countries may
not be as protective of intellectual property rights as those in the United States (in particular, some foreign jurisdictions do not permit patent
protection for software), and mechanisms for enforcement of intellectual property rights may be inadequate. Additional uncertainty may result from
changes to intellectual property legislation enacted in the United States, including the America Invents Act, and by other national governments and
from interpretations of the intellectual property laws of the United States and other countries by applicable courts and agencies. Accordingly, despite
our efforts, we may be unable to prevent third parties from infringing upon or misappropriating our intellectual property.
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Although we generally enter into confidentiality and invention assignment agreements with our employees and consultants that have access
to material confidential information and enter into confidentiality agreements with our customers and the parties with whom we have strategic
relationships and business alliances, these agreements may not be effective in controlling access to and distribution of our platform and propriety
information or preventing reverse engineering. Further, these agreements may not prevent competitors from independently developing technologies
that are substantially similar or superior to our platform.

Unauthorized use of our intellectual property may have already occurred or may occur in the future. In order to protect our intellectual
property rights, we may be required to spend significant resources to monitor and protect these rights. Litigation brought to protect and enforce our
intellectual property rights could be costly, time-consuming, and distracting to management and could result in the impairment or loss of portions of
our intellectual property. Furthermore, our efforts to enforce our intellectual property rights may be met with defenses, counterclaims, and
countersuits attacking the validity and enforceability of our intellectual property rights and could put our patents at risk of being invalidated or
interpreted narrowly and our patent applications at risk of not issuing. Our failure to secure, protect, and enforce our intellectual property rights could
seriously and adversely affect our brand and our business.

We may be sued by third parties for alleged infringement of their proprietary rights, which may be costly to defend, could require us to
pay significant damages and could limit our ability to use certain technologies.

There has been considerable activity in our industry to develop intellectual property and enforce intellectual property rights. Our success
depends upon our not infringing upon the intellectual property rights of others. Our competitors, as well as a number of other entities and individuals,
may own or claim to own intellectual property relating to our platform and underlying technology, and we may be unaware of the intellectual property
rights that others may claim cover aspects of our platform or the underlying technology. In the future, others may claim that our platform and
underlying technology infringe or violate their intellectual property rights.

Claims of intellectual property rights infringement or other violations of intellectual property rights might require us to stop using technology
found to violate a third party’s rights, redesign our platform, which could require significant effort and expense and cause delays of releases, enter
into costly settlement or license agreements, pay costly damage awards, or face a temporary or permanent injunction prohibiting us from marketing
or selling our platform. With respect to such technology for which intellectual property rights are claimed to be infringed or otherwise violated by our
technology or the conduct of our business, if we cannot or do not license any infringed or otherwise violated technology on commercially reasonable
terms or at all, or substitute similar non-infringing technology from another source, we could be forced to limit or stop selling our platform, we may
not be able to meet our obligations to customers under our customer contracts, we may be unable to compete effectively, and our revenue and
operating results could be adversely impacted. We may also be obligated to indemnify our customers and business partners or to pay substantial
settlement costs, including royalty payments, in connection with any such claim or litigation and to obtain licenses, modify our platform, or refund
fees, which could be costly. Even if we were to prevail in such a dispute, any litigation regarding intellectual property could be costly and time-
consuming, damage our reputation and brand, delay or reduce potential sales, deter our partners from promoting adoption of our platform and divert
the attention of our management and key personnel from our business operations. As the number of competitors in our market increases, claims of
intellectual property rights infringement or other violations of intellectual property rights may increase. Furthermore, our insurance coverage may not
adequately cover losses from intellectual property rights infringement claims.
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We employ third-party licensed software for use in or with our platform, and the inability to maintain these licenses or errors in the
software we license could result in increased costs, or reduced service levels, which could adversely affect our business.

Our platform incorporates certain third-party software obtained under licenses from other companies, and we use third-party software
development tools as we continue to develop and enhance our platform. We anticipate that we will continue to rely on such third-party software in
the future. If we are required to replace such software, commercially reasonable alternatives may not be available, and if they are available, they
might require substantial investment of our time and resources. In addition, integration of the software used in our platform with new third-
party software may require significant work and require substantial investment of our time and resources. Also, to the extent that our platform
depends upon the successful operation of third-party software in conjunction with our software, any undetected errors or defects in this third-
party software could prevent the deployment or impair the functionality of our platform, delay new feature introductions, result in a failure of our
functionality or a security incident, and injure our reputation. Our use of additional or alternative third-party software would require us to enter into
license agreements with third parties. In the event that we are not able to maintain our licenses to third-party software, or cannot obtain licenses to
new software as needed, or in the event third-party software used in conjunction with our platform contains errors or defects, our business, operating
results, and financial condition may be adversely affected.

Our platform utilizes open source software, which could negatively affect our ability to offer our products and subject us to litigation or
other adverse consequences.

Our platform utilizes software governed by open source licenses, which may include, by way of example, the MIT License and the Apache
License. The use of open source software involves a number of risks, many of which cannot be eliminated and could negatively affect our business.
For example, the terms of various open source licenses have not been interpreted by United States courts, and there is a risk that such licenses
could be construed in a manner that imposes unanticipated conditions or restrictions on our ability to market our platform. By the terms of certain
open source licenses, if we combine our proprietary software with open source software in a certain manner, we could be required to release the
source code of our proprietary software and to make our proprietary software available under open source licenses. We may face claims alleging
noncompliance with open source license terms or misappropriation or other violation of open source technology. These claims could result in
litigation, damage our reputation in the open-source community, or require us to purchase a costly license, devote additional research or
development resources to re-engineer our products or services, discontinue the sale of our products if re-engineering could not be accomplished on
a timely or cost-effective basis, require us to make the source code of our proprietary code generally available, or result in us being enjoined from
the offering of components of our platform that contained the open source software, any of which would have a negative effect on our business and
operating results. We also could be subject to lawsuits from other parties claiming ownership of what we believe to be open source software.
Litigation could be costly for us to defend, have a negative effect on our operating results or financial condition, and could require us to devote
additional research and development resources to re-engineer our platform. In addition to risks related to license requirements, usage of open
source software can lead to greater risks than use of third-party commercial software, as open source licensors generally do not provide warranties
or controls on the origin of the software.

We are subject to anti-corruption, anti-bribery, and similar laws, and failure to comply with these laws could subject us to criminal
penalties or significant fines and harm our business and reputation.

We are subject to anti-corruption and anti-bribery and similar laws, such as the U.S. Foreign Corrupt Practices Act of 1977, as amended, or
the FCPA, the U.S. domestic bribery statute contained in 18 U.S.C. § 201, the U.S. Travel Act, the USA PATRIOT Act, the U.K. Bribery Act 2010,
and other anti-corruption, anti-bribery, and anti-money laundering laws in countries in which we conduct activities. Anti-corruption and anti-bribery
laws have been enforced aggressively in recent years and are interpreted broadly and prohibit companies and their employees and agents from
promising, authorizing, making or offering improper payments, or other benefits to government officials and others in the private sector. As we
increase our international sales and business, our risks under these laws may increase. Noncompliance with these laws could subject us to
investigations, sanctions, settlements, prosecution, other enforcement actions, disgorgement of profits, significant fines, damages, other civil and
criminal penalties or injunctions, adverse media coverage, and other consequences. Any investigations, actions, or sanctions could harm our
business, operating results, and financial condition.
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We are subject to governmental export and import controls and economic sanctions programs that could impair our ability to compete in
international markets or subject us to liability if we violate the controls or programs.

We are subject to certain U.S. export control and import laws and regulations, including the U.S. Export Administration Regulations, U.S.
Customs regulations, and various economic and trade sanctions regulations administered by the U.S. Treasury Department’s Office of Foreign
Assets Controls. Exports of our platform must be made in compliance with these laws and regulations. If we fail to comply with these laws and
regulations, we and certain of our employees could be subject to substantial civil or criminal penalties, including: the possible loss of export or import
privileges; fines, which may be imposed on us and responsible employees or managers; and, in extreme cases, the incarceration of responsible
employees or managers. Obtaining the necessary authorizations, including any required license, for a particular sale may be time-consuming, is not
guaranteed, and may result in the delay or loss of sales opportunities.

We incorporate encryption technology into our platform. These encryption products and the underlying technology may be exported outside
of the United States only with the required export authorizations, including by license, a license exception or other appropriate government
authorizations. In addition, various countries regulate the import of certain encryption technology, including through import permitting and licensing
requirements, and have enacted laws that could limit our ability to distribute our platform or could limit our customers’ ability to implement our
platform in those countries. Governmental regulation of encryption technology and regulation of imports or exports of encryption products, or our
failure to obtain required import or export approval for our platform, when applicable, could harm our international sales and adversely affect our
revenue. Furthermore, U.S. export control laws and economic sanctions programs prohibit the shipment of certain products and services to
countries, governments, and persons targeted by U.S. sanctions. Any violations of such economic embargoes and trade sanction regulations could
have negative consequences, including government investigations, penalties, and reputational harm.

Changes in our platform or future changes in export and import regulations may create delays in the introduction and sale of our platform in
international markets, prevent our customers with international operations from deploying our platform globally or, in some cases, prevent the export
or import of our platform to certain countries, governments, or persons altogether. Any change in export or import regulations, economic sanctions or
related legislation, or change in the countries, governments, persons, or technologies targeted by such regulations, could result in decreased use of
our platform by, or in our decreased ability to export or sell our platform to, existing or potential customers with international operations. Any
decreased use of our platform or limitation on our ability to export or sell our platform would likely adversely affect our business, financial condition,
and results of operations.

We incur significant costs, devote substantial management time, and may have difficulty attracting qualified board members as a result of
operating as a public company.

As a public company, we are subject to various securities rules and regulations, including the reporting requirements of the Exchange Act,
the Sarbanes-Oxley Act and the Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act, the New York Stock Exchange listing standards, and
rules and regulations subsequently implemented by the SEC and the New York Stock Exchange. We expect that complying with these rules and
regulations will continue to increase our legal, accounting, and financial compliance costs, make some activities more difficult, time-consuming, and
costly, and place significant strain on our personnel, systems, and resources. The Exchange Act requires, among other things, that we file annual,
quarterly and current reports with respect to our business and operating results. The Sarbanes-Oxley Act requires, among other things, that we
establish and maintain effective disclosure controls and procedures and internal control over financial reporting. Compliance with these various
requirements has increased, and we expect will continue to increase, our legal and financial compliance costs and makes some activities more time
consuming and costly. In addition, our management and other personnel need to divert attention from operational and other business matters to
devote substantial time to these public company requirements, which could adversely affect our business, financial condition, and operating results.
Although we have hired additional employees to help comply with these requirements, we may need to hire more employees in the future or engage
outside consultants, which will increase our costs and expenses.
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In addition, changing laws, regulations and standards relating to corporate governance and public disclosure are creating uncertainty for
public companies, increasing legal and financial compliance costs and making some activities more time consuming. This could result in continuing
uncertainty regarding compliance matters and higher costs necessitated by ongoing revisions to disclosure and governance practices. Compliance
with evolving laws, regulations and standards may result in increased general and administrative expenses and a diversion of management's time
and attention from revenue-generating activities to compliance activities. If our efforts to comply with new laws, regulations and standards differ from
the activities intended by regulatory or governing bodies due to ambiguities related to their application and practice, regulatory authorities may
impose fines, initiate legal proceedings or take other action against us and our business may be adversely affected.

As a result of the rules and regulations applicable to public companies, it may be more expensive for us to obtain director and officer liability
insurance and we may be required to accept reduced coverage or incur substantially higher costs to obtain coverage. It may also be more difficult for
us to attract and retain qualified members of our board of directors, particularly to serve on our audit committee and compensation committee, and
qualified executive officers.

As a public company we file certain information publicly, which provides visibility into our business and financial condition. We have been
subject to litigation related to our public filings, and may be subject to threatened or actual litigation in the future. If such claims are successful, our
business, and operating results could be adversely affected, and even if the claims do not result in litigation or are resolved in our favor, these
claims, and the time and resources necessary to resolve them and the diversion of management resources, could adversely affect our business and
operating results.

If we fail to maintain an effective system of internal controls, our ability to produce timely and accurate financial statements, or comply
with applicable regulations could be impaired.

As a public company, we are required to design and maintain internal controls over financial reporting and to report any material
weaknesses in such internal controls. The Sarbanes-Oxley Act requires that we evaluate and determine the effectiveness of our internal controls
over financial reporting and provide a management report on the internal controls over financial reporting, which must be attested to by our
independent registered public accounting firm. We are continuing to develop and refine our disclosure controls and other procedures that are
designed to ensure that information required to be disclosed by us in the reports that we will file with the SEC is recorded, processed, summarized,
and reported within the time periods specified in SEC rules and forms and that information required to be disclosed in reports under the Exchange
Act is accumulated and communicated to our principal executive and financial officers. We are also continuing to improve our internal control over
financial reporting, including through our internal audit team. In order to maintain and improve the effectiveness of our disclosure controls and
procedures and internal control over financial reporting, we have expended, and anticipate that we will continue to expend, significant resources,
including accounting-related costs and significant management oversight.

Our current controls and any new controls that we develop may become inadequate because of changes in conditions in our business.
Further, weaknesses in our disclosure controls and internal control over financial reporting may be discovered in the future. If we fail to develop or
maintain effective controls, encounter difficulties in their implementation or improvement, or identify a material weakness in our controls, our
operating results could be harmed or we could fail to meet our reporting obligations and may be required to restate our financial statements for prior
periods. Any failure to implement and maintain effective internal control over financial reporting also could adversely affect the results of periodic
management evaluations and annual independent registered public accounting firm attestation reports regarding the effectiveness of our internal
control over financial reporting that we are required to include in our periodic reports that will be filed with the SEC. Our independent registered
public accounting firm may issue a report that is adverse in the event it is not satisfied with the level at which our internal control over financial
reporting is documented, designed, or operating. Ineffective disclosure controls and procedures and internal control over financial reporting could
result in regulatory scrutiny and sanctions, cause investors to lose confidence in our reported financial and other information, and subject us to
stockholder or other third-party litigation, any of which could have a material adverse effect on our business and operating results and a negative
effect on the trading price of our common stock. In addition, if we are unable to continue to meet these requirements, we may not be able to remain
listed on the New York Stock Exchange.
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Financial and Credit Risks

If we are unable to achieve and sustain a level of liquidity sufficient to support our operations and fulfill our obligations, our business,
operating results and financial position could be adversely affected.

We actively monitor and manage our cash and cash equivalents so that sufficient liquidity is available to fund our operations and other
corporate purposes. As an example of our liquidity management, in April 2020, we amended our credit agreement with Wells Fargo Bank, N.A.
(“Wells Fargo”) to, among other things, increase the aggregate revolving credit commitment amount to allow us to borrow up to $60.0 million, subject
to the terms of the credit agreement, including the accounts receivable borrowing base, and extend the maturity date of the revolving credit facility
from April 2020 to April 2022. In the future, increased levels of liquidity may be required to adequately support our operations and initiatives and to
mitigate the effects of business challenges or unforeseen circumstances. If we are unable to achieve and sustain such increased levels of liquidity,
we may suffer adverse consequences including reduced investment in our platform and its functionality, difficulties in executing our business plan
and fulfilling our obligations, and other operational challenges. Any of these developments could adversely affect our business, operating results and
financial position.

We may face exposure to foreign currency exchange rate fluctuations.

While our international contracts are sometimes denominated in U.S. dollars, a significant portion of our revenue is in foreign currencies and
the majority of our international costs are denominated in local currencies. Over time, an increasing portion of our international contracts may be
denominated in local currencies. Therefore, fluctuations in the value of the U.S. dollar and foreign currencies may affect our operating results when
translated into U.S. dollars. We do not currently engage in currency hedging activities to limit the risk of exchange rate fluctuations. However, in the
future, we may engage in hedging activities including the use of derivative instruments, such as foreign currency forward and option contracts, to
hedge certain exposures to fluctuations in foreign currency exchange rates. The use of such hedging activities may not successfully offset any of the
risks associated with exchange rate fluctuations, including uncertainty caused by volatility in the currency exchange rates. Moreover, the use of
hedging instruments may introduce additional risks if we are unable to structure effective hedges with such instruments.

We may not be able to secure additional financing on favorable terms, or at all, to meet our future capital needs.

We have funded our operations since inception primarily through equity financings and payments by customers. We do not know when or if
our operations will generate sufficient cash to fund our ongoing operations. In the future, we may require additional capital to respond to business
opportunities, challenges, strategic transactions, a decline in the level of customer prepayments or unforeseen circumstances. We may determine to
engage in equity or debt financings or enter into credit facilities for these or other reasons, and we may not be able to timely secure additional debt
or equity financing on favorable terms, or at all, especially during a global economic downturn. Any debt financing obtained by us in the future could
involve restrictive covenants relating to our capital raising activities and other financial and operational matters, which may make it more difficult for
us to obtain additional capital and to pursue business opportunities, including potential strategic transactions. If we raise additional funds through
further issuances of equity, convertible debt securities or other securities convertible into equity, our existing stockholders could suffer significant
dilution in their percentage ownership of our company, and any new equity securities we issue could have rights, preferences, and privileges senior
to those of holders of our common stock. If we are unable to obtain adequate financing or financing on terms satisfactory to us, when we require it,
our ability to continue to grow or support our business and to respond to business challenges could be significantly limited.
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If we default on our credit obligations, our operations may be interrupted and our business could be seriously harmed.

We have a credit facility that we may draw on to finance our operations, strategic transactions, and other corporate purposes. Our
obligations pursuant to this credit facility are secured by a first priority lien on our assets for the benefit of the lenders. Our credit facility contains
financial and operating covenants, including maintenance of a specific minimum tangible net worth, customary limitations on the incurrence of
certain indebtedness and liens, restrictions on certain intercompany transactions, and limitations on the amount of dividends and stock repurchases.
Our ability to comply with these covenants may be affected by events beyond our control, and breaches of these covenants or other obligations in
the credit facility, or the occurrence of certain events specified in the credit facility, could result in a default under the credit facility and any future
financial agreements into which we may enter. If we default on the obligations under our credit facility, our lenders may pursue various remedial
actions against us, including:

• requiring repayment of any outstanding amounts drawn on our credit facility;

• terminating our credit facility;

• disposing of our assets subject to the lien; and

• requiring us to pay significant damages.

If any of these events occur, our operations may be interrupted and our ability to fund our operations or obligations, as well as our business,
could be seriously harmed. For more information on our credit facility, see “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and
Results of Operations—Liquidity and Capital Resources.”

We may not be able to utilize a significant portion of our net operating loss or research tax credit carryforwards, which could adversely
affect our potential profitability.

We have federal and state net operating loss carryforwards due to prior period losses, which if not utilized will begin to expire in fiscal 2029
and 2025 for federal and state purposes, respectively. These net operating loss carryforwards could expire unused and be unavailable to offset
future income tax liabilities, which could adversely affect our potential profitability.

Also, under the Tax Cuts and Jobs Act of 2017 (“Tax Reform Act”), tax losses generated in taxable years beginning after December 31,
2017, may be utilized to offset no more than 80% of taxable income annually. Although the subsequent CARES Act modified the Tax Reform Act by,
among other things, eliminating the aforementioned 80% limitation for taxable years beginning before January 1, 2021, we may still face reduced
availability of net operating losses in future taxable years, which could adversely affect our potential profitability.

In addition, under Sections 382 and 383 of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, or the Code, our ability to utilize net operating
loss carryforwards or other tax attributes, such as research tax credits, in any taxable year may be limited if we experience an “ownership change.”
Such an “ownership change” generally occurs if one or more stockholders or groups of stockholders who own at least 5% of our stock increase their
ownership by more than 50 percentage points over their lowest ownership percentage within a rolling three-year period. Similar rules may apply
under state tax laws. We completed an analysis under Sections 382 and 383 of the Code for the Company’s tax years through January 31, 2019,
and determined two “ownership changes” occurred, one in fiscal 2011 and one in fiscal 2012. We believe utilization of our net operating losses and
tax credit carryforwards have become limited. This could result in increased U.S. federal income tax liability for us if we generate taxable income in a
future period. Limitations on the use of net operating loss carryforwards and other tax attributes could also increase our state tax liability. The use of
our tax attributes will also be limited to the extent that we do not generate positive taxable income in future tax periods.

We are subject to the tax laws of various jurisdictions, which are subject to changes and to interpretation, which could harm our future
results.

We are subject to income, sales, use, value added, and other similar taxes in the United States and foreign jurisdictions, and our domestic
and international tax liabilities are subject to the allocation of expenses in differing jurisdictions. Our effective tax rate could be adversely affected by
changes in the mix of earnings and losses in countries with differing statutory tax rates, certain non-deductible expenses as a result of acquisitions,
the valuation of deferred tax assets and liabilities, the interpretation and application of existing tax laws within a jurisdiction, and changes in federal,
state, or international tax laws and accounting principles.
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Changes to various tax laws, rules and regulations are currently being considered by the United States and other countries where we do
business. Certain of these proposed changes could be applied solely or disproportionately to services provided over the internet. These tax
initiatives, if implemented, could result in additional tax obligations that we are required to pay or adversely affect our sales activity due to the
inherent cost increase the taxes would represent and ultimately result in a negative impact on our operating results and cash flows. In addition,
existing tax laws, rules, or regulations could be interpreted, modified, or applied adversely to us (possibly with retroactive effect), which could require
us or our customers to pay additional tax amounts, or require us or our customers to pay fines, penalties and interest for past amounts. If we are
unsuccessful in collecting such taxes from our customers, we could be held liable for such costs, thereby adversely affecting our operating results
and cash flows.

Sales and use, value added, and similar tax laws and rates vary greatly by jurisdiction and are subject to varying interpretations that change
over time. We do not collect sales and use, value added, and similar taxes in all jurisdictions in which we have sales, based on our belief that such
taxes are not applicable or that we are not required to collect such taxes with respect to the jurisdiction. Certain jurisdictions in which we do not
collect such taxes may assert that such taxes are applicable, which could result in tax assessments, penalties, and interest, and we may be required
to collect such taxes in the future.

Our customers may fail to pay us in accordance with the terms of their agreements, necessitating action by us to compel payment.

We typically enter into multiple year, non-cancelable arrangements with our customers. If customers fail to pay us under the terms of our
agreements, we may be adversely affected both from the inability to collect amounts due and the cost of enforcing the terms of our contracts,
including litigation. The risk of such negative effects increases with the term length of our customer arrangements. Furthermore, some of our
customers may seek bankruptcy protection or other similar relief, including as a result of the impacts and disruptions caused by the COVID-19
pandemic, and fail to pay amounts due to us, or pay those amounts more slowly, either of which could adversely affect our business, results of
operations and financial condition.

Our reported financial results may be adversely affected by changes in accounting principles generally accepted in the United States.

Generally accepted accounting principles in the United States are subject to interpretation by the Financial Accounting Standards Board, or
FASB, the SEC and various bodies formed to promulgate and interpret appropriate accounting principles. A change in these principles or
interpretations could have a significant effect on our reported financial results for periods prior and subsequent to such change. For example, recent
new standards issued by the FASB that could materially impact our financial statements include certain changes to accounting for leases. We may
adopt one or more of these standards retrospectively to prior periods, and the adoption may result in an adverse change to previously reported
results. Additionally, the adoption of these standards may potentially require enhancements or changes in our systems and could require our
financial management to devote significant time and resources to implementing those changes.

Risks Related to Ownership of Our Common Stock
The stock price of our common stock may be volatile and may decline regardless of our operating performance and you may lose all or
part of your investment.

The market price of our common stock has been and may continue to be volatile. In addition to factors discussed in this report, the market
price of our common stock may fluctuate significantly in response to numerous factors, many of which are beyond our control, including:

• the COVID-19 pandemic and the extent to which, and for how long, it impacts our business and that of our customers and prospective
customers;

• overall performance of the equity markets;

• our operating performance, including key metrics, and the performance of other similar companies;

• changes in our projected operating results that we provide to the public, our failure to meet these projections or changes in
recommendations by securities analysts that elect to follow our common stock;
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• changes in our financial, operating or other metrics, regardless of whether we consider those metrics as reflective of the current state or
long-term prospects of our business, and how those results compare to securities analyst expectations;

• announcements of technological innovations, new software or enhancements to services, acquisitions, strategic alliances, or significant
agreements by us or by our competitors;

• disruptions in our services due to computer hardware, software, or network problems;

• a data breach or other security incident involving us, or one of our customers or partners, or another company in the cloud planning
software market;

• announcements of customer additions and customer cancellations or delays in customer purchases;

• recruitment or departure of key personnel;

• the economy as a whole, market conditions in our industry and the industries of our customers;

• the sale, purchase, or exercise of a significant block of our common stock;

• the impact of environmental, social, governance or other matters on our reputation or investor confidence in our operations;

• the size of our market float; and

• any other factors discussed in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q.

In addition, the stock markets have experienced extreme price and volume fluctuations that have affected and continue to affect the market
prices of equity securities of many technology companies. Stock prices of many technology companies have fluctuated in a manner unrelated or
disproportionate to the operating performance of those companies. In the past, stockholders have filed securities class action litigation following
periods of market volatility. We have been and may in the future become involved in securities litigation, and any such litigation could subject us to
substantial costs, divert resources, and the attention of management from our business and adversely affect our business.

If securities or industry analysts do not publish research or publish inaccurate or unfavorable research about our business, our stock
price and trading volume could decline.

The trading market for our common stock depends in part on the research and reports that securities or industry analysts publish about us
or our business. If one or more analysts cease or reduce coverage of us, the trading price for our common stock would be negatively affected. If one
or more of the analysts who cover us downgrade our common stock or publish inaccurate or unfavorable research about our business, our common
stock price would likely decline.

We do not intend to pay dividends for the foreseeable future.

We have never declared nor paid cash dividends on our capital stock. We currently intend to retain any future earnings to finance the
operation and expansion of our business, and we do not expect to declare or pay any dividends in the foreseeable future. Consequently,
stockholders must rely on sales of their common stock after price appreciation, which may never occur, as the only way to realize any future gains
on their investment.

Delaware law and provisions in our amended and restated certificate of incorporation and amended and restated bylaws could make a
merger, tender offer, or proxy contest difficult, thereby depressing the trading price of our common stock.

Our amended and restated certificate of incorporation and amended and restated bylaws contain provisions that may make the acquisition
of our company more difficult, including the following:

• a classified board of directors so that not all members of our board of directors are elected at one time, which could delay the ability of
stockholders to change the membership of a majority of our board of directors;

• the ability of our board of directors to issue shares of preferred stock and to determine the price and other terms of those shares,
including preferences and voting rights, without stockholder approval, which could be used to significantly dilute the ownership of a
hostile acquiror;
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• the right of our board of directors, subject to the rights of the holders of any series of preferred stock, to the extent such preferred stock
is issued by the board of directors in the future, to elect a director to fill a vacancy created by the expansion of our board of directors or
the resignation, death, or removal of a director, could impede an attempt by stockholders to fill vacancies on our board of directors;

• a prohibition on stockholder action by written consent, which forces stockholder action to be taken at an annual or special meetings of
our stockholders;

• the requirement that a special meeting of stockholders may be called only by a majority vote of our entire board of directors, the
chairman of our board of directors or our chief executive officer, which could delay the ability of our stockholders to force consideration
of a proposal or to take action, including the removal of directors; and

• advance notice procedures with which stockholders must comply to nominate candidates to our board of directors or to propose matters
to be acted upon at a stockholders’ meeting, which may discourage or deter a potential acquiror from conducting a solicitation of proxies
to elect the acquiror’s own slate of directors or otherwise attempting to obtain control of us.

In addition, as a Delaware corporation, we are subject to Section 203 of the Delaware General Corporation Law. This provision may prohibit
large stockholders, in particular those owning 15% or more of our outstanding voting stock, from engaging in a business combination with us even if
the business combination would be beneficial to our existing stockholders. A Delaware corporation may opt out of this provision by express provision
in its original certificate of incorporation or by amendment to its certificate of incorporation or bylaws approved by its stockholders. However, we have
not opted out of this provision.

These and other provisions in our amended and restated certificate of incorporation, amended and restated bylaws, and Delaware law could
make it more difficult for stockholders or potential acquirers to obtain control of our board of directors or initiate actions that are opposed by our then-
current board of directors, including delay or impede a merger, tender offer, or proxy contest involving our company. The existence of these
provisions could negatively affect the price of our common stock and limit opportunities for you to realize value in a corporate transaction.

Our amended and restated certificate of incorporation provides that the Court of Chancery of the State of Delaware is the exclusive forum
for many types of disputes between us and our stockholders, which could limit our stockholders’ ability to obtain a favorable judicial
forum for disputes with us or our directors, officers, or employees.

Our amended and restated certificate of incorporation provides that the Court of Chancery of the State of Delaware is the exclusive forum
for any derivative action or proceeding brought on our behalf, any action asserting a breach of fiduciary duty, any action asserting a claim against us
arising pursuant to the Delaware General Corporation Law, our certificate of incorporation or our bylaws or any action asserting a claim against us
that is governed by the internal affairs doctrine. This choice of forum provision may limit a stockholder’s ability to bring a claim in a judicial forum that
it finds favorable for disputes with us or our directors, officers, or other employees and may discourage these types of lawsuits. Alternatively, if a
court were to find the choice of forum provision contained in our amended and restated certificate of incorporation to be inapplicable or
unenforceable in an action, we may incur additional costs associated with resolving such action in other jurisdictions.
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General Risk Factors

Uncertain global economic and market conditions may negatively impact our business, results of operations and cash flows.

Our business depends on the overall demand for information technology and on the economic health of our current and prospective
customers in the United States and abroad. Any significant weakening of the economy in the United States or in regions globally like Europe and
Asia, more limited availability of credit, a reduction in business confidence and activity, decreased government spending, perceived impact of global
trade barriers like tariffs and sanctions and the corresponding retaliatory actions, economic uncertainty, or other difficulties may affect one or more of
the sectors or countries in which we sell our platform. Global economic and political uncertainty, including the uncertainty surrounding the COVID-19
pandemic, Brexit, increased tariffs and international trade disputes, may cause some of our customers or potential customers to curtail spending,
scale back their digital transformation efforts, delay their expansion of Anaplan use cases, result in new regulatory and cost challenges to our
international operations and cause customers to delay or reduce their technology spending overall. In addition, a strong dollar could reduce demand
for our products in countries with relatively weaker currencies. Global economic conditions and market conditions may also continue to experience
volatility and remain uncertain for an indefinite period of time as a result of the COVID-19 pandemic. We expect our business will be impacted in a
variety of ways by these conditions because, among other reasons, some prospective and existing customers may curtail business spending,
business disruptions for us and/or our customers are likely to persist in at least some jurisdictions and travel by us and our partners to customer sites
has been and may continue to remain limited. These adverse conditions have, in part, resulted in and may result in certain of our customers and
prospective customers deferring or delaying buying decisions and project implementations, prolonged sales cycles, and increased requests for
extended payment terms. These adverse conditions could result in reductions in the rate of enterprise software spending generally, sales of our
platform, longer sales cycles, slower adoption of new technologies, lower renewal rates and increased price competition. Any of these events could
have an adverse effect on our business, operating results, and financial position.

Catastrophic events and other events beyond our control may disrupt our business and adversely affect our operating results.

Natural disasters, catastrophic events, and other events beyond our control may cause damage or disruption to our business. As an
example, our corporate headquarters are located in San Francisco, California and the west coast of the United States contains active earthquake
zones. An earthquake affecting our headquarters may result in disruption to our business and operations. Additionally, we rely on our network
and third-party infrastructure and enterprise applications, internal technology systems, and our website for our development, marketing, operational
support, hosted services, and sales activities and such infrastructure and systems may also be affected by natural disasters or other catastrophic
events. For example, our data centers are critical infrastructure located in the United States, the Netherlands, and Germany, including in areas with
active earthquake zones. From time to time, global pandemics may result from outbreak of diseases such as the MERS, SARS, avian flu
and COVID-19, which may result in a material adverse impact on our or our customers’ and partners’ business operations including reduction or
suspension of operations in the U.S. or certain parts of the world. We serve a wide range of customers with international operations in varying
industries including manufacturing. Depending upon the continuity and severity of pandemics such as the COVID-19 pandemic, our customers and
partners may suspend or delay their engagement with us, or our partners may have difficulty engaging with customers and delivering the services
we typically expect them to provide, which could result in a material adverse effect on our financial condition. Although we maintain disaster and
crisis recovery plans, in the event of an earthquake, hurricane, flood, natural disaster or catastrophic event such as fire, power loss,
telecommunications failure, breach of security protocols, global pandemics like the COVID-19 pandemic, cyber-attack, war, or terrorist attack, such
plans or the disaster recovery plans established by the third-party data centers and other infrastructure that we rely on may prove to be inadequate
and we may be unable to continue our operations and may endure system interruptions, reputational harm, delays in our product development,
lengthy interruptions in our services, breaches of data security, and loss of critical data, all of which could have an adverse effect on our business,
operating results, and financial condition. Furthermore, in the event of a catastrophic event or other crisis, our insurance coverage may not
adequately compensate us for any losses that we may incur.
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ITEM 2. UNREGISTERED SALES OF EQUITY SECURITIES AND USE OF PROCEEDS
Recent Sale of Unregistered Securities and Use of Proceeds
Sale of Unregistered Securities

None.

Use of Proceeds

The information required by this item regarding the use of our IPO proceeds has been omitted pursuant to SEC rules because such
information has not changed since our last periodic report was filed.

Purchases of Equity Securities by the Issuer and Affiliated Purchasers
None.
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ITEM 6. EXHIBITS
Incorporated by Reference

Exhibit 
Number Exhibit Description Form File No. Exhibit Filing Date

Filed/ 
Furnished 
Herewith

3.1 Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of Registrant 10-K 001-38698 3.1 March 29,
2019

3.2 Amended and Restated Bylaws of Registrant 10-K 001-38698 3.2 March 29,
2019

10.1* Form of Notice of Performance Stock Unit Award and Performance Stock Unit
Agreement under 2018 Equity Incentive Plan X

31.1 Certification of Principal Executive Officer Pursuant to Rules 13a-14(a) and
15d-14(a) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as Adopted Pursuant to
Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

X

31.2 Certification of Principal Financial Officer Pursuant to Rules 13a-14(a) and 15d-
14(a) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as Adopted Pursuant to
Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

X

32.1† Certification of Principal Executive Officer Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350,
as Adopted Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002. X

32.2† Certification of Principal Financial Officer Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350,
as Adopted Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002. X

101.INS Inline XBRL Instance Document - the instance document does not appear in
the Interactive Data File because its XBRL tags are embedded within the Inline
XBRL document.

X

101.SCH Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document X

101.CAL Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Document X

101.DEF Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Document X

101.LAB Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Document X

101.PRE Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Document X

104 Cover Page Interactive Data File (formatted as Inline XBRL and contained in
Exhibit 101)

__________________
†  This certification is deemed not filed for purposes of section 18 of the Exchange Act, or otherwise subject to the liability of that section, nor shall it be deemed incorporated
by reference into any filing under the Securities Act or the Exchange Act.
* Indicates a management contract or compensatory plan.
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SIGNATURE
Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the Registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf

by the undersigned thereunto duly authorized.

ANAPLAN, INC.
By: /s/  Vikas Mehta

Date: December 2, 2021 Vikas Mehta
Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial Officer)
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Exhibit 10.1

Anaplan, Inc. 
2018 Equity Incentive Plan 

Notice of Performance Stock Unit Award 
You  have  been  granted  performance-based  Restricted  Stock  Units  (“PSUs”),  each  representing  the  right  to  receive  one  share  of  common
stock of Anaplan, Inc. (the “Company”), under the Company’s 2018 Equity Incentive Plan (the “Plan”) on the following terms:

Name of Recipient [ l ]
Target Number of PSUs Granted
(the “Target Award”)

 [ l ] PSUs

Date of Grant [ l ]

Vesting Schedule PSUs shall vest according to the time-based and performance-based vesting conditions set forth in
the  “Vesting”  Section  of  the  Performance  Stock  Unit  Agreement,  including Appendix A attached
thereto.

[Performance Periods] [ l ]

You and the  Company agree  that  the  PSUs are  granted  under  and governed by  the  terms and conditions  of  the  Plan  and the  Performance
Stock  Unit  Agreement,  including Appendix  A attached  thereto  (the  “Agreement”),  all  of  which  are  attached  to,  and  made  a  part  of,  this
document. Capitalized terms not otherwise defined herein shall have the meanings assigned to such terms in the Plan or the Agreement.

The Company may, in its sole discretion, decide to deliver any documents related to PSUs awarded under the Plan, future PSUs that may be
awarded under  the Plan and all  other  documents  that  the  Company is  required to  deliver  to  security  holders  (including annual  reports  and
proxy statements) by email or other electronic means (including posting them on a website maintained by the Company or a third party under
contract  with  the  Company).  You  hereby  consent  to  receive  such  documents  by  electronic  delivery  and  agree  to  participate  in  the  Plan
through any on-line or electronic system established and maintained by the Company or a third party designated by the Company.

In addition, by indicating  acceptance of this award through the Company’s online acceptance procedure (which includes online acceptance
through a  third-party  website  authorized by the Company),  you acknowledge that:  (a)  you have received,  and understand and agree to  the
terms of, this Notice of Performance Stock Unit Award (this “Grant Notice”), the Agreement, and the Plan (including any exhibits to each
document), (b) you accept this award on the terms and conditions set forth in this Grant Notice, the Agreement and the Plan (including any
exhibits to each document),  and (c) this Grant Notice,  the Agreement and the Plan (including any exhibits to each document) set forth the
entire understanding between you and the Company regarding the rights to acquire the shares subject to this award and supersede all prior
oral and written agreements with respect thereto.



Anaplan, Inc. 
2018 Equity Incentive Plan 

Performance Stock Unit Agreement

Grant of PSUs Subject  to  all  of  the  terms  and  conditions  set  forth  in  the  Notice  of  Performance  Stock  Unit
Award  (the  “Grant  Notice”),  this  Performance  Stock  Unit  Agreement,  including Appendix  A
attached  hereto  (this  “Agreement”)  and  the  Plan,  the  Company  has  granted  to  you  the  target
number of PSUs set forth in the Grant Notice (the “Target Award”). The actual number of PSUs
that may be earned by you, if any, may be more or less than the target number depending on the
level  of  attainment  of  the  applicable  performance  goals  for  the  performance-based  vesting
conditions  and  satisfaction  of  the  time-based  vesting  conditions  as  described  in  the  “Vesting”
section below and Appendix A.
All capitalized terms used in this Agreement shall have the meanings assigned to them in this
Agreement, the Grant Notice or the Plan.

Nature of PSUs The PSUs are bookkeeping entries. They represent only the Company’s unfunded and unsecured
promise to issue shares of  common stock on a future date.  As a holder  of  PSUs,  you have no
rights other than the rights of a general creditor of the Company. 

Payment for PSUs No payment is required for the PSUs that you are receiving. 
Vesting a. Performance-Based Vesting. All of the PSUs are unearned, nonvested and forfeitable as of the

Date of Grant. Subject to the satisfaction of the time-based vesting conditions under paragraph
b. below, and except as set forth in paragraphs a. and b. of the “Termination” section below, the
number of PSUs that become earned, if any, shall be determined based on the extent to which
the  [Measurement  Criteria]  (as  set  forth  in  Appendix  A)  is  satisfied  as  of  the  [Measurement
Date].
The  actual  number  of  PSUs  earned  shall  be  determined  by  the  Administrator  as  soon  as
practicable following the [Measurement Date] in accordance with the terms of this Agreement.
Any  PSUs  that  do  not  become  earned  and  vested  shall  be  immediately  forfeited,  without  any
further action of the Company whatsoever and without any consideration being paid therefor.
All determinations and interpretations relating to the [Measurement Criteria] shall be made by
the Administrator, and all determinations and interpretations made by the Administrator in good
faith shall be final and binding upon you, the Company and all other interested persons.
b. Time-Based Vesting. [ l ]
Notwithstanding  the  foregoing,  if  you  are,  or  become,  eligible  for  more  favorable  vesting
acceleration  provisions  pursuant  to  a  written  agreement  with  the  Company  (an  “Outside
Agreement”),  the  more  favorable  terms  in  such  Outside  Agreement  shall  apply  instead  of  the
acceleration terms in this Agreement, except as expressly provided in this Agreement.
No  additional  PSU  will  vest  after  your  status  as  a  Service  Provider  has  terminated  for  any
reason,  except  as  set  forth  in  this  Agreement  or  an  Outside  Agreement,  to  the  extent  you  are
eligible for benefits thereunder.
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Termination of Service a. CIC Qualified Termination: In the event of a CIC Qualified Termination (as defined in that
certain  Change  in  Control  and  Severance  Agreement  entered  into  between  you  and  the
Company  (the  “Change  in  Control  and  Severance  Agreement”),  a  number  of  PSUs  shall
become earned and vested as of the date on which such CIC Qualified Termination occurs in
an  amount  equal  to  (i)  (A)  the  Target  Award,  multiplied  by  (B)  the  Earned  Percentage,  as
measured based on the [Measurement Criteria] being deemed achieved at the greater of actual
performance  (as  calculated  based on the  consideration  paid  for  a  share  of  common stock in
the corporate transaction, as applicable ) or the Target Level (as defined in Appendix A), less
(ii)  any  portion  of  the  Target  Award  that  was  previously  earned  and  vested,  subject  to
satisfaction  of  such  other  terms  and  conditions  (including  the  requirement  to  sign  and  not
revoke  a  release  of  claims)  set  forth  in  the  Change  in  Control  and  Severance  Agreement.
Notwithstanding the foregoing or the terms of any Outside Agreement to the contrary, in no
event shall the Earned Percentage exceed the Maximum Level (as defined in Appendix A).
b.  Non-CIC  Qualified  Termination:  In  the  event  of  a  Non-CIC  Qualified  Termination  (as
defined  in  the  Change  in  Control  and  Severance  Agreement)  on  account  of  your  death  or
Disability (as defined in the Change in Control and Severance Agreement), a number of PSUs
shall become earned and vested as of the date on which such Non-CIC Qualified Termination
occurs  in  an  amount  equal  to  (i)  (A)  the  Target  Award,  multiplied  by  (B)  the  Earned
Percentage, as measured based on the [Measurement Criteria] being deemed achieved at the
greater  of  actual  performance  (as  calculated  based  on  the  average  30-calendar  day  period
ending on the date that is two trading days prior to the date on which such Non-CIC Qualified
Termination occurs) or the Target Level (as defined in Appendix A), less (ii) any portion of
the Target Award that was previously earned and vested, subject to satisfaction of such other
terms and conditions (including the requirement to sign and not revoke a release of claims) set
forth  in  the  Change  in  Control  and  Severance  Agreement.  [In  the  event  of  a  Non-CIC
Qualified Termination (as defined in the Change in Control and Severance Agreement) other
than  on  account  of  your  death  or  Disability  (as  defined  in  the  Change  in  Control  and
Severance Agreement), a pro-rata number of PSUs shall become earned and vested as of the
date on which such Non-CIC Qualified Termination occurs in an amount equal to the product
of (i) (A) the Target Award, multiplied by (B) the Earned Percentage, as measured based on
the  [Measurement  Criteria]  being  deemed  achieved  at  the  greater  of  actual  performance  (as
calculated based on the average 30-calendar day period ending on the date that is two trading
days  prior  to  the  date  on which  such Non-CIC Qualified  Termination  occurs)  or  the  Target
Level  (as  defined  in  Appendix  A),  less  (ii)  any  portion  of  the  Target  Award  that  was
previously  earned  and  vested  multiplied  by  (iii)  [ l ],  subject  to  satisfaction  of  such  other
terms and conditions (including the requirement to sign and not revoke a release of claims) set
forth in any Outside Agreement.] Notwithstanding the foregoing or the terms of any Outside
Agreement  to  the  contrary,  in  no  event  shall  the  Earned  Percentage  exceed  the  Maximum
Level (as defined in Appendix A).

Depending on the type of the corporate transaction, at the discretion of the Company, the consideration may be calculated by reference to the stock price two
trading days prior to the date on which the corporate transaction closes, or in the case of an asset sale, actual performance may be based on such criteria as the
Company determines to be appropriate, in its discretion.

1
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c. Termination For Any Other Reason: If your status as a Service Provider terminates for any
reason other than due to a CIC Qualified Termination or a Non-CIC Qualified Termination, in
either  case,  then,  unless  otherwise  provided  in  any  Outside  Agreement,  the  PSUs  will  be
forfeited  to  the  extent  that  they  have  not  become  earned  and  vested  before  the  Termination
Date (as defined in the following paragraph) and shall not become earned and vested as a result
of the termination of your status as a Service Provider. This means that any PSUs that have not
become  earned  and  vested  under  this  Agreement  will  be  cancelled  immediately  as  of  the
Termination Date. You receive no payment for PSUs that are forfeited.
For purposes of the PSUs, your status as a Service Provider will be considered terminated as of
the date (the "Termination Date") you are no longer providing active services to the Company,
its Parent or any of its Subsidiaries or Affiliates (regardless of the reason for such termination
and whether or not later found to be invalid or in breach of employment laws in the jurisdiction
where you are employed or otherwise rendering services or the terms of your employment or
other service agreement, if any) and will not be extended by any notice period (e.g., your status
as  a  Service  Provider  will  not  be  extended  by  any  contractual  notice  period  or  period  of
“garden  leave”  or  similar  period  mandated  under  employment  laws  in  the  jurisdiction  where
you are  employed  or  otherwise  rendering  services  or  the  terms of  your  employment  or  other
service  agreement,  if  any).  The  Administrator  shall  have  exclusive  discretion  to  determine
when the Termination Date occurs for purposes of the PSUs (including when you are no longer
considered to be a Service Provider while on a leave of absence).

Leaves of Absence and Part-
Time Work If you go on a leave of absence, the treatment of the PSUs will be governed by the Company's

Leave  of  Absence  Policy  for  Share-Based  Awards  and may include  suspension  of  vesting  of
the PSUs, to the extent permitted by applicable law.
If  you  commence  working  on  a  part-time  basis,  the  Company  may  adjust  the  Vesting
Schedule so that the rate of vesting is commensurate with your reduced work schedule, to the
extent permitted by applicable law.

Settlement of PSUs Each  PSU  will  be  settled  reasonably  promptly  after  the  PSU  becomes  earned  and  vested
(unless  you  and  the  Company  have  agreed  in  writing  to  a  later  settlement  date  pursuant  to
procedures the Company may prescribe at its discretion); provided, that settlement shall in all
events  occur  within  the  “short  term  deferral  period”  as  defined  under  Section  409A  of  the
Code.
At  the  time  of  settlement,  you  will  receive  one  share  of  the  Company’s  common  stock  for
each earned and vested PSU.
No fractional shares will be issued upon settlement.
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Section 409A Unless  you  and  the  Company  have  agreed  to  a  deferred  settlement  date  (pursuant  to
procedures  that  the Company may prescribe at  its  discretion),  settlement  of these PSUs is
intended  to  be  exempt  from  the  application  of  Code  Section  409A  pursuant  to  Treasury
Regulation  1.409A-1(b)(4)  and  shall  be  administered  and  interpreted  in  a  manner  that
complies with such exception.
Notwithstanding the foregoing, if it is determined that settlement of the PSUs is not exempt
from Code Section 409A and the Company determines that you are a “specified employee,”
as defined in the regulations under Code Section 409A at the time of your “separation from
service,”  as  defined  in  Treasury  Regulation  Section  1.409A-1(h),  then this  paragraph  will
apply. If this paragraph applies, and the event triggering settlement is your “separation from
service,” then any PSUs that otherwise would have been settled during the first six months
following  your  “separation  from service”  will  instead  be  settled  on  the  first  business  day
following the earlier of (i) the six-month anniversary of your separation from service or (ii)
your death.
Each installment of PSUs that vests is hereby designated as a separate payment for purposes
of Code Section 409A.

No Voting Rights or Dividends The PSUs carry neither voting rights nor rights to cash dividends. You have no rights as a
stockholder of the Company unless and until the PSUs are settled by issuing shares of the
Company’s common stock. 

PSUs Nontransferable You may not sell, transfer, assign, pledge or otherwise dispose of any PSUs. For instance,
you  may  not  use  the  PSUs  as  security  for  a  loan.  In  addition,  regardless  of  any  marital
property  settlement  agreement,  the  Company  is  not  obligated  to  recognize  your  former
spouse’s interest in the PSUs in any way. 

Beneficiary Designation You  may  dispose  of  the  PSUs  in  a  written  beneficiary  designation,  if  authorized  by  the
Company and to the extent such designation is valid under applicable laws. Any beneficiary
designation must be filed with the Company on the proper form. It will be recognized only
if  it  has  been  received  at  the  Company’s  headquarters  before  your  death.  If  you  file  no
beneficiary  designation,  if  the Company has not  authorized  the beneficiary  designation,  if
the beneficiary designation is not valid or if none of your designated beneficiaries survives
you, then your estate or other legal heirs will receive any vested PSUs that you hold at the
time of your death.
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Responsibility for Taxes Regardless  of any action the Company or,  as applicable,  the Parent,  Subsidiary or Affiliate
employing or otherwise retaining you (the “Service Recipient”) takes with respect to any or
all income tax, social insurance, payroll tax, fringe benefits tax, payment on account or other
tax-related items related to the participation in the Plan and legally applicable to you (“Tax-
Related Items”), you acknowledge that the ultimate liability for all Tax-Related Items is and
remains  your  responsibility  and  may  exceed  the  amount,  if  any,  actually  withheld  by  the
Company and/or the Service Recipient. You further acknowledge that neither the Company
nor  the  Service  Recipient:  (1)  make  any  representations  or  undertakings  regarding  the
treatment of any Tax-Related Items in connection with any aspect of the PSUs, including, but
not limited to, the grant or vesting of the PSUs, the issuance of shares upon settlement of the
PSUs, the subsequent sale of shares acquired pursuant to such settlement or the receipt of any
dividends; or (2) commit to or are under any obligation to structure the terms of the PSUs or
any aspect of the PSUs to reduce or eliminate your liability for Tax-Related Items or achieve
any particular tax result. Further, if you are subject to tax in more than one jurisdiction, you
acknowledge that the Company and/or the Service Recipient (or former service recipient, as
applicable) may be required to withhold or account for Tax-Related Items in more than one
jurisdiction.

Prior  to  any  relevant  taxable  or  tax  withholding  event,  as  applicable,  you  agree  to  make
adequate arrangements satisfactory to the Company and/or the Service Recipient to satisfy all
Tax-Related Items. In this regard, you authorize the Company and/or the Service Recipient to
satisfy  any  withholding  obligations  with  regard  to  Tax-Related  Items  by  one  or  a
combination  of  the  following:  (a)  withholding  from  your  salary,  wages  or  other
compensation payable to you by the Company and/or the Service Recipient, (b) withholding
shares  of  Company  common  stock  otherwise  issuable  in  connection  with  the
vesting/settlement of the PSUs, (c) withholding from proceeds of the sale of shares acquired
upon vesting/settlement either through a voluntary sale or through a mandatory sale arranged
by the Company (on your behalf  pursuant  to this  authorization without  further  consent),  or
(d)  any other  method determined by the Administrator  to be in  compliance  with applicable
laws;  provided,  however,  that  if  you  are  a  Company  officer  subject  to  Section  16  of  the
Exchange  Act,  then  the  Tax-Related  Items  will  be  satisfied  by  withholding  in  shares  of
Company common stock, unless otherwise determined in advance by the Board.

The Company may withhold or account for Tax-Related Items by considering the statutory
withholding amount or other withholding rates, including maximum rates applicable in your
jurisdiction(s), in which case you may receive a refund of any over-withheld amount in cash
and will have no entitlement to the equivalent in shares.

If  the withholding obligation for Tax-Related Items is satisfied by withholding in shares of
Company common stock, for tax purposes, you will be deemed to have been issued the full
number of shares subject to the PSUs, notwithstanding that a number of shares is held back
solely for the purpose of paying the Tax-Related Items.
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Finally, you agree to pay to the Company or the Service Recipient any amount of Tax-Related
Items that the Company or the Service Recipient may be required to withhold or account for
as a result  of  your participation in the Plan that  cannot be satisfied by the means previously
described. The Company may refuse to issue and/or deliver the shares of Company common
stock or  proceeds  from the sale  of  shares  of  Company common stock,  if  you fail  to  comply
with your obligations in connection with the Tax-Related Items.

Restrictions on Issuance /
Compliance with Law

Notwithstanding any other provision in the Plan or this Agreement, unless there is an available
exemption from registration, qualification or other legal requirement applicable to the shares
of  Company  common  stock,  the  Company  shall  not  be  required  to  issue  any  shares  to  you
prior to the completion of any registration or qualification of the shares under any U.S. or non-
U.S. local, state or federal securities or exchange control law or under rulings or regulations of
the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”) or of any other governmental body, or
prior  to  obtaining  any approval  or  other  clearance  from any U.S.  or  non-U.S.  local,  state  or
federal governmental agency, which registration, qualification or approval the Company shall,
in its  absolute discretion,  deem necessary or advisable.  You understand that the Company is
under no obligation to register or qualify the Company’s shares with the SEC or any state or
non-U.S.  securities  commission  or  to  seek  approval  or  clearance  from  any  governmental
authority for the issuance or sale of the shares. Further, you agree that the Company shall have
unilateral  authority  to  amend  this  Agreement  with  your  consent  to  the  extent  necessary  to
comply with securities or other laws applicable to the issuance of shares. 

Restrictions on Resale You  agree  not  to  sell  any  shares  at  a  time  when  applicable  laws,  Company  policies  or  an
agreement  between  the  Company  and  its  underwriters  prohibit  a  sale.  This  restriction  will
apply as long as your status as a Service Provider continues and for such period of time after
the termination of your status as a Service Provider as the Company may specify. You further
agree to comply with the Company’s Insider Trading Compliance Policy when selling shares
of the Company’s common stock. 
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Nature of Grant In  accepting  the  PSUs,  you  acknowledge,  understand  and  agree  that:  (a)  the  Plan  is
established voluntarily  by the Company,  it  is discretionary in nature,  and the Company may
amend, modify, suspend or terminate the Plan at any time, to the extent permitted by the Plan;
(b)  the  grant  of  the  PSUs  is  exceptional,  voluntary  and  occasional  and  does  not  create  any
contractual or other right to receive future grants of PSUs or benefits in lieu of PSUs, even if
PSUs  have  been  granted  in  the  past;  (c)  all  decisions  with  respect  to  future  PSUs  or  other
grants, if any, will be at the sole discretion of the Company; (d) neither your award nor this
Agreement  alters  the  at-will  nature  of  your  relationship;  (e)  neither  the  PSUs  nor  this
Agreement  gives  you  the  right  to  remain  retained  by  the  Company,  its  Parent  or  any
Subsidiary or Affiliate in any capacity; (f) if you are not providing services to the Company,
the  PSU  grant  does  not  establish  an  employment  or  other  service  relationship  with  the
Company;  (g)  you  are  voluntarily  participating  in  the  Plan;  (h)  the  PSUs  and  the  shares  of
Company common stock subject to the PSUs, and the income from and value of same, are not
intended  to  replace  any  pension  rights  or  compensation;  (i)  the  PSUs  and  the  shares  of
Company common stock subject to the PSUs, and the income from and value of same, are not
part of normal or expected compensation for purposes of, without limitation, calculating any
severance, resignation, termination, redundancy, dismissal, end-of-service payments, holiday
pay,  bonuses,  long-service  awards,  pension  or  retirement  or  welfare  benefits  or  similar
mandatory payments; (j) the future value of the shares of Company common stock subject to
the PSUs is unknown, indeterminable, and cannot be predicted with certainty; (k) no claim or
entitlement to compensation or damages shall arise from the forfeiture of the PSUs resulting
from the termination of your status as a Service Provider (for any reason whatsoever, whether
or not later found to be invalid or in breach of employment or other laws in the jurisdiction
where you are employed or otherwise rendering service, or the terms of your employment or
other service agreement, if any); (l) unless otherwise agreed with the Company, the PSUs and
the  shares  of  Company  common  stock  acquired  under  the  Plan,  and  the  income  from  and
value  of  same,  are  not  granted  as  consideration  for,  or  in  connection  with,  any  service  you
may  provide  as  a  director  of  any  Parent,  Subsidiary  or  Affiliate;  and  (m)  unless  otherwise
provided in the Plan or by the Company in its discretion, the PSUs and the benefits evidenced
by this Agreement do not create any entitlement to have the PSUs transferred to, or assumed
by, another company, nor to be exchanged, cashed out or substituted for, in connection with
any corporate transaction affecting the shares of Company common stock. 

Adjustments In the event of a stock split, a stock dividend or a similar change in Company common stock,
the number of the PSUs will be adjusted pursuant to the Plan.

No Advice Regarding Grant The Company is not providing any tax, legal or financial advice, nor is the Company making
any  recommendations  regarding  your  participation  in  the  Plan,  or  the  acquisition  or  sale  of
shares of Company common stock. You should consult with your own personal tax, legal and
financial advisors regarding your participation in the Plan before taking any action related to
the Plan.
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Insider Trading/Market Abuse
Laws

You understand that you may be subject to insider trading restrictions and/or market abuse
laws in applicable jurisdictions, including but not limited to the United States, your country
and the broker’s country and the country or countries in which the shares are listed, which
may  affect  your  ability,  directly  or  indirectly,  to  purchase  or  sell,  or  attempt  to  sell  or
otherwise dispose of shares, rights to shares (PSUs), or rights linked to the value of shares
during  such  times  as  you  are  considered  to  have  “inside  information”  regarding  the
Company  (as  defined  by  the  laws  in  the  applicable  jurisdiction(s)).  Local  insider  trading
laws  and  regulations  prohibit  the  cancellation  or  amendment  of  orders  you  placed  before
possessing the inside information. Furthermore, you understand that you may be prohibited
from  (i)  disclosing  the  inside  information  to  any  third  party,  including  fellow  employees
(other than on a “need to know” basis) and (ii) “tipping” third parties by sharing with them
Company  inside  information,  or  otherwise  causing  third  parties  to  buy  or  sell  Company
securities. Any restrictions under these laws or regulations are separate from and in addition
to restrictions that may apply to you under the Company’s Inside Trading Policy. It is your
responsibility  to  comply  with  the  Company’s  Insider  Trading  Policy  and  any  applicable
legal or regulatory trading restrictions. You should consult with your personal legal advisor
on this matter. 

Foreign Asset/Account Reporting
Requirements

If  you  reside  in  a  country  outside  the  U.S.,  there  may  be  certain  foreign  asset  and/or
account reporting requirements which may affect your ability to acquire or hold shares or
cash received from participating in the Plan (including from any dividends paid on shares
of Company common stock) in a brokerage or bank account outside your country. You may
be  required  to  report  such  accounts,  assets  or  related  transactions  to  the  tax  or  other
authorities  in your country.  You may also be required to repatriate  sale proceeds or other
funds received as a result of your participation in the Plan to your country within a certain
time after receipt. It is your responsibility to comply with such regulations and you should
speak to your personal legal advisor on this matter. 

Language You acknowledge that you are sufficiently proficient in English or have consulted with an
advisor who is sufficiently proficient in English, so as to allow you to understand the terms
and  conditions  of  this  Agreement.  If  you  have  received  this  Agreement  or  any  other
document(s)  related  to  the  Plan  translated  into  a  language  other  than  English  and  if  the
meaning of the translated version is different than the English version, the English version
will control. 

Effect of Significant Corporate
Transactions If the Company is a party to a merger, consolidation, or certain change in control

transactions, then the PSUs will be subject to the applicable provisions of Article 9 of the
Plan, provided that any action taken must either (a) preserve the exemption of the PSUs
from Code Section 409A or (b) comply with Code Section 409A.

Recoupment Policy This award, and the shares acquired upon settlement of this award, shall  be subject to the
Anaplan  Executive  Officer  Compensation  Recoupment  Policy,  as  may  be  amended  from
time to time (as applicable), and/or any other compensation recoupment or clawback policy
as adopted by the Company, in effect from time to time, or as required by applicable law,
rules, regulations or stock exchange listing standards. 
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Imposition of Other Requirements The Company reserves  the  right  to  impose  other  requirements  on  your  participation  in  the
Plan and on any shares of Company common stock acquired under the Plan, if the Company
determines it is necessary or advisable for legal or administrative reasons, and to require you
to sign any additional agreements or undertakings that may be necessary to accomplish the
foregoing. 

Governing Law; Venue This Agreement will be interpreted and enforced under the laws of the State of Delaware
(without regard to its choice-of-law provisions). For purposes of any action, lawsuit or other
proceedings brought to enforce this Agreement, relating to it, or arising from it, the parties
hereby submit to and consent to the sole and exclusive jurisdiction of the courts of San
Francisco County, California, or the federal courts for the United States for the Northern
District of California, and no other courts, where this grant is made and/or to be performed.

Severability The provisions of this Agreement are severable and if any one or more of the provisions are
determined  to  be  illegal  or  otherwise  unenforceable,  in  whole  or  in  part,  the  remaining
provisions will nevertheless be binding and enforceable. 

Waiver You  acknowledge  that  a  waiver  by  the  Company  of  a  breach  of  any  provision  of  this
Agreement  shall  not  operate  or  be  construed  as  a  waiver  of  any  other  provision  of  this
Agreement, or of any subsequent breach by your or any other Participant. 

The Plan and Other Agreements The text of the Plan is incorporated in this Agreement by reference.
The Plan, this Agreement, any Outside Agreement and the Grant Notice constitute the
entire understanding between you and the Company regarding this award. Any prior
agreements, commitments or negotiations concerning this award are superseded.

BY ACCEPTING THIS PSU AWARD, YOU AGREE TO ALL OF THE TERMS AND CONDITIONS DESCRIBED IN
THIS AGREEMENT, THE GRANT NOTICE AND THE PLAN.
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APPENDIX A
TO THE

PERFORMANCE STOCK UNIT AGREEMENT

UNDER THE ANAPLAN, INC. 
2018 EQUITY INCENTIVE PLAN
Performance Vesting Requirements

[ l ]
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Exhibit 31.1

CERTIFICATION OF PRINCIPAL EXECUTIVE OFFICER PURSUANT TO RULE 13a-14(a) OR 15(d)-14(a) OF
THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934, AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO

SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, Frank Calderoni, certify that:

1. I have reviewed this quarterly report on Form 10-Q of Anaplan, Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary
to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to
the period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this
report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act
Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

a. designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under
our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made
known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

b. designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed
under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of
financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

c. evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions
about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on
such evaluation; and

d. disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the
registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially
affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial
reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the
equivalent functions):

a. all significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which
are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information;
and

b. any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the
registrant’s internal control over financial reporting.

Date: December 2, 2021

By: /s/ Frank Calderoni
Frank Calderoni
Chairman & Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer)



Exhibit 31.2

CERTIFICATION OF PRINCIPAL FINANCIAL OFFICER PURSUANT TO RULE 13a-14(a) OR 15(d)-14(a) OF
THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934, AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO

SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, Vikas Mehta, certify that:

1. I have reviewed this quarterly report on Form 10-Q of Anaplan, Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary
to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to
the period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this
report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act
Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

a. designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under
our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made
known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

b. designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed
under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of
financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

c. evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions
about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on
such evaluation; and

d. disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the
registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially
affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial
reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the
equivalent functions):

a. all significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which
are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information;
and

b. any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the
registrant’s internal control over financial reporting.

Date: December 2, 2021

By: /s/  Vikas Mehta
Vikas Mehta
Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial Officer)



Exhibit 32.1

CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER
PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,

AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, Frank Calderoni, certify pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that, to
my knowledge, the Quarterly Report of Anaplan, Inc. on Form 10-Q for the quarterly period ended October 31, 2021 fully complies with the
requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 and the information contained in such Form 10-Q fairly presents, in all
material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of Anaplan, Inc. for the periods presented therein.

Date: December 2, 2021

By: /s/ Frank Calderoni
Frank Calderoni
Chairman & Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer)



Exhibit 32.2

CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER
PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,

AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, Vikas Mehta, certify pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that, to my
knowledge, the Quarterly Report of Anaplan, Inc. on Form 10-Q for the quarterly period ended October 31, 2021 fully complies with the requirements
of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 and the information contained in such Form 10-Q fairly presents, in all material
respects, the financial condition and results of operations of Anaplan, Inc. for the periods presented therein.

Date: December 2, 2021

By: /s/  Vikas Mehta
Vikas Mehta
Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial Officer)


